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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ITEHES

On behalf of the board of directors of Talent Property Group
Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present the audited
consolidated results of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The consolidated revenue and gross profit of the Group for
2024 amounted to approximately RMB284.6 million (2023:
RMB766.7 million) and RMB54.8 million (2023: RMB188.7 million),
respectively. Substantial completed units of our Xuzhou Linan
Intelligent Industrial Park presold in previous years were delivered
and recognized as revenue in last year. Revenue for this year
was mainly attributable to the sales of villas of Xintian Banshan. As
such, revenue and gross profit decreased significantly. Consider
the further decline in overall property market in 2024, further
provision for impairment losses and unfavourable fair value
changes totalling RMB121.2 million (2023: RMB152.9 million) was
recorded for our properties portfolio. The losses attributable to
the shareholders for 2024 increased to approximately RMB138.5
million (2023: RMB33.8 million).

OPERATION REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

In 2024, the global economy showed a sluggish growth with
ongoing geopolitical conflicts, rising protectionism and intensifying
supply chain fragmentation, while economic adjustments and
transformation were still underway in China. Facing factors
including domestic demand restricted by employment and
income and unresolved risks in real estate sector, the Chinese
government ramped up efforts to boost the development in
the science and technology field as well as people’s wellbeing
through fiscal and monetary policies to secure steady progress
while ensuring stability in economic performance.
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Xintian Banshan

Xintian Banshan, the Group’s flagship luxury project in
Guangzhou, is located at foot of the Baiyun Mountain, adjacent
to the famous Nanhu National Tourist Resort. While most of
the high-rise residential units at Zone D and villas at Zone C
of the project were sold out, the villas (known as %7 X e ¥ |l
£¥) at Zone B which are built along the mountain slope and the
villas (known as ¥1X e [JE#8) at Zone E which boast the most
superior mountaintop location of the project are for sale. In 2024,
Guangzhou government eased some of policy restrictions over
luxury residential market, in particular, lifted purchase restrictions
on residential unit exceeding 120 sgm and abolished luxury
housing tax. These factors, coupled with the mortgage interest
rate cut, helped to improve the market confidence. However,
the divergence in market performance remained significant,
with luxurious house in core areas such as Tianhe District and
Haizhu District recording higher transaction volume and price
than non-core areas such as Baiyun District. During the year,
total subscription area and amount for Xintian Banshan of
approximately 2,100 sgm (2023: 4,000 sgm) and approximately
RMB123 million (2023: RMB310 million) was recorded. Looking
forward to 2025, the Group will continue to stay in line with the
market trends, try to destock Zone B, and step up efforts to push
forward the sales of Zone E.

Logistics Commercial Property Projects

Yangzhou Intelligent Living City is located in Guangling District,
Yangzhou City. Zone A of the project consists of twelve blocks of
commercial and office units with a saleable area of approximately
66,000 sgm, of which seven blocks were completed and
continued to be delivered and sold. Due to the continuous
decline of the economy and oversupply of similar products in
the local market, sales of the project remained stagnant during
the year. The subscription amount and area of commercial and
office units for the year amounted to approximately RMB27.1
million and 3,000 sgm (2023: RMB47.6 million and 3,000 sgm)
respectively.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ITEHES
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ITEHES

Xuzhou Linan Intelligent Industrial Park, which is located in
Yunlong District, Xuzhou City, consists of commercial units and
office units with the saleable area of approximately 62,000 sgm
and 41,000 sgm, respectively. The project was completed and
started delivery in early 2023. While new home prices in this city
continued to fall during the year, market sentiment gradually
stabilized toward the end of the year. In this environment, the
Company completed a single large deal for the subscription
of commercial and office units. The subscription amount and
area of commercial and office units for the year amounted
to approximately RMB98.0 million and 17,000 sgm (2023:
RMB6.5 million and 1,000 sgm) respectively. As of the end of
2024, the project recorded accumulated subscription areas of
approximately 85,000 sgm, and the remaining units with an area
of 34,000 sgm are pending for delivery.

The Group will continue to push forward the delivery of Xuzhou
project and sale strategy of the two projects would focus on
enterprise customers.

Talent Shoes Trading Center

Talent Shoes Trading Center is a 10-storey commercial and office
complex located in Liwan District, Guangzhou City. In the face of
the pressure of various cost hikes, the impact of e-commerce on
traditional offline channels, and the shift of international orders to
Southeast Asian countries, the small and medium enterprises in
the shoes market in Guangzhou witnessed continuous shrinking
profit margins, leading to downward pressures on the rent and
occupancy rate of shops and offices in the area. The Group
continued to closely monitor the development in the industry and
tenant portfolio, and make timely adjustments to rent rate and
incentive policies to maintain occupancy rate.
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The Linhe Cun Redevelopment Project

The Linhe Cun Redevelopment Project, the Group’s project
jointly developed with Sun Hung Kai Properties Group for over
ten years, is located in the CBD of Tianhe District in Guangzhou
and adjacent to Guangzhou East Railway station. Its residential
and office units were sold out within the year. During the year,
the Group received RMB48.5 million cash dividend, and the
Associate also commenced the legal and business administrative
procedures for its voluntary winding up. In response to the
concerns of relevant government departments and the original
occupiers of the village, the procedures were postponed near
the end of the year. Looking forward to 2025, the Associate will
continue to properly handle issues of various stakeholders as well
as the distribution of assets including the remaining hundreds of
parking spaces and bank deposits.

APPRECIATION

Last but not least, on behalf of our board of directors, | would
like to take this opportunity to thank all of our shareholders,
customers and business partners for their trust and support as
well as the hard work, dedication and contributions of our staff
and management team.

Zhang Gao Bin

Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, the PRC

28 March 2025
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BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
E v NEuEAE

OVERVIEW

The principal activity of Talent Property Group Limited is
investment holding. The Group engages in the businesses of (i)
property development, (ii) property investment and (iii) property
management in the PRC since the Group completed the
acquisition of equity interests in various real estate projects in the
PRC in 2011 (the “Previous Acquisition”).

REVENUE AND GROSS PROFIT

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded
a revenue and gross profit of RMB284.6 million and RMB54.8
million, respectively, as compared to a revenue and gross profit
of RMB766.7 million and RMB188.7 million, respectively, for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

During the year, revenues of RMB183.7 million, RMB54.3 million
and RMB1.4 million (2023: RMB220.4 million, RMB449.3 million
and RMB55.3 million) were recognized from the respective
delivery of properties sold for Guangzhou Xintian Banshan,
Xuzhou Linan Intelligent Industrial Park and Yangzhou Intelligence
Living City, with gross floor area of approximately 3,300 square
meters (“sgm”), 5,400 sgm and 100 sgm (2023: 3,100 sgm,
44,000 sgm and 5,100 sgm), respectively. Revenue from the sale
of other properties of RMB19.7 million (2023: RMB18.9 million)
was also recorded. Rental income and property management fee
income of RMB12.4 million (2023: RMB11.2 million) and RMB3.9
million (2023: RMB2.7 million), respectively, were recorded from
our Talent Shoes Trading Center, whereas rental income and
property management fee generated from other properties of the
Group was RMB9.2 million in total (2023: RMB9.0 million).

The slowdown of China’s economy in 2024 dampened consumer
sentiment. Similar to many other property developers, the Group
offered higher discounts to facilitate destocking and improve
liquidity. Due to decreased revenue, discounted selling prices,
and changes in the sales mix, gross profit fell to RMB54.8 million,
with a gross profit margin of 19.3% (compared to RMB188.7
million and 24.6% in 2023).
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BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

DISTRIBUTION COSTS, ADMINISTRATIVE
AND OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

In the sluggish property market, we carried out fewer sales and
marketing activities. Distribution costs decreased from RMB13.2
million to RMB8.3 million.

Administrative and other operating expenses increased from
RMB40.1 million to RMB62.6 million. The significant increase was
primarily attributable to a one-time net charge of RMB19.2 million
as stated in the paragraph below.

SHARE OF RESULT OF AN ASSOCIATE

The Linhe Cun Rebuilding project is an old village redevelopment
project located in the CBD of Tianhe District in Guangzhou and
it is adjacent to the Guangzhou East Railway station. The project
is carried out by an associate (the “Associate”) which is 30% and
70% owned by the Group and Sun Hung Kai Properties Group,
respectively. Its business licence commenced on January 2010
and to be expired on January 2025. As at year end date, the
major assets of the Associate were cash and approximately 500
car parking spaces and the Group share’s of operating loss
of the Associate was RMB5.3 million (2023: profit of RMB42.4
million).

Since the commercial and residential units had been substantially
sold, both shareholders of the Associate concluded and finalized
their respective responsibilities and related costs in the project
prior to the commencement of its voluntary winding up. As
detailed in the Company’s announcement dated 2 June 2024,
the Group agreed to assume the responsibilities for the exceeded
land-related costs by forfeiting partial right to our proportional
dividend entitlement, amounting to RMB50.5 million. Whereas,
compensation for delayed resettlement accrued in previous years
amounted RMB31.3 million was absorbed by the Associate and
no longer to be paid by the Group. As a result, a net charge of
RMB19.2 million was recorded as an administrative expense of
the Group.
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BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
E v NEuEAE

The legal procedures for the winding up had been initiated.
However, having seen the responses from the original occupiers
of the village and relevant government departments, the Associate
decided to postpone the winding up and renewed its business
license in order to re-consider arrangements that can better
accommodate requests of various stakeholders involved in the
project.

FAIR VALUE CHANGES ON INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES AND PROVISION OF
IMPAIRMENT LOSS OF PROPERTIES
PORTFOLIO

China’s real estate market experienced a significant downturn in
property prices and sales volumes in 2024. Reference had been
made to the valuation conducted by the independent valuer as
well as the current sales and leasing record of our properties
portfolio. A fair value deficit of RMB51.7 million (2023: RMB54.7
million) were recorded, mainly attributable to our Talent Shoes
Trading Center. Provision for impairment losses of RMB52.1
million (2023: RMB98.1 million) and RMB17.4 million (2023: Nil)
were provided for our logistic commercial projects and car
parking spaces of Xintian Banshan, respectively.

FINANCE COSTS

In order to save finance costs, the Group repaid its bank
borrowing earlier than its original repayment schedule. As such,
finance costs reduced to RMB4.2 million (2023: RMB22.3 million).

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

An income tax charge of RMBO0.1 million was recorded compared
to a tax charge of RMB40.6 million in last year. This was mainly
attributed to the reduction of PRC enterprise income tax and
land appreciation tax to RMB12.8 million and RMB4.5 million
(2023: RMB19.1 million and RMB37.4 million), respectively. While
increased deferred tax credit of RMB20.9 million (2023: RMB16.0
million) was mainly attributed to the fair value deficits and
provision for impairment losses against properties from Previous
Acquisition.
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BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

In the current year, there was no bulk delivery of units that had
been presold in previous years, resulting in a significant decrease
of revenue and gross profit. One-time charge and share of loss
of the Linhe Cun Rebuilding project further dragged down results
of the Group. In addition, fair value deficits and provisions for
impairment losses on our properties portfolio remain at a high
level. Loss attributable to the owners of the Company widened to
RMB138.5 million (2023: RMB33.8 million).

PROSPECT

Looking ahead to 2025, supported by a series of policy measures
aimed at addressing the years-long slump, the housing price
index has demonstrated month-on-month improvement that
indicating signs of stabilization in the property market, particularly
in China’s first-tier cities. The Group continues to closely monitor
market sentiment to promote destocking and seize opportunities
for cash returns.
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BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
E v NEuEAE

PORTFOLIO OF PROPERTIES ek
As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s properties and projectson RZZEZMNE+=-F=+—H AEENREY
hand are shown in the table below: ERBEBHEIRTER
Investment properties REME

Lease term Gross floor Percentage
Project and address Purpose of land area interest
1HE Rt A Tt EHBR HEEER EEEDL

(sgm)
(‘FHK)

A 10-storey commercial building built overa ~ Commercial Medium 22,526* 100%
basement of 3 levels, mixed commercial and B HHR
office building with car parking spaces.
No. 18 Zhan Xi Road, Liwan District,
Guangzhou City, Guangdong Province,
the PRC (“Talent Shoes Trading Center”)
HEE R A BN T % 2 R TR ER 1858
—IERER=EE FBERERRAGAER
BEBEMZI0EERERET
(TRfEEXRZHL])
Commercial units of Shangyu Garden, Commercial Medium 2,198 100%
No. 45 Tianhe Road, Tianhe District, [EHES 8
Guangzhou City, Guangdong Province,
the PRC (“Shangyu Garden”)
Fp B B B N T K] [ ROAT B 4555k
FETE( FEER]D zERELA
Commercial spaces of the clubhouse Commercial Medium 2,045 100%
(Block G4), Xintian Banshan, [GES AR HA

South Lake Village Phase I, Tonghe Road,
Baiyun District, Guangzhou City,
Guangdong Province, the PRC

B ER A BN T AR R R AR R L A
RFILEFT(GAR) KR ¥ 5

*

Being gross floor area of property excluding the car parking
spaces.
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BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
75 K B 55 01 A

Properties under development BRPWE
Planned Expected
saleable Percentage Stage of completion
Project and address Site area GFA interest completion date
TEITTEHE
BA Rithht WEREE AREEE 2 #EIZEIL ZTHEER BRI BH
(sgm) (sqm)
(‘FHK) (FHK)
Yangzhou Intelligence Living City 46,000 Approximate 100% Partial 1H 2025*
A project to the south of Kaifa (Zone A) #)49,000** completed —ZE - RHF
East Road and east of Jiangdu (ARE) Hoe®kT EF
South Road, Yangzhou, Jiangsu and
Province, the PRC IS4
BINE 24 35,000
H BT & & 15 M T 7 3 R B (Zone B)
VARE KT #R g & AR 8918 B (B&)
# The final installation of exterior wall tiles and glass facades of 5 * hREFRIIMNEEERBEEER Z ZRLZER

blocks of buildings was pending.

*k

in zone A. Construction area of commercial and office units of
24,000 sgm and basement of 34,000 sgm in zone A are planned
to retain as owner’s occupation/investment. The project has to
retain 40% of area as owner’s occupation/investment.

It includes saleable area contracted for sales but not yet deliver — **

T o

BREARCANHEEBERIN 2 AJHERE - A
% B 7 3 M R BE AL S SR T 15 24,000°F 5 oK &
/B 34,000 5 K&+ BIR B EHEE AME AR
ER% - 2B EARBA0%OEEEES AL
A/ RERE -
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BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
E v NEuEAE

Completed properties held for sale

FEHEZCRTIYH

Gross floor Percentage

Project and address area interest
1HB Rituk HEEMEE EZEDt
(sqm)
(‘FHK)
Residential units in zone B, D and E of Approximate#)] 100%
Xintian Banshan 22,000
South Lake Village Phase I,
Tonghe Road, Baiyun District,
Guangzhou City, Guangdong
Province, the PRC (“Xintian Banshan”)
(R
PEIERE EMNT A E R R MK
8 L — B
FRFIL([#R+1L 1B - DRERHEEEN
Xuzhou Intelligence Industry Town Approximate#)] 100%
A project to the south of Guozhuang 53,000%
Road and North of Longhai Railway,
Xuzhou, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
RINEZEZENE
REDT&# A RN
ZBHEBK A B R e Vg 85
AJERIIE B
Car parking spaces of Xintian Banshan, N/A 100%
Dongming Xuan, Tianlun Garden, TiE A

Shangyu Garden and

Linhe Cun Redevelopment Project
IRFTRFIL - RGBS - XfRER
FTETERMANNERIER 2178

# It excludes floor area of approximately 29,000 sgm for owner’s

occupation/investment.

* It includes area contracted for sales but not yet deliver.

HMAMEEEER AT 2024F Fi#
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BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s total assets as at 31 December 2024 were
approximately RMB2,697.4 million (31 December 20283:
approximately RMB3,148.7 million) which were financed by the
total equity and total liabilities of approximately RMB1,498.1
million (31 December 2023: approximately RMB1,635.7 million)
and approximately RMB1,199.3 million (31 December 2023:
approximately RMB1,513.0 million) respectively.

The directors consider the Group will have sufficient working
capital for its operations and financial resources for financing
future investment opportunities.

The Group borrowings were all denominated in Renminbi. Bank
balances and cash were mainly denominated in Renminbi. As at
31 December 2024, there were no outstanding forward contracts
in foreign currency committed by the Group that might involve it
in significant foreign exchange risks and exposures.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s gearing ratio then
computed as total liabilities over total assets was approximately
44.5% (31 December 2023: 48.1%). As at 31 December 2024,
bank borrowings amounted to RMB33.3 million (31 December
2023: RMB123.3 million) carry variable interest rate of the
People’s Bank of China 5 years loan base interest rate or plus
0.55% inflated rate.

EXPOSURE TO FOREIGN EXCHANGE

The revenue and the cost of goods sold and of service of the
Group are mainly denominated in Renminbi. Therefore, the Group
is not exposed to any other material foreign currency exchange
risk. An average rate and a closing rate of HK$1.08445:RMB1 and
HK$1.06336:RMB1, respectively, were applied on consolidation
of the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024.
No hedging measure has been implemented by the Group.

EBE N YO

RBEERMKEER
RZEZMFE+—A=+—H AEEBEEH
BHABARK26974EEL(ZE_=F+=A1
=+—H: HAREES148.7TEHE L) - AERE
ERABEBREINHOARME1,4908188L(ZF
—=F+-A=+—H: : HHAR¥1635.7 8
TTIRHARB11993BETL(ZE-_=F+=A
=+—8: HARE1513.0687T)BE -

EERRAKEBEBRNLEEES  TAEM
X% BAGBRRMBER  AJERKERE
RIEEHER - RHABEES -

AEBEZEFHUAREE - RITEHBRRE
FTEUARBHE RZT-_WNFF+_A=+—
B - NS A] e B E m B B ASME B R 2
REFREMINEAL

BXRERE

RZZE-ZMF+=—A=+—H AEEZEEL
RIRBEBERNBEEFNEAN445%(ZE =
F+-A=+—H :1481%) - RZZE_MFE+=
A=+—8 RITEFBARKIIEET(=ZF
=+ A=+—8: AR¥1233HEL)
EHREARRITAFERERNFE 7 ZEF LT
B I10.55% 2 2B AR5 E o

S BE 3 B
AEENREREESREREAAEEUAR
WEETE - FEUL - REEN R E A EmE KN
R HE_FT_NWF+_A=+—HLHF
B RARRIREEE W BEmE D RIKATHEER
W T FE %1.084457% 7T 7 A R K172 K% 1.06336 7T
HARMATT o NEBIW EE ¥R o
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BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
E v NEuEAE

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, an investment property amounted
RMB415.0 million (31 December 2023: RMB458.0 million) were
pledged to secure general banking facilities.

NUMBERS AND REMUNERATION OF
EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 147 (31 December
2023: 173) employees, with about 145 in the Mainland China and
2 in Hong Kong. The Group’s emolument policy for employees
is set up by the Board. The emoluments of the employees
are determined on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence, with reference to prevailing salary levels in the
market and in accordance with prevailing labor law. Apart
from basic salary, staff benefits including medical insurance,
performance related bonus, social insurance and mandatory
provident fund would be provided by the Group.

The share option scheme approved by the shareholders meeting
held on 20 May 2013 was expired in 2023.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group adheres to environmental sustainability from office
throughout the property portfolio. As a responsible corporation,
the Group strives to ensure minimal environmental impacts
by carefully managing its energy consumption, water usage,
property design and waste production. In addition, we engaged
construction contractors with relevant licenses that was granted
by government authorities encompass environmental protection
and work safety. The Group has closely monitored the project at
every stage to ensure the project development and construction
process are in compliance with environmental protection and
safety laws and regulations, and would require construction
contractors to immediately resolve any defect or non-compliance,
where necessary. In addition, the Group strives to minimize
the environmental impact by saving electricity and encouraging
recycle of office supplies and other materials. For further details,
please refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

HMAMEEEER AT 2024F Fi#

EEERF

R-ZE-MFE+-A=+—8H  REDEARKE
415088 (ZE-_=F+-_A=+—H: AR
¥458.08 &70) BRI S — AER1TRLE ©

(PN 5E

RZT-—MF+=—A=+—H  AEEER147
ZBEI(ZZE-=%+=-RA=+—H :1734)
HpM145 NEFEAME2ARSTE - AEEE
BrHMECE DRESEHE - EEFH2R
mis L2 BITHESKERREEZER - BERBE
NARBEIRITE TAGIETE - BRELAFEI
REBTRHETIREN 2P EEEERER - 1%
KRR 2L - L 2RBEBFIMERESD °

RZZE-—=FRA-THEETHREANSHEZ
BREAZER T _=FEm -

REBRREENR

AEERREREANEBTYEASOBRTRIEA
SEERRA - ERRBCENDLE  A5EE
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AN REBEZBEBFRPFIRHABRR RE
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BIAH IEEfTRPas T AR 2B (IFE) © ttoh
AEEFNPBEBEEREREURB LR mEE
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BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries in mainland China while the Company itself is listed
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong. The Group would make
professional judgement and seek professional legal advice from
its legal department and, where necessary, legal advisers to
ensure transactions and businesses to be performed by the
Group are in compliance with the applicable laws, regulations
and local industry practices in all material aspects.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH THE GROUP’S
EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group believes that the Directors, senior management and
employees are instrumental to the success of the Group and that
their industry knowledge and understanding of the market will
enable the Group to maintain the competitiveness in the market.
Therefore, the Group offered competitive remuneration package
to relevant staff.

The Group maintains good relationship with existing and potential
customers to understand the market trends that would enable
the Group to adjust its operating and marketing strategies timely,
which are crucial to the development and success of the Group.

The Group maintains a solid and steady relationship with major
contractors to ensure product quality and progress on-schedule.
The Group works and closely monitors daily construction work of
its contractors and settled their work done timely.

The Group places effort to build up and maintain good
relationships with various commercial banks and financial
institutions as the businesses of the Group are capital intensive
nature and require on-going funding to maintain continuous
growth.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT AND FINANCIAL
GUARANTEE

Details of the capital commitment and financial guarantee are set
out in note 32 and 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

£ S e

BFEEER

AEENEKLETEAARTNBARETE
WFHR - MARB RS ERBBRZA LT - K
SEBELE XA RZ I TORREF (0
BE)EEBRNERZRER  BRASESE
TR Z MEBEMEEKRT EETERNE
B ORRRMTITRER

HAKEES - EFRHEENEER
B

AEERA EE BREEERREATEE
RIS MRSOTEARRETIZN TR
EARBEAEBTREES - Bt - AEEA
HRIE TREABF HOFIE -

AEBEARERBEEP R RIFBENT BT
5iBY  ERSAKESUARKRAEREZERE
B WERARENERIRNERES -

FEERETEADHERBERBENAR - A
BREMEZRTIEE - AEEHEEABEA
EREYEREATEEIRTRRAEEEB T
RIA{E -

MR AEENEBBEERNTERER  FTESE

MEARBRHERE  AKEINBILERES
R ERIT R EBMEEN RIFRE -

BEXRAERVBRER

BEERFERTBERZFBEHANEETER
KM EE32%41 o
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENESREEAEZER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. ZHANG Gao Bin - aged 45, is the Chairman of the board
of directors of the Company and the President of the Group.
Mr. Zhang is responsible for the overall strategic development,
general management, human resources and the business
operation of the Group Mr. Zhang obtained his bachelor degree
in business administration from the University of Greenwich, the
United Kingdom. He has over twenty years of experience in the
property development industry. Mr. Zhang joined the Board in
December 2016.

Mr. LUO Zhangguan - aged 40, is the executive director of the
Company as well as the general manager of finance of the PRC
group companies, responsible for business development and
daily management of finance department. Mr. Luo graduated
from Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics and obtained a
bachelor degree in Economics with major in Finance (International
Finance). Mr. Luo joined department of business development of
Guangzhou branch of Standard Chartered Bank (China) Limited
in 2007 and served as its credit analyst, customer service
manager and department head of SME banking, successively.
Before joining the Company, he has served as the Sub-Branch
Manager of Standard Chartered Bank (China) Limited Guangzhou
Panyu sub-branch since 2012. Mr. Luo is the cousin of Mr.
Zhang Gao Bin. Mr. Luo joined the Group and the Board in April
2015.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. ZHOU Hanlu - aged 36, obtained the certificate of
accounting professional in Hubei Province in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) and graduated from Zhongnan
University of Economics and Laws in the PRC with a bachelor’s
degree in economics. Ms. Zhou joined the Group in 2011
and serves as the secretary to the president office of the
PRC subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Zhou has also been
responsible for the overall planning and daily management of
human resources, administration and management department of
the PRC subsidiaries of the Company since 2015. In addition to
acting as director, legal representative and supervisor of certain
PRC subsidiaries of the Company, Ms. Zhou currently also serves
as a member of the Environmental, Social and Governance (the
“ESG”) Committee of the Company. Ms. Zhou joined the Board in
December 2024.

HMAMEEEER AT 2024F Fi#
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LO Wai Hung - aged 65, obtained a bachelor degree in
Commerce from James Cook University of North Queensland,
Australia. Mr. Lo is a member of Chartered Accountants in
Australia and New Zealand and a fellow member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Lo is an independent
non-executive director of Tibet Water Resources Limited (stock
code: 1115) and China New Town Development Company Limited
(stock code: 1278). Mr. Lo is also a non executive director of SY
Holdings Group Limited (formerly known as Sheng Ye Capital
Limited) (stock code: 6069). Mr. Lo was an independent non-
executive director of Shandong Weigao Group Medical Polymer
Company Limited (stock code: 1066) during August 2009 to June
2022 and C Cheng Holdings Limited (stock code: 1486) during
December 2013 to April 2023. All the aforementioned companies
are listed on Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. Mr. Lo joined the Group in February 2011.

Mr. MAK Yiu Tong - aged 66, graduated from the China
University of Political Science and Law with a bachelor of law
degree in 1998. Mr. Mak has extensive experience in litigation
and corporate matters. At present, he is legal executive of Chiu,
Szeto & Cheng, Solicitors, a firm of solicitors in Hong Kong. Mr.
Mak has been working in the legal industry for over 30 years.
Mr. Mak is an independent non-executive director of Hao Tian
International Constructions Investment Group Limited (stock
code: 1341) and Aceso Life Science Group Limited (stock code:
474). All the aforementioned companies are listed on Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Mak joined
the Group in December 2015.

Mr. FOK Chi Tat Michael — aged 51, graduated from University
of Toronto with Bachelor of Commerce and received his Master
of Corporate Finance from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
and is a member of American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Fok has over 25 years of extensive experience
in auditing, corporate finance and investment banking focusing
on IPO sponsorship, mergers and acquisitions, fund raising and
corporate restructuring. At present, Mr. Fok is the co-founder
and managing director of Maxa Capital Limited. Mr. Fok served
as the managing director and deputy head of investment banking
department in Huatai Financial Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited and
was the director of Anglo Chinese Corporate Finance, Limited.
Mr. Fok joined the Group in August 2019.

EENEREBAEZERE
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESRENEBAEBZRERE

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. LEE Wai Kuen - aged 51, is the Company Secretary
and Chief Financial Officer of the Company. He is responsible
for execution, supervision and advisory of financial reporting,
internal control, reorganisation, corporate governance and
company secretarial matters of the Company. Mr. Lee holds a
bachelor degree in accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. He is a Certified Public Accountant of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Lee had
worked in an international firm of certified public accountants and
was the financial controller and company secretary of TeleEye
Holdings Ltd. (now known as CircuTech International Holdings
Limited) (stock code: 8051), the finance manager and company
secretary of ePRO Ltd. (now known as Sino Vision Worldwide
Holdings Limited) (stock code: 8086), the financial controller of
WLS Holdings Ltd. (stock code: 8021) and deputy financial officer
and company secretary of MOBI Development Co., Ltd. (stock
code: 947), during the periods from May 2004 to June 2005, July
2005 to January 2006, January 2006 to August 2007 and August
2007 to May 2011, respectively, all of which are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Lee joined the Group
in May 2011.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company is
committed to ensuring high standards of corporate governance
in the interests of shareholders and devotes effort to identifying
and formalising best practices. During the year ended 31
December 2024, the Company has applied the principles and the
code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code
(the “Code”) contained in Part 2 of Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and has complied with the
same.

THE BOARD

To protect and enhance shareholder value, the Board acts with
integrity and due care for the best interests of the Company
and its shareholders. The Board is collectively responsible for
leadership and for promoting the success of the Company
by directing and supervising its affairs. Leading the Group in
a responsible and effective manner, the Board adopts formal
terms of reference which detail its functions and responsibilities,
including, but not limited to, ensuring competent management,
approving objectives, strategies and business plans and
monitoring integrity in the Company’s conduct of affairs.

Delegation by the Board

The Board is responsible for determining the overall strategy and
corporate development and ensuring the business operations are
properly monitored. The Board reserves the right to decide all
policy matters of the Group and material transactions. The Board
delegates the day-to-day operations to general managers and
department heads who are responsible for different aspects of
the operations of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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The attendance of individual Directors at meetings of the

Company during the financial year ended 31 December 2024,

was as follows:

BHE-_Z-_NE+-_A=+—HIBHFE @A
FIZEERARNREH I HEENT ¢

Number of attendance*/meetings held in 2024

R-ZZB-OFZHERE BTERRE

Audit Remuneration = Nomination General
The Board Committee Committee Committee Meetings
Bxg BEREES FHEES REZES BEXE
Executive Directors
HiTES
Mr. Zhang Gao Bin (Chairman of the Board)** 6/6 N/A 2/2 2/2 2/2
ReBRE(EERFE)" TEA
Mr. Luo Zhangguan™* 6/6 N/A 2/2 2/2 2/2
FEW &L TEA
Non-executive Director
FHTES
Ms. Zhou Hanlu* (appointed on N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
9 December 2024) TNE A T e A i A TEA
AEBzTH(RZE_OF+ZANBEZF)
Independent Non-executive Directors
BUFHTES
Mr. Lo Wai Hung** 6/6 3/3 2/2 2/2 2/2
BRI
Mr. Mak Yiu Tong** 6/6 3/3 2/2 2/2 2/2
HiRg
Mr. Fok Chi Tat** 6/6 3/3 2/2 2/2 2/2
ELERE

*k

The Directors can attend meetings in person, by phone or through
other means of electronic communication in accordance with the
Company’s bye-laws.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, each of these Directors
got training by seminars, newspapers, journals and updates
relating to the economy, general business, real estate or Directors’
duties and responsibilities, etc. The Group also continuously
updates the Directors on the latest developments regarding the
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements.

Ms. Zhou Hanlu obtained the legal advice as required by Rule 3.09D
of the Listing Rules on 9 December 2024 before her appointment
becomes effective on that date and has confirmed she understood
her obligations as a director of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Currently, the Company does not appoint chief executive officer.
In view of the operation of the Group, the Board believes that the
present structure of the Board will provide a strong leadership
for the Group to implement prompt decisions and to formulate
efficient strategies, which is for benefits of the Group.

Moreover, the day-to-day operation of the Group’s businesses
are shared among those executive directors and the management
of the Company. Therefore, there should be a clear division of
the responsibilities at the board level to ensure a balance of
power and authority, so that power is not concentrated in any
one individual.

Together with a balanced of skill and experience for the
business of the Group, a balanced composition of executive,
non-executive and independent non-executive directors of the
Board shall exercise effective independent judgment. Currently,
the Board comprises of six directors, of which two are executive
directors, namely Mr. Zhang Gao Bin (“Mr. Zhang”) and Mr. Luo
Zhangguan (“Mr. Luo”), one non-executive director, namely Ms.
Zhou Hanlu (“Ms. Zhou”) and three independent non-executive
directors, namely Mr. Lo Wai Hung (“Mr. Lo”), Mr. Mak Yiu Tong
(“Mr. Mak”) and Mr. Fok Chi Tat Michael (“Mr. Fok”).

Ms. Zhou has entered into a service contract with the Company
for an initial term of two years commencing from 9 December
2024 and will not receive any fixed director’s fee or remuneration
from the Company. The Board may, with the recommendation
of the remuneration committee of the Company, determine the
remuneration entitlement of Ms. Zhou as a non-executive director
from time to time at its discretion with reference to her duties and
involvement in the Board.
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As at 31 December 2024, all the independent non-executive
directors were appointed for an initial term of two years which
is automatically renewable for successive term of one year upon
the expiry of the said term and subject to retirement and re-
election in accordance with the bye-laws of the Company. In
accordance with the bye-laws of the Company, at each annual
general meeting of the Company one-third of the directors shall
retire from office by rotation. A separate resolution has been set
for the approval of re-election of an independent non-executive
director who has served the Company for more than nine years.
The Board considers that sufficient measures have been taken to
ensure the corporate governance practices of the Company are
not less exacting than those in the Code B.2.2 and B.2.3.

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive directors, an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company considers all of the independent non-executive
directors are independent.

The management is obliged to supply the Board with adequate
information in a timely manner to enable the members to
make informed decisions and to discharge their duties and
responsibilities. Each director has separate and independent
access to the Group’s senior management to acquire more
information and to make further enquiries if necessary.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and Audit
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Board and
the Company’s affairs. All Board committees are established
with defined written terms of reference which are available to
shareholders on the Company’s website. The Board committees
are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties
and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expense.
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Nomination committee

A nomination committee of the Company had been established
by the Board with written terms of reference. The nomination
committee comprises two executive directors and three
independent non-executive Directors. The nomination committee
is chaired by Mr. Zhang. The principal duties of the Nomination
Committee include, but are not limited to, review and making
recommendations to the Board on the structure, size and
composition of the Board; making recommendations to the Board
regarding any proposed changes; identify, selection or making
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships; assessing the independence of
independent non-executive directors and relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for directors.

The Board adopted a board diversity policy setting out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board. Pursuant to the
board diversity policy, the Nomination Committee will review
annually the structure, size and composition of the Board and
where appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy and
to ensure that the Board maintains a balanced diverse profile.
A number of measurable aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, industry
experience, technical and professional experience, skills and
knowledge, length of services and time to be devoted as a
director of the Company, would be considered to ensure that the
Board maintains a balanced diverse profile.

The Company has also adopted a nomination policy, setting out
the approach for nominating and appointing a director either
to fill a casual vacancy on the Board, or as an addition to the
existing Board subject to the Bye-Law of the Company. Selection
of candidates will be based on criteria including character,
qualifications, any potential contributions that the candidate
can bring to the Board and its diversity and the candidate’s
willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge his/
her duties. Upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of a
new director and respective biographical information and details
of the candidate by any members of Nomination Committee, the
Nomination Committee will evaluate such candidate based on the
criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.
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During the year, the Nomination Committee met twice to assess
the independence of the retiring independent non-executive
directors, recommend the re-appointment of directors at
the forthcoming annual general meeting, appointment of
non-executive director, update and review the Board Diversity
Policy to ensure that it aligns with the Listing Rules.

Remuneration committee

A remuneration committee of the Company had been
established by the Board with written terms of reference. The
remuneration committee comprises two executive directors and
three independent non-executive Directors. The remuneration
committee is chaired by Mr. Fok. The remuneration committee
is responsible for assisting the Board in achieving its objective
of attracting and retaining Directors and senior management
of the highest caliber and experience needed to develop the
Group’s business successfully. The remuneration committee is
also responsible for the development of a fair and transparent
procedure in determining the remuneration policies for the
Directors and senior management of the Company and for
recommendation to their individual remuneration packages
having regard to, inter alia, the Group’s performance and
financial position, individual performance and comparable
market statistics. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Remuneration Committee met twice to review the above matters.

Audit committee

The audit committee comprises three independent non-executive
directors (the “Audit Committee”) and reports to the board of
directors. A written terms of reference had been established.
The committee members performed their duties therein which
includes duties set out in the code provision D.3.3(a) to (n) of
Part 2 of the Corporate Governance Code. The Audit Committee
held three meetings in 2024 and reviewed the Group’s annual
results for 2023 and interim results for 2024; reviewed the audit
plans and findings of the external independent auditor; made
recommendation to the Board on the re-appointment of the
external auditor and its remuneration; and reviewed the risk
management and internal control systems and financial matters
pursuant to its terms of reference. The Audit Committee meets
the external independent auditor at least once a year to discuss
any areas of concerns during the audits without the presence of
the management. The annual report for the year ended 2024 of
the Company has been reviewed by the Audit Committee.
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DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level
as one of the essential elements in supporting the attainment of
its strategic objectives and sustainable development. The steps
taken in respect of gender diversity at Board level are stated in
the paragraphs under “Nomination Committee”.

The Company has also taken steps to promote diversity at all
levels of its workforce. Opportunities for employment, training
and career development are equally opened to all eligible
employees without discrimination. Various diversities’ comparison
in the workforce are set out in the ESG report of the annual
report of the Company. As at 31 December 2024, approximately
35% of the Company’s workforce (including the directors and
senior management) is female and approximately 65% is male.
The Board considered the current gender ratio of the overall
workforce is healthy and balance and target to keep such level in
the future.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Board is responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements of the Company and the Group. In preparing the
financial statements, the Board has adopted Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants that are relevant to its operations.

The Board was not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that might cast significant doubt upon the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, the Board has
prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the fees paid/payable
to the auditor of the Company in respect of the audit services
and non audit services in 2024 were amounted to approximately
RMBO0.8 million and RMBO0.2 million respectively.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board is responsible for determining and reviewing the
policies and performance for the corporate governance for the
Group. During the year, the management of the Company from
time to time reported to the Board for their review on various
policies and practices about corporate governance of the
Company, which included training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management, Company’s
policies and practices on compliance of legal & regulatory
requirements and conduct of employees. In addition, the
corporate governance report together with other content of the
annual report was circulated for review and approval by the
Board.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board has the responsibility to maintain appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems in order
to safeguard the interest of the Group and the Shareholders. The
Board conducted review and assessment of the effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems and
procedures during the financial year ended 31 December 2024 by
way of discussions among themselves and with the management
of the Group, members of the Audit Committee and the external
independent auditor. The risk management and internal control
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.
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During the financial year, an external consultant has been
engaged to maintain the internal audit function for the Group to
assist the Board and the Audit Committee in ongoing monitoring
of the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group. The external consultant discussed with the executive
directors and senior management of the Group to identify
key business risks across the Group, and has adopted a risk-
based approach in developing the annual internal audit plan
with a focus on higher risk areas. Internal audit review was then
conducted in accordance with the annual internal audit plan. All
findings and recommendations on internal control deficiencies
for the year had been communicated to the management who
are required to establish remedial plans to correct those internal
control deficiencies and implement agreed action plans within
a reasonable time period. The Board and the Audit Committee
had reviewed the risk assessment results, internal audit planning
and internal audit reports submitted by the external consultant.
In respect of the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board
considered the risk management and internal control systems are
effective and adequate.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary plays an important role in supporting the
Board by ensuring good information flow within the Board and
that Board policy and procedures are followed. The Company
Secretary is responsible for advising the Board through the
Chairman and/or the executive directors on governance matters
and should also facilitate induction and professional development
of Directors. Details of the Company’s company secretary are set
out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” of this report.

The Company Secretary took not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training in the year ended 31 December 2024 as
required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company may distribute dividends by way of cash or by
other means that the Board considers appropriate. Any proposed
distribution of dividends is subject to the discretion of the
Board and, where applicable, the approval of the Shareholders.
The Board will consider various factors before declaring or
recommending any payment of dividends. These factors include
the results of operation of the business of the Group, the retained
earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and each
of the members of the Group, the Group’s actual and expected
financial performance, the general business conditions and
strategies, the Group’s expected working capital requirements
and future expansion plans, the general economic conditions and
the future prospects of the business of the Group, shareholders’
interests, statutory and regulatory restrictions on the payment
of dividend and other internal or external factors that the Board
deems appropriate. The Board will review, from time to time, and
reserves the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update
and/or modify the dividend policy of the Company at any time.
There is no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular
amount for any given period.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDER
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes in regular and timely communication
with shareholders as part of its efforts to help shareholders
understand its business better and the way the Company
operates. To promote effective communication with the public at
large, the Company maintains a website (http://www.760hk.com)
on which comprehensive information about the Company’s major
businesses, financial information and announcements, annual
and interim reports and shareholders circulars are being made
available.

All shareholders of the Company are given at least 20 clear
business days’ notice of the date and venue of the annual
general meeting. According to the Listing Rules, the Board will
conduct voting at the forthcoming annual general meeting by
vote.
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SHAREHOLDER’S RIGHT

The Procedures for Shareholders to Convene a
Special General Meeting

Pursuant to Bye-law 58 of the Company, shareholders holding
at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or
the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong, to require a special general meeting to
be convened by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held
within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting, the requisitionists themselves may convene such
meeting in accordance with the provisions of Section 74(3) of the
Companies Act of Bermuda.

The Procedures for Shareholders to Put Forward
Proposals at Shareholders’ Meetings

Pursuant to Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act of
Bermuda, registered shareholders are entitled to put forward
proposals at general meetings if they (i) represent not less than
one-twentieth of the total voting rights at general meetings of the
Company at the date of deposit of the requisition; or (i) are not
less than 100 registered shareholders. The written requisition
stating the resolution(s) should be duly signed by the registered
Shareholder(s) concerned, accompanied by a statement of not
more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to in
the proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with must be
deposited at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong. The requisition will be verified by the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that the
same is proper and in order, the Company Secretary will arrange
to include the proposed resolution in the agenda of the general
meeting.

The Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a
Person for Election as a Director

As regards the procedures for proposing a person for election as

a director, please refer to the procedures made available in the
Company’s website.
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Putting enquiries to the Board

Information of the Group are communicated to the shareholders
mainly through general meetings, including annual general
meetings, financial reports, and its corporate communications
and other corporate publications on the Company’s website and
the Stock Exchange’s website. Shareholders may at any time
make a request for the Company’s information to the extent that
such information is publicly available. Any such questions shall
be first directed to the Company Secretary of the Company:

By post

Unit A704

3rd Floor, Tower A, New Mandarin Plaza
No. 14 Science Museum Road

Tsim Sha Tsui East

Hong Kong

By email

ir760hk@21cn.com

Shareholders may also directly raise questions during the
shareholders’ meetings.

During the year, the Company has reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of various information dissemination and
communication methods as stated in this report, and considered
that the shareholders’ communication policy has been effectively
implemented during the year. The Company will continue to
maintain communication with shareholders and investors, and
review the shareholder communication policies on a regular basis
to ensure its effectiveness.

COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE FOR
DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules for directors’ securities
transactions. Having make specific enquiries of all directors of the
Company, they have confirmed that they complied with required
standard set out in the Model Code throughout the accounting
period covered by the annual report.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The By-Laws of the Company can be found in the website of the
Company.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

OVERVIEW

Pursuant to Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide (the “Guide”) contained in Appendix C2 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), Talent Property
Group Limited (the “Company”), together with its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group” or “we”), hereby presents this
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report (“Report”)
to disclose ESG related matters that are relevant to the Group’s
business and have material impacts on the environment and
society for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “reporting
period”). Unless otherwise stated, the reporting period is from 1
January 2024 to 31 December 2024.

SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE
Board’s Oversight of ESG Issues

To fulfil our corporate responsibility, the Group has established
ESG policies, infrastructure and framework to govern relevant
ESG practices and processes. The Group’s sustainability
governance structure comprises the Board of Directors (the
“Board”), the Environmental, Social and Governance Committee
("ESG Committee”) and different line managers within the Group.
Their roles and responsibilities are as follows:

The Board: Directors meet semi-annually with ESG Committee
and senior management to review and provide direction on key
ESG matters, including:

° appropriateness and effectiveness of ESG governance
structure, strategy, management approach and internal
control system;

° material ESG risks and opportunities, as well as the
Group’s corresponding ESG policies and initiatives; and
° the Group’s ESG performance against ESG-related

targets.

In the second Board meeting of the year, the Board also reviews
and approves the disclosure of the Report.
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SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE (continued)
Board’s Oversight of ESG Issues (continued)

ESG Committee: A management-level ESG Committee,
comprising key management personnel of the Group, drives
the development and execution of ESG policies across different
functions, and manages and coordinates the ESG efforts of the
Group. The ESG Committee reports directly to the Board on
ESG issues and provides updates on latest development in ESG
regulatory requirements to the Board.

Line Managers: Managers across different functions and business
lines of the Group executes the established ESG initiatives, and
tracks and reports ESG performance to ESG Committee.

ESG Management Approach and Strategy

Our management approach is to run our business in an ethically,
socially and environmentally responsible manner, and to support
and connect with the local communities that we serve. We
primarily focus on emission control and energy efficiency while
maintaining excellent financial returns from business operation.
We also strive to explore viable initiatives to continuously create
value to stakeholders in a sustainable manner. Details of our
assessment of material ESG issues are described in the “Material
ESG Issues Assessment” section. Foreseeing challenges from
climate-related risks such as typhoon, heavy rainstorm and
flooding in the regions where our major property development
sites are located, the Group has implemented a range of
preventive measures to mitigate the impact to our business and
stakeholders.

Review of Progress Made against ESG-related Goals
and Targets

The Board regularly evaluates the Group’s progress on our
sustainability targets, which are expected to be achieved in five
years. During the reporting period, the Group has made steady
progress on the 5-year sustainability targets as described in
Section A1 and A2.
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES ASSESSMENT

Stakeholder Engagement

The Group has proactively engaged with key stakeholders to
understand their needs, opinions and expectations on key ESG
issues, and has maintained continuous communication with them

through the below channels:
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External Internal
SMER AR
Shareholders &

Residents Investors Community & Media Employees
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e Regular visits e Annual general meetings e (Official website e Direct communication
TEBREN R BERBERE B 7 Auh BEEER

e Complaint hotlines e Annual, interim and ESG ® Press releases e Meetings
BRELR reports e e

¢ Resident property FE - PHUNIRE ¢ Media enquiries e Emails and hotlines
management g RkE/mE HEEEH EREYSEET
FEWEEE e Circulars and press e Training programs

releases
i N T E e

e Announcements on the
website of HKEX
HKEX#8 3 F & A &

EFIERIE

Government & Suppliers &

Regulators Business Partners Charitable Organisations
BEREEEN MERREBBHF HEWE

e General liaison * Meetings e Corporate volunteering

—RE e
e Communication on
policies

B BRE

&
EE

e Supplier review and
evaluation
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ELET
e Collaborative projects
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RiE -

MATERIAL ESG ISSUES ASSESSMENT

(continued)

Strategic Focus Among Priority ESG Issues

The Group has assessed the materiality of key ESG issues
associated with the business and operations of the Group and
prioritized these issues according to their importance to the
business and relevant stakeholders during the reporting period.
The below key ESG issues are included in this Report.
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Priority of
Focus Areas Materiality* Material ESG Issues Referencing Sections
EEMHN
4 i B rR> BARE  HERERHEE S2EEH
Climate Change 1 Climate Risks and Hazards A4.  Climate Change
FIREIE RIREBRREEY FIRE L
Climate Change 2 Climate Adaptation and Resilience ~ A4.  Climate Change
PR (-4 e RARE L RIREL
Environmental Protection 3 Decarbonization A1.  Emissions
RIFRE i A% HERR
Environmental Protection 4 Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emission A1.  Emissions
RIERE and Management BERR
AERB(DRAEREDHREERE
Environmental Protection 5 Resource Management and A2.  Use of Resources
IRIEIRE Circularity BIRERA
BIREE AR A3.  The Environmental and
Natural Resources
REMBAER
Employment and Labour 6 Employee Rights and Welfare B1.  Employment
Practices & B K@ A (3
ERERETIER B2. Health and Safety
fEREEZ S
B4.  Labour Standards
25 T8
Employment and Labour 7 Occupational Health and Safety B2. Health and Safety
Practices BEEmELe fEEREAZ B
EELEEIER
Operating Practices 8 Responsible Supply Chain B5.  Supply Chain Management
ZiEEpl Management HEREE
BEENHERERE
Community 9 Customer Health and Safety B6. Product Responsibility
ot BEREERZ S EmEE
Community 10 Community Wellness and B8. Community Investment
T Engagement HEREE
MR N2
* In descending order * RIRRIR 7
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REPORTING BOUNDARY

To determine the scope and content of disclosure in this Report,
the Board has assessed the materiality of the Group’s operations
in terms of key factors such as financial, total assets, sales
volume, and the number of construction sites of each location of
the Group during the reporting period.

Based on the assessment result, the Group has decided to
include in this Report ESG matters that are relevant to property
investment, development and management businesses of all
companies controlled by the Group. The ESG performance of
Guangzhou Xintian Properties Development Limited, an associate
of the Group with effective interest of 30%, is not included in this
Report. No companies are newly added to the reporting scope
during the reporting period.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES APPLIED

RiE - HERERHRE
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Principle The Group’s Application

A rEEZER

Materiality The ESG topics included in this Report have been assessed by the Board and ESG Committee,
according to importance to business and stakeholders

BARM RBEMEMRE HENELAHRECHEFSERE HEMEARZESRBUHEBIENENE

TR -

Quantitative

g1t

Consistency

— 5l

Key performance indicators (“KPIs”) are used to measure and track the effectiveness of the Group’s
ESG performance. All information disclosed in this Report is prepared in accordance with the
Guide. Methodologies and assumptions adopted, as well as the sources of conversion factors used
for the calculation of KPIs are disclosed in this Report. Qualitative data are presented throughout
the report and in the Performance Tables in Appendix I.
AREMER((ERERER D ARNEEMRBASERE S RERERNARYE - NREHH
BEHMAEERIREESIRHE - IERANTERRR - UEARGFEBERERERNEREFHIIRR
RIEANRKE - BIEBBEREERER KME—RBIEKPE] -

The ESG data presented in this Report are prepared using consistent methodologies to allow for
meaning comparison of the Group’s ESG performance over time unless otherwise specified in the
relevant part of the Report.
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RIE - wERERHRE

A. ENVIRONMENTAL A.

The Group strives to minimize adverse environmental
impact of its business operations by adopting
environmental protection practices over energy
consumption, use of resources and waste production.

A1. Emissions

The Group has established a mechanism to
collect emission data and evaluate significant
environmental impact brought by its operations.
The Group does not directly produce any significant
hazardous waste. Emissions caused by the
operations of the Group are primarily generated
from the consumption of electricity, paper and
petrol during its daily sales and office administration
activities. Environmental KPIs in connection
to our property investment, development and
management businesses during the reporting
period are disclosed below:

7B 15
REBEN BN E WEFOLTE - R
R RBWELOBRARER - T
BEHREHTHY BHERLE -

Al. HEM

REEC 27 B E BRI -
WHEARELETROREZE
ZEARM - AEBEVEAERELSE
MEANEREY AEEZEEL
MR EEREREHERPAE
TBORETIEFEE S - #oR KT
EA - REEHE - BRMANDE
RE ZBRMEEXBEBONIRE
FASEM IR BT

Unit 2024 2023
Efr ZBCME “E-=F
Air Emissions (Notes 1, 2)
BRER (M1 - 2)
Nitrogen oxides (“NO,") g 6,400 5,319
&ty aginl) "
Sulphur oxides (“SO,") g 106 122
matn(matml) "
Particulate matters (‘PM”) g 471 392
SR ([ Fak ) )
Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions
(Notes 3, 4)
BERB(RERBRDER(MZ3 - 4)
Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1) (Notes 5) Tonnes carbon dioxides
equivalent (tCO,e) 19.18 21.74
BERRERBHH(BE—)(Wiits) M_SltiEs
((H-SiEg])
Energy indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2) tCOe 168.79 269.18
REZREREBIR(EE ) M_&ltixEs
Other indirect GHG emissions (Scope 3) tCOe 4.69 2.84
EthERERBHH(BE=) M_EltikEe
Total GHG emissions tCOe 192.66 272.02
RERBHNAE M_&ltirEs
GHG emissions intensity tCO,e/employee 1.31 1.57

RERBHNEE
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m 4= > £t S/
RIE - B NERMRE
ENVIRONMENTAL (continued) A. REG®)
Emissions (continued) A1, HER(E)
Unit 2024 2023
Efy —EomE —B-=F
Non-hazardous Waste Produced (Note 6)
FEEMNERREY (AE6)
Paper waste disposed at landfills kg 978 592
ZERHERMER NI
Waste disposal intensity kg/employee 7 3
EERENEE AF/EE
Notes: Bat -
1. The Group does not engage in activities that: 1. NEBWEYESE -
> Consume gaseous fuel; or > HERBMA ZED
g,
> Generate hazardous wastes. > ELEBREMZED -
2. The calculation method of air emissions is based 2. BE R ET 8 7575 BIR IR
on “How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2: R MmEC AR RIR R « 4L
Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPls” issued gREBME W=« RIE
by the Exchange. FAREBIEEERES) ©
3. GHG emissions data calculation is based on, but 3. BERBHEREBEAEHER

not limited to, “The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A
Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standards”
issued by the World Resources Institute and
the World Business Council for Sustainable
Development, “How to prepare an ESG report —
Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental
KPIs” issued by the Exchange, the “Global
Warming Potential Values” from the IPCC Sixth
Assessment Report, 2021 (ARB6) and the “2023
National Electricity Carbon Footprint Factor ({2023
F2BFE Nk AT ) issued by the Ministry of
Ecology and Environment of the PRC.
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A.

ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

A1,

Emissions (continued)

Notes: (continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has a total of
147 employees (as at 31 December 2023: 173).
This data is also used for calculating other intensity
data in the Report.

The Group has enhanced its GHG data calculation
methodology and includes vehicles’ petrol
consumption in direct GHG emissions. Relevant
data in 2023 has been updated for meaningful
comparison.

The Group has engaged qualified construction
contractors to manage the property development
projects. Non-hazardous waste produced during
property development activities is collected, treated
and disposed by construction contractors. These
wastes are not directly incurred and controlled by
the Group and are thus excluded from the Group’s
environmental data. In consideration of limited
paper waste volume, the Group disposes the waste
to landfills through the waste disposal channel
managed by the different buildings’ management
service providers.

MR BESBARD R 2024F F#H

A

RE @)
Al. HER(E)
Wiz (18
4, BHE_Z-_NWF+-_/F=+—

H AEELE147EEE (B
E-Z-_=F+-fA=+—8:
1783%) - WWEUIE ARG E AR
WEPHEMEEHR -

75 OGE HOR ER A8 BURRT
% U EWETUMBERE
AAERREREIHN - —-F
T=FMRBEEIEE TEHMU
TERRLLE -

AEEZBAEREAETIZA
BEREEWERRIER - E4&
TiEABHEE BREREER
MEBREBMELNIERR
BEY) o ZEREYMAIEAREE
BEEREERES - MTHAR
SENRRBUIED - ERER
BER AEETERBTRE
BFEERG M ERNEIZNE
MRERBESBEREAZHEERER
BRI °



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

A. ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

A1,

Emissions (continued)

Emissions and waste produced at property
development construction sites are managed
by the construction contractors as stipulated
on the agreements with the contractors. Having
considered the environmental impact of the
contractors’ operations, management has required
the construction contractors to comply with
relevant laws and regulations. There are different
property management service providers for
managing waste disposals at different locations
of the Group. Regardless of the type of waste, we
closely monitor our contractors’ performance in
collecting, sorting and storing waste to avoid waste
leakage. During the reporting period, no incidences
of non-compliance with Environmental Protection
Law and Regulations on the Administration of
Construction Project Environmental Protection of
the People’s Republic of China and other relevant
laws and regulations with significant impact on the
environment and natural resources relating to air
and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous wastes were reported.

For emissions of air pollutants, the emission of
NO,  and PM for the reporting period were higher
than that in the previous reporting period, yet the
emission of SO _was lower. The emission of NO,
and PM for the reporting period was increased by
approximately 20%, and the emission of SO, was
decreased by approximately 13%. Such changes
were attributed to the increase in vehicle travel
distances.
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A.

ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

A1,

Emissions (continued)

The indirect emission of greenhouse gases per
employee has reduced by 17% from 1.57 tCO,e to
1.31 tCO,e. The decrease in electricity consumption
during the reporting period was attributed to the
completion of construction projects in Yangzhou
and the decrease in electricity consumption and
vehicle usage for property showcases after the
completion of sales.

In respect of mitigating the emission and waste
from daily business operation, the Group
established a target in 2021 to control the year-
on-year change in emissions of GHG and air
pollutants and waste produced at no more than
20% for the next 5 years, given that there are no
significant changes to business operation and
property projects. In the reporting period, the
Group only achieved the target partially by reducing
GHG emissions by 29%, as compared to the prior
reporting period. For waste, there was an 65%
increase due to more paper has been used for
contracts during the business operation. For air
pollutants emissions, there was an approximate
20% increase in both NO, and PM due to the
higher usage of the vehicles. The Group is fully
committed to addressing this issue by prioritizing
car maintenance on aged vehicles and closely
monitoring their emission data. We will continue to
closely monitor energy consumption and various
eco-friendly initiatives as described in Section A3,
as well as explore further adoption of renewable
energy and other green initiatives for emission
control.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

A2,

Use of Resources

The Group does not engage in resources or
energy intensive business activities. The types
of energy consumed by the Group are mainly
electricity and petrol. Water usage for the Group’s
daily sales and office administration activities is
minimal where both water supply and discharge
are solely controlled by the office building’s
property management. No issues in water sourcing
were encountered during the reporting period. In
addition, the Group does not involve directly in the
use/purchase of packaging materials in the usual
course of business. Relevant Environmental KPIs in
connection with the use of resources in conducting
our business during the reporting period are
disclosed below:

RiE - HERERHRS

BRE®)

A2,

BERERA
AEBEWEEEERIERE RN
RS - AREATEREMNEIRE
REBRENRVH AEEAE
HE R AZITHORB AKED -
IKEV I R BE e 2 i A RARY)
KERES - RREHE - WEMA
IKFREVEE © tbsh - AEBRA
BEBEETTEER S RBEN
RO, REE - NREHE - A
AR MR EBHAERNERIR
BRAREPIEERENT ¢

Unit 2024 2023
B b 12 —B-=F
Energy Consumption (Note 1)
BRHRE(H2E1)
Direct energy consumption from petrol fuel kWh 69,632 79,061
consumption
RETAREERR EZ RER FRE
Indirect energy consumption from electricity kWh 420,182 510,685
purchased
KEMBEENNREELRER FRE
Total energy consumption kWh 489,814 589,746
RERAFRAE FRE
Energy consumption intensity kWh/employee 3,332 3,409
RAEREE TRE/RE
Note: Wizt -
1. The unit conversion method of direct energy 1. BEEREREREURN S ER A AR

consumption data is based on the “Energy Statistic
Manual” issued by the International Energy Agency
(“IEA").
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A.

ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

A2,

Use of Resources (continued)

The direct energy consumption for the reporting
period decreased by 12% from 79,061 kWh to
69,632 kWh, which is a result of decreased petrol
consumption due to the aforementioned decreased
in vehicle usage.

The indirect energy consumption in the reporting
period reduced by 18% from 510,685 kWh to
420,182 KWh. Such reduction was attributed to the
reduction in electricity usage upon the completion
of the construction project in Yangzhou.

Management is not aware of any incidences of
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations,
such as Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Energy Conservation {7 2 A R A0 B & 49 6L IR )% )
on the use of resources.

In respect of energy efficiency in daily business
operation, based on the analysis on the energy
consumption level in the prior reporting periods, the
Group established a target in 2021 to control the
year-on-year change of the electricity and petrol
consumption at no more than 20% for the next 5
years, given that there are no significant changes
to business operation and property projects.
The Group has achieved the targets by reducing
energy consumption from petrol and electricity
by approximately 12% and 18% respectively
compared to the prior reporting period. The Group
will continue to closely monitor energy consumption
and various eco-friendly initiatives as described in
Section A3, as well as explore further adoption
of renewable energy and other green initiatives for
improving energy efficiency.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

A3.

The Environment and Natural Resources

Due to the nature of business and operations, the
Group's business has no direct and significant
impacts on the environment and natural resources.
Nonetheless, the ESG Committee regularly
assesses the environmental risk exposure of the
Group. Should there be any subsequent changes
to the relevant legislation or the Group’s operation,
the ESG Committee will report such changes to the
Board and adopt additional measures, if necessary,
to minimize the Group’s impact on the environment
and natural resources.

We have implemented a number of eco-friendly
initiatives to promote efficient use of resources and
energy conservation:

> Switch off lights during lunch hours;
> Set air-conditioning at an optimal temperature;
> Pre-set the printers to two-sided printing

mode, and post paper-saving reminders
near photocopy machines; and

> Promote reuse and recycle of paper by
placing recycling boxes in the office.

In the future we will continuously adopt the above
or other additional eco-friendly measures with the
aim to maintain a reasonable level of, or further
reduce, the emissions, electricity consumed and
paper waste produced during the operations of
the Group’s property investment and management
business.
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RiE -

A.

Z‘ié& k:A#& =

ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

A4.

Climate Change

We have identified and assessed the impact of
climate-related risks such as typhoon, heavy
rainstorm and flooding in the regions where we
carry out our business. No imminent climate
risks are identified during the reporting period.
Nonetheless, in order to mitigate the above physical
climate risks, we have developed safety and
evacuation policy for typhoon risk and circulated
emergency response plan for the Group for
improving typhoon awareness and preparedness
of our employees and contractors. In the event of a
natural disaster, Employees and contractors would
be notified via timely emails and text messages.
In addition, we also perform regular inspection of
climate-resilient facilities at construction sites such
as drainage and windbreak netting to minimize the
impact of the above climate risks.

In addition, there are potential transition risks
resulting from the change in climate-disclosure
requirements from regulators. For instance, the new
climate-related disclosure requirements introduced
by the Stock Exchange may lead to increased
compliance costs, enhanced reporting obligations,
and potential regulatory scrutiny, necessitating
robust data management and governance
frameworks. Failure to meet the climate change
compliance requirements may expose the Group
to risks of claims and lawsuits. We will be actively
establishing internal policy and monitoring any
regulatory changes and relevant industry standards
in our major business regions to better adapt to
and manage climate-related risks. No significant
transition risks are identified during the reporting
period.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RiE - HERERHRE

B. SOCIAL B. #&
Employment and Labour Practices EEREZEIESR
B1. Employment B1. {EfE
The Group is committed to complying with relevant AEEH N EFTEARBEMEBLD
labour standards and employment laws and BB TR REREERESR
regulations which are applicable to our business. AEBEEILZEANERBRE R
The Group has developed comprehensive human ol EEBETHHE  @HE - B
resources policies and guidelines to govern KRB 7 LA K (B B T R AR BB
staff recruitment, compensation, promotion and o REETBR DR BEXERES
dismissal processes, and employees’ working FiRHtRAE#E - WHERTESM
hours and rest periods. The Group also endeavours ERERAER o RMEHE - #
to provide equal opportunities throughout EREFE(PEARLNBES
recruitment and employment and to combat all FEOIREHERRLEIERBKREKX
forms of discrimination in workplace. During the FENHMMBEERZRERNT
reporting period, no incidences of non-compliance AHEH RZTEZWFE+=A
with Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China =+—B  AEBEEFBE1476E
and other relevant laws and regulations that have 8 AREE - NWEHHE - FH
imposed a significant impact on employment and RMESNIREEBRESEZEHEE
labour practices were reported. As at 31 December s
2024, the Group has a total of 147 employees and
all of them are employed full time. Employment
KPIs in connection with our business during the
reporting period are disclosed below:
. Total Workforce . BE) B
e Byt roue 136%

L)

< 30 years old
/NA30BR

65.3% 34.7%
Male Female
= o 43.5%
30-39 years old
30£395%
By Employee Category 7.5% By Geographical Location
ZEABHD Senor BHELEND 1.4%
Management ang Kong
BREBAR B
11.5% 98.6%
Middle C;]Jin.a
Management [o)
81.0%
Employees
—RiEE
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RIE - wERERHRE

B. SOCIAL (continued) B. #gw®)
Employment and Labour Practices (continued) EEREZEIER(E)
B1. Employment (continued) B1. {EEE)
. Employee Turnover . BERKE

The Group highly values the contribution
made by employees along the business
development and recognizes the importance
of employee attraction and retention. A
turnover rate of 32.5% has been reported
during the reporting period. Relevant
employment turnover KPIs in connection
with our business during the reporting period
are disclosed below:

By Gender
Ei:d: 3zl

[ ]
Female
it

Male o
St

By Geographical Location
BN EE S

Hong Kong 0,
9| 0.0%

China

36.1%

HE 32.9%

By Age Group
BREBRERIZS
40 years old

and above
405 A E

30-39 years old
30%39 7%

< 30 years old
NRB05%
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B. SOCIAL (continued)

Employment and Labour Practices (continued)

B2,

Health and Safety

The Group strives to provide a healthy and safe
workplace for its employees in all locations.
The Group also protects employees from
occupational hazards by providing them with
sufficient protective equipment and annual health
check-up. Safety guidelines are stipulated in the
Employee Handbook, which are distributed to all
employees. Employees are encouraged to report
any occupational hazards to the Group. Should
there be any reported hazards, Administration
Department will investigate the cases, report to the
senior management and take remedial actions in a
timely manner.

During the reporting period, the Group was in
compliance with Law of the People's Republic
of China on Work Safety, Law of the People’s
Republic of China on Prevention and Control of
Occupational Diseases, and other relevant laws
and regulations relating to the provision of a safe
working environment and protection of employees
from occupational hazards which are applicable to
the Group’s business. The Group has also ensured
that all employees are covered by the Social
Insurance plan. No work-related injuries or fatalities
were reported in the past three years including the
reporting period, and hence, no lost days due to
work injury were noted.
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B.

SOCIAL (continued)

Employment and Labour Practices (continued)

B3.

[ ]
Female

oy

Ve 4| 0.0%

Development and Training

The Group places great emphasis in developing
our employees and providing both internal and
external staff training to enhance their knowledge
and skills. The Group has developed a Training
Policy to govern training related matters. Each year,
management prepares a Training Budget to allocate
sufficient resources for staff development based on
the results of Training Requirement Survey. Both
internal trainings and external trainings organized
by third-party recognised organizations with
approximate 364 training hours were provided to
our employees during the reporting period. Relevant
development and training KPIs in connection with
our business during the reporting period are shown
below:

° Distribution of Employees Trained

By Gender #145I&1%

General
Employees

13.7%

—H&ER

Middle

Management
PREEAB

Senior

Management
BREEAE
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SOCIAL (continued)

Employment and Labour Practices (continued)

B3. Development and Training (continued)
. Training Hours
By Gender 1% 51215
(] 52 Management
Female
&t 364
mae & O
%a’\; ” 0

W Average training hours per employee trained &5 3I[{& & 955 I8 &
I Total training hours 4255 3)1|F5 1

B4.

BREEAR

Management

PREEAR
Employees
—RiES

I Average training hours per employee trained &5 3I{g & F55 15 &
M Total training hours #1531 5

Labour Standards

The Group is committed to complying with Labor
Law of the People’s Republic of China and other
labour standards relevant to the Group’s business.
The Group has established a policy to prohibit child
and forced labour. Management has also taken
reasonable and necessary steps in the recruitment
process to ensure that there are no deviations from
the Group policy and objectives. Employees are
encouraged to report any suspected cases of child
or forced labour at workplace via email. During the
reporting period, there were no reported incidences
of non-compliance with Labor Law of the People’s
Republic of China and other relevant laws and
regulations that have imposed a significant impact
on employment and labour practices.

RiE - HERERHRE

HtEg @)
EERLSIER(E)

B3.

52

B4.

RERIE(E)
. 15 I 25

By Employee Category Z{ESERIE%

364

BTEA

AR BT EARKAE
5 8))%) % B2 58 3¢ 7 1 A
B TRR) - AEMERIBHS
LETRBESD - EREFER
IR AR RN B M5
6+ LA TR S K MR B R
B RMBEEREAET IR
WAL AR TIERRANATRET R
B BRES - NBEIRD - B
AR E ARSNA ST %)
R RR RS TRABREALE
R A ABRE R BOR R T A 5

=

E_D

Talent Property Group Limited Annual Report 2024

51



S

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R - HEREBHRE

B.

SOCIAL (continued)

Operating Practices

BS.

Supply Chain Management

Suppliers who have provided products or services
with an aggregate value of RMB10 million or above
are considered as our major suppliers. All the 5
major suppliers are located in Mainland China.
The Group has established a contract policy and
corresponding evaluation procedures to govern
the selection of suppliers and construction
contractors. To ensure product and service quality,
and to manage environmental and social risks in
supply chain, the Group only engages suppliers
and construction contractors with licenses that
are granted by relevant regulators or government
authorities. We only engage suppliers who
provide environmental preferable products and
services that fulfill the national requirements of
Environmental Protection Standards issued by the
Ministry of Environmental Protection of China and
Environmental Protection Department of Hong
Kong. Relevant certifications are inspected during
supplier selection. The obligations of suppliers
and contractors with respect to environmental
protection and compliance with relevant safety
laws and regulations are clearly stated in signed
contracts. We also ensure the fair and reasonable
treatment of all suppliers and contractors in our
practices.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)

Operating Practices (continued)

BS.

B6.

Supply Chain Management (continued)

We require our suppliers and contractors to
follow the Code of Conduct set out by the Group
to encourage them to comply with all legal
requirements and ethical business practices.
Contractors are required to adhere to applicable
laws and regulations in their operations. They need
to adopt relevant measures to create a healthy,
safe, fair and corruption-free working environment.
The Code also encourages suppliers and service
providers to mitigate negative environmental
impacts and to improve their environmental
performance. Besides, we periodically review and
evaluate the environmental performance of our
major suppliers and assess whether their business
practices impose severe environmental and social
risks to the Group. If any non-compliance or
significant risk has been noticed, the Group would
take immediate action to rectify and enhance
monitoring. If the situation persists, the Group would
consider not to renew further business contracts
with the supplier.

Product Responsibility

The Group recognizes the importance of health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
related to products and services provided by the
Group. The Group has established relevant policies
to ensure compliance with applicable laws and
regulations and to fulfil its corporate responsibility
towards the customers.
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B.

SOCIAL (continued)

Operating Practices (continued)

B6.

Product Responsibility (continued)

The Group closely monitors the development
projects at every stage to ensure that project
development, construction process and product
quality are in compliance with Construction Law
of the People’s Republic of China and other
applicable laws and regulations, and requires
construction contractors to immediately resolve
any defects or non-compliance incidences, where
necessary. The Group has entered contracts
with construction contractors to obtain their
commitment to carry out necessary operational
and quality assurance activities, and to comply
with regulatory requirements. The Group has also
established property acceptance procedures to
ensure that the properties are ready for delivery to
our customers in pursuant to the sales agreements.
During the reporting period, there are no reported
cases of non-compliance of Construction Law of
the People’s Republic of China and other applicable
laws and regulations, recalls of properties or
significant complaints from customers.
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SOCIAL (continued)

Operating Practices (continued)

B6.

Product Responsibility (continued)
Protection of intellectual property rights

The Group strictly abides by applicable
requirements stipulated in related intellectual
property protection laws and regulations, such
as the Copyright Law of the People's Republic
of China and Trademark Law of the People's
Republic of China. All the software used by the
Group is legally obtained through subscription.
Verification and inspection of software copyrights
are conducted on an ongoing basis by the Group.
The Group has also established a comprehensive
intellectual property management approach for
self-developed intellectual properties for effective
protection from infringement. Additionally, the
trademarks of the Group including “Talent
Property”, “$TRKH1E” and “¥1 K=" are registered
in both Hong Kong and China to avoid any
infringement.

Consumer data protection and privacy policies

The Group highly recognizes the importance of
consumer data protection by establishing and
implementing various privacy policies. In order to
avoid data breach and manipulation, access to the
property contracts with sensitive consumer data
are restricted to authorized persons only. They are
also regularly monitored and maintained through
various data privacy tools.
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B.

SOCIAL (continued)

Operating Practices (continued)

B7.

Anti-corruption

The Group strives to create a corporate culture
that embraces integrity, honesty and fairness, and
is committed to conducting its business in the
absence of any undue influences. Requirements
and guidelines relating to the prevention of
bribery, extortion and fraud are stipulated in the
Employee Handbook and other relevant ethics-
related internal policies so as to communicate the
Group’s requirements and to provide guidance to
employees in carrying out business and operational
duties. The Employee Handbook and internal
policies are subject to periodic review, and updates
are made, when necessary, to ensure that they
are in line with the latest development of Criminal
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Law
of the People’s Republic of China for Countering
Unfair Competition and other applicable laws and
regulations. To minimize the ESG risks embedded
in our business operations, we maintain stringent
internal control and risk management systems.
Abiding by the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
(Cap. 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Group
has had no incidents of non-compliance to such
Ordinance. Management and staffs follow the anti-
bribery policies of the Group, upholds honesty,
integrity and fairness in all aspects of our business.
We maintain zero tolerance of any form of bribery.
All transactions are required to be documented in
an accurate, complete and timely manner, in order
to maintain a high degree of transparency and to
minimize the risk of bribery in the Group.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B. SOCIAL (continued)

Operating Practices (continued)

B7.

Anti-corruption (continued)
Whistle-blowing mechanism

The Group encourages all internal and external
stakeholders to report misconduct or unethical
business behaviours. Employees and suppliers can
file written reports via email to the mailbox specified
in Employees Handbook, employment contracts as
well as business contracts.

All allegations will be independently investigated
by Administration Department with the assistance
of relevant departments and business functions.
Independent senior management review the
investigation results and provide direction on
corrective actions. Investigation results and
progress of corrective actions are reported to the
Board where appropriate.

Anti-corruption training

The Group takes specific measures to encourage
integrity among employees. Our anti-corruption
and ethics-related policies are circulated and
well-explained to both employees during the
onboarding process and external suppliers before
arranging contract signing. The Group has been
developing the learning materials on anti-corruption
in the reporting period. The Group has held anti-
corruption seminars and provided relevant learning
materials for all employees in 2024 to maintain
employees’ awareness towards anti-corruption and
all forms of unethical business behaviours.

Community

BS.

Community Investment

The Group has taken the communities’ interests
into consideration when conducting business. It is
of our great desire to minimize the negative impact
of our operational activities to the community.
All employees are encouraged to participate in
community activities and charitable activities as
contribution to the society.
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APPENDIX | - SOCIAL PERFORMANCE gz — — L ERAIIK
TABLES
Employment Practice EBEER
2024 2023
—E-MME —F-=

Total Workforce BEB A
Total Number of Employee BREBAE 147 173
By Gender MR
Male B 96 109
Female 4 51 64
By Employment Contract REREN
Full-time employees HER 147 173
Part-time employees *BEES - -
By Age Group REHRA R
Under 30 308 AT 20 39
30-39 30E3975% 64 54
40 and above 407 S PA 63 80
By Employee Category ZESER
Senior management SREEE 11 11
Middle management PRERE 17 18
General employees LTiRESR 119 144
By Geographical Location BBV E
Mainland China B K B 145 171
Hong Kong B 2 2
Total Employee Turnover BEHERAE
Employee Turnover Rate EBRAE 32.5% 42.2%
Percentage of Employee Turnover by BREREDHEERAKLLE

Gender
Male EXl 36.1% 36.7%
Female gk 26.1% 51.6%
Percentage of Employee Turnover by RERAERNBDMNEERKLLR

Age Group
Under 30 30 AT 50.8% 56.4%
30-39 30E395% 32.2% 51.9%
40 and above 403 M Ak 25.2% 28.8%
Percentage of Employee Turnover by EihENBE S NEERKALLER

Geographical Location
Mainland China ERlCTPNS 32.9% 42.7%
Hong Kong B - _
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APPENDIX | - SOCIAL PERFORMANCE

TABLES (continued)

Development and Training

B R BE

ffdk — — s ERBEIIR )

2024 2023
—E-ME —F-=

Development and Training for Workforce {EE /IR HEE
Total number of employees trained 23 E B BE 7 7
Total number of training hours 4B 1% 511 B 364 350
Percentage of Employees Trained by EMRESHNZIEET DL

Gender
Male S - -
Female 4 14% 11%
Percentage of Employees Trained by REEEREIHNZIESE

Employee Category Aot
Senior management RREEE = -
Middle management PRERERE - -
General employees LTiEES 5.9% 4.9%
Average Training Hours Completed per EHRBsNEREEES RN

Employee by Gender S b NS
Male S - -
Female g3 52 50
Average Training Hours Completed per RERERNE I NERES

Employee by Employment Category ST HY 512 3|/ B
Senior management aRERE - -
Middle management HRERERE - -
General employees LRESR 52 50
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRES

Directors are pleased to present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Details of the
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries and associate
are set out in notes 42 and 17 to the consolidated financial
statements. Its subsidiaries are principally engaged in property
development, investment and management in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group’s business, an indication of likely
future development in the Group’s business and an analysis
using financial key performance indicators are provided in
the “Chairman’s Statement” and the “Business and Financial
Review”, respectively, from pages 4 to 7 and pages 8 to 17
of this Annual Report. A description of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group, a discussion on the Group’s
environmental policies and performance and an account of the
Group’s key relationships with its stakeholders are stated therein.

The above discussions form part of the Report of the Directors.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, the aggregate amount of sales
attributable to the Group’s five largest customers accounted
for 49.2% of the Group’s total sales for the year. Sales to the
largest customer represents 10.4% of the total sales. Whereas,
purchases of the Group’s five largest suppliers and contractors
accounted for 94.4% of the total purchases for the year and
purchases from the largest supplier and contractor included
therein amounted to 74.5% of the total purchases.

As far as the directors are aware, neither the directors, their
associates (as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”)) nor those shareholders (which, to the knowledge
of the directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital) had any interest in the Group’s five largest
customers or suppliers or contractors.
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RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
and the state of affairs of the Group and the Company at that
date are set out in the consolidated financial statement on pages
80 to 83 and page 214.

DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 87 to 88 and note 43 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively.

SUBSTANTIAL INVESTMENTS AND
ACQUISITIONS

There was no substantial investment and acquisition.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital of the
Company are set out in notes 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of the movements during the year in the investment
properties and plant and equipment of the Group are set out
in notes 13 and 14 respectively to the consolidated financial
statements.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2024
are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Consolidated Results

MBRE
mEXE

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—-HLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

—E-ME —T-=fF —E-— —E- % ZE-TF

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT AREFT ARETFT AREFT ARETFT

Revenue & 284,573 766,732 276,113 343,992 348,216

(Loss)/profit before income K& FriSE Al

tax (B18),/ & F (138,373) 6,781 (1,364) 197,239 (116,132)

Income tax expenses FrfSfiA > (142) (40,557) (37,784) (33,209 (74,036)

(Loss)/profit for the year FE(E8),/ %R (138,515) (33,776) (39,148) 164,030 (190,168)
(Loss)/profit attributable to: T~ A+ FEAS

(E518), & H

Owners of the Company KRBHEE A (138,515) (33,776) (39,148) 164,030 (100,868)

Non-controlling interests FEfE IR T - - - - (89,300)

(138,515) (83,776) (89,148) 164,030 (190,168)
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= =+
EEERESE
Consolidated Assets, Equity and Liabilities mEEE EmzkB8E
As at 31 December
®+=A=+—H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-ME —T-=F —E-— —E-—F ZE-ETF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFrT ANRETFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EREEE 594,288 753,158 911,632 1,090,409 979,312
Current assets mENVEE 2,103,064 2,395,552 3,118,981 3,130,248 3,287,386
2,697,352 3,148,710 4,030,613 4,220,657 4,266,698
LIABILITIES aE
Current liabilities REEE 1,043,798 1,263,422 1,851,182 2,037,299 1,862,199
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 155,483 249,627 509,295 474,771 806,889
1,199,281 1,513,049 2,360,477 2,512,070 2,669,088
EQUITY e
Attributable to: THIANLE -
Owners of the Company AAREAAN 1,497,871 1,635,461 1,669,936 1,708,387 1,746,972
Non-controlling eI
interests 200 200 200 200 (149,362)
Total Equity e 1,498,071 1,635,661 1,670,136 1,708,587 1,597,610
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. ZHANG Gao Bin (Chairman)
Mr. LUO Zhangguan

Non-executive Director
Ms. ZHOU Hanlu (appointed on 9 December 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. LO Wai Hung
Mr. MAK Yiu Tong
Mr. FOK Chi Tat Michael

In accordance with the Company’s bye-laws and the Listing
Rules, all of the directors are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election. Mr. Mak Yiu Tong, Mr. Fok Chi Tat Michael and
Ms. Zhou Hanlu will retire by rotation and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the
senior management of the Group are set out on pages 18 to 20
of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of independent non-executive directors and the
non-executive director, had entered into a service contract with
the Company for a term of two years and each of these contracts
is subject to termination by either party giving not less than 1
month’s written notice.

Apart from the foregoing, no director proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
contract, which is not determinable by the Company within one
year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws, every Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or
incur in or about the execution of the duties of his/her office
or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has arranged
appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage
for the Directors and officers of the Group throughout the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the directors or the management shareholders of the
Company or any of their respective associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) had any business which was considered to
compete or was likely to compete with the businesses of the
Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts other than employment contracts concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year.

EEEWMSE

BEFFIRER
BREARANDAME - SREEHERALY
RAITHB I BESE LS R TRERES
EEN RS  HADRNEETES
Wi ARFERFRASTEENESRDRB
BZHRBELEEREARENRERR -

EENERGRAzER

RAFEHEE B RFERNERER - ARRHEE
MM BARBEI AR R ERTERNMEERE
THREEERRIEAAR -

R ER
EERANRAEEERENESAAEEHEA
T (EH R EPRA) B QB AR AR T4
HAEELHHT L LH -

EEEYN

AEER - BEEAKI AWM TREETE
BARARABEEEBREMEEHD 2 ERRITH
ZEH -

Talent Property Group Limited Annual Report 2024

65



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRES

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2024, the interest or short position of the
Directors and chief executives in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which would have to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of SFO), or which were required to be and are recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

EERTBAENA D B AR 85
EEZ A - RO R EEE2E
wmRER

RZZE-ZMF+—A=+—H8 B2 RTHEH
AR B sk H AT A AR Bt v B (R 75 %5 R B & 1601
([EHREEEF ) EXVEZ B ) 25 - 48
RO EREET  HHEREESFREEGE
EXVELET7 R 8D B A AL A KB R T e 5K,
RE(REESREBEESRAE KNG BIGEUE
EXCIEHAZREZRER)  RARERAR
AIRIEEE R EIENEISEREATEZE
iR R A - IRBIRETRSITR
AR T R R EmE A T

Percentage of the

Capacity/ Company’s issued
Name of director Nature of interest Number of shares share capital
HAATE BT
B B HEEME KRG &E RABDEE
Zhang Gao Bin Personal 6,681,250 1.29%
=B & A
Interest in controlled corporation 323,719,696 62.90%
MRS EE N R
Mak Yiu Tong Personal 7,500 0.00%
HRE EA

MR BESBARD R 2024F F#H
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY

So far as is known to the Directors or chief executives of the
Company, as at 31 December 2024, the interests or short
positions of substantial shareholders (other than Directors or
the chief executives of the Company) in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
SFO or were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

EEEWMSE

FERRRADBARODRAEABRS 2
EENER

BARRARIESIITHRAEMAM  RZZTZNF
TZA=+—8 FEZERF(ARREFTHITH
HBELBR M) AR A B AR 17 kAR B AR 15 HE A AR 1K 3%
% NG IEHIEXVELFE2 K35 B E X ABR AN A 7
RN AR BIRIEFH & A E 5G] FE 336157
EETEZECMEE s ERLEAWT

Percentage of

Number of the Company’s
underlying issued
Name Note shares interest share capital
AR RABE BT
=L Hfat RO EZHE RABSDEE
Talent Trend Holdings Limited 1 323,719,696 62.90%
Note: oz
M The entire issued share capital of Talent Trend Holdings Limited is (1) Talent Trend Holdings Limited & B B 2 1T i% X

directly, beneficially and wholly owned by Mr. Zhang Gao Bin.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Share option scheme of the Company that adopted on 20 May
2013 was expired in 2023.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the directors
of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

mERAELEHE Bmh2EHE -

BB REST &
ARARR-E—ZFRA -+ BERHZ BRE
HEEKR-E-=FEH -

BEROIEEE 2L H
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws and there is no restriction against such
rights under the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing
shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

There was no purchase, sale or redemption of shares or other
securities of the Company by the Company or its subsidiaries
during the year.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Save as the related party transactions as set out in note 38 to
the consolidated financial statements which were fully exempt
from the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules, the Group did not enter into any other
connected or continuing connected transactions during the
financial year ended 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s Corporate Governance Report is set out on
pages 21 to 33 of the annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE
FROM INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive directors are
independent.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules, based on the
information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Company’s directors.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s shares.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining shareholders of the Company
who are entitled to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual
general meeting to be held on 9 June 2025, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from 4 June 2025 to 9
June 2025, both days inclusive. In order to qualify for attending
and voting at the annual general meeting, all transfer documents
should be lodged for registration with Company’s Hong Kong
branch share registrar, Union Registrars Limited at Suites 3301-
04, 383/F, Two Chinachem Exchange Square, 338 King's Road,
North Point, Hong Kong not later than 4:00 p.m. on 3 June 2025.

AUDITORS

A resolution will be tabled in the forthcoming annual general
meeting to re-appoint Messrs. CHENG & CHENG LIMITED as
auditors of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Zhang Gao Bin
Chairman

Hong Kong, the PRC
28 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZBERE S

CHENG & CHENG LIMITED

Certified Public Accountants

FRER eIt ER ERATAR R E

To the Shareholders of Talent Property Group Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Talent
Property Group Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries
collectively referred to as (“the Group”) set out on pages 80 to
216, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2024, the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024 and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements for the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Valuation of investment properties

The key audit matter

BYZEMRES

FAREXZSEE
RREBEZFESREBESNERAES  ReY
AMEAMBERRNECEREENER - BF
REZBREAVMBBRRARFLEAREENE
FH MESTERUFERERFRRER -

REMENGE

BEFELER

As at 31 December 2024, the fair value of investment properties
of the Group was RMB448,400,000.

Significant estimation and judgement are required by
management of the Group to determine the fair value of the
investment properties. To support the fair value determined by
the management of the Group, the Group engaged an external
valuer to perform valuations on the investment properties at the
end of the reporting period.

The accounting policies and disclosures for the estimation of fair
value of investment properties are included in Notes 2, 4 and 13.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Valuation of investment properties (continued)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

FEEEXEEE)
REWEWGEE)

EENERRNNEEREELER

We assessed the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls over the preparation and
monitoring of valuation of the Group’s investment properties;

We assessed the external qualified property valuers’ competence,
independence, capabilities and objectivity and read their terms of
engagement with the Group to determine whether there were any
matters that might have affect their objectivity or whether there
were scope limitations imposed upon their work;

With the assistance of our property valuation specialists and
on a sample basis, we discussed with the external property
valuers their valuation methodology and the key estimates and
assumptions adopted in the valuations; and evaluating the
appropriateness of the valuation methodology with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing accounting standards and
challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions adopted in
the valuations by comparison with available market data;

We compared inputs to the valuation model, on a sample basis,
with the Group’s records, which included underlying lease
agreements and documentation, details of number of property
units held for investment purposes and current rents; and

We conducted site visits and compared the occupancy with
current tenancy information.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Net realisable value assessment of the Group’s
properties under development and completed
properties held for sale

The key audit matter

BYZEMRES

FEEEXEEE)
i SEERERETYERBELHE
ERIYENTERFE

HREEZEE

As at 31 December 2024, the Group held properties under
development and completed properties held for sale amounted
to RMB345,517,000 and RMB1,537,382,000 respectively, net of
impairment loss of properties under development and completed
properties held for sales amounted to RMB48,255,000 and
RMB21,206,000 were recognised during the year ended 31
December 2024, as disclosed in Notes 18 and 19 respectively to
the consolidated financial statements.

The estimation of the net realisable value (“NRV”) of properties
under development and completed properties held for sale
required the management of the Group to estimate the selling
prices based on prevailing market conditions, less costs to
complete and sell the properties. Given that the Group had
significant amounts of properties under development and
completed properties held for sale and that the management’s
determination of the NRV required the management of the Group
to exercise significant judgment, we concluded that the NRV
assessment as one of the key audit matters.

RZZEZMF+=ZA=+—H ' BEEFE%
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Net realisable value assessment of the Group’s
properties under development and completed
properties held for sale (continued)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

FAREEZEES)

i ERERAERRETUERSFHEZ
3% TY) R A0 o] 8 3R FHE ()

EENEARNNEEREELER

We assessed the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls over the preparation and
monitoring of management budgets and forecasts of future net
selling prices, relevant taxes, construction and other costs for the
properties;

We assessed the external qualified property valuers’ competence,
independence, capabilities and objectivity and read their terms of
engagement with the Group to determine whether there were any
matters that might have affect their objectivity or whether there
were scope limitations imposed upon their work;

With the assistance of our property valuation specialists and on
a sample basis, we discussed with the external property valuers
and the management their methodology and assumptions used
in determining the market value of the properties;

We obtained cost to completion budgeting, compared with that
in previous year, checked to the additional construction contract
on a sample basis and obtained an understanding to the internal
control of payment cycle of construction cost for completeness;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Net realisable value assessment of the Group’s
properties under development and completed
properties held for sale (continued)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BYZEMRES

BAREEZEE®)

i BERERAERRETYERSFELHEZ
3% TY)RHY ] 8 3R FHE ()

EERNERRNNEEREELER

Specifically, with regard to completed properties held for sale,
we sample-checked the current market value of properties used
by the external property valuers to the adjusted market prices
of comparable properties in the similar location near the end
of the reporting period and determined whether there was any
significant variance;

With regard to the properties under development, we discussed
with the management of the Group and the external property
valuers how they arrived at the estimated percentage of
completion, the estimated selling prices when they are completed
and the estimated costs to complete, and checked to the source
data on a sample basis;

We compared the market value determined by the external
property valuers with the carrying amount of the properties
recorded in the Group's consolidated financial statements to see
whether adequate impairment had been provided; and

We performed site visits accompanied by the management of the
Group.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZBERE S

OTHER INFORMATION (continued)

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging

their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZBERE S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify your opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the Group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter of when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

CHENG & CHENG LIMITED
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
Hong Kong, 28 March 2025

Ho Wan Nei
Practising Certificate number: P06991

VRS IR

BREMRELGEMBRERNEE
(&)

BREMER EFEERZBENEZTIFNE
FHENRERENEAEZER  BREES
X IR R AR B R E ARG A R

EENNEZZEGRRER  HPAEZEEET
ﬁ@ﬁiﬁ BEENR - WHEMFBRABEHES

REAEFEESNBELENBERREMSE
H'M&EL%MFET’R%%$H%%%W
BIFTEN S E R I o

FEENEEREZEQBANERT  REMPLS
EHAPGEVBHRRNERTFRAEE @ [
MEBKBEREFZFE - FRIDAEIERTTA
REBELEFEE AREEENBERT  BFR
RBPEBUFERASERMOIRERGELA
FABUFEENMNEM RN BEPRE - &
AEFENZBmMBRE P HALEEE -

BB TMEXFAERAT
HEDE A
BB —E-AF=A-+NH

AER
HEFERS - P0699T

Talent Property Group Limited Annual Report 2024

79



80

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
e RkEMEEWARE

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

2024 2023
—E-_ME —E-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k=3 AR#FT ARBFIT
Revenue &= 5 284,573 766,732
Cost of sales and services HE KRS AL A (229,777) (578,018)
Gross profit EF 54,796 188,714
Other revenue oA U 5 6 9,324 4,028
Distribution costs 2 EHA AR (8,272) (13,204)
Administrative and other T REMSERT
operating expenses (62,580) (40,112)
Fair value changes on investment % &Y% v N FEE
properties (51,700) (54,749)
Impairment loss of properties BRPMERERE
under development (48,255) (24,271)
Impairment loss of completed BIERE 2R TITYEZREA
properties held for sale E518 (21,206) (73,835)
(Impairment loss)/reversal of B RWRRTEREE
expected credit losses of BB ORERTE), R
trade receivables (967) 121
Share of result of an associate 71— & R A EE 17 (5,275) 42,415
Finance costs & AR 7 (4,238) (22,326)
(Loss)/Profit before tax BBLET(EE) B 8 (138,373) 6,781
Income tax expense FriSfiM > 11 (142) (40,557)
Loss for the year FEFR (138,515) (33,776)
Loss attributable to: THATEMEE :
Owners of the Company ZIN/NEIETZS DN (138,515) (33,776)
Non-controlling interests IEPE R - -
(138,515) (33,776)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SmEBRERAEMEERARRE

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=HF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bzt AR#FT AREFIT
Other comprehensive FEHMEEBA(EE)
income/(loss) for the year
ltems that may be reclassified HigngEmoBEzEaN
subsequently to profit or loss: EH :
Exchange differences on MEBINETS 2 BTk 2
translation of financial fEHZw
statements of foreign
operations 925 (699)
Other comprehensive EEHMEZEmKEA(BE)
income/(loss) for the year 925 (699)
Total comprehensive loss for FE2EEEHAE
the year (137,590) (34,475)
Total comprehensive loss THATEMEZEEEALE
attributable to:
Owners of the Company RAREER A (137,590) (34,475)
Non-controlling interests IEPER = = -
(137,590) (34,475)
RMB RMB
AR# ARB
Loss per share BREE 12
Basic and diluted EARREE (26.9) cent? (6.6) cent?
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

fra BEUIR R &

(As at 31 December 2024) (R=ZFE=pyF+=H=+—H)

2024 2023
—EomE B4
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
it AR FT ARETFr
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EENERE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Investment properties B 13 448,400 500,100
Plant and equipment VS 14 8,318 9,106
Intangible assets BEEE 16 3,120 3,510
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15 - 1,755
Interests in an associate N )N o 17 134,450 238,687
594,288 753,158
Current assets REBEE
Properties under development BEAPYE 18 345,517 438,000
Completed properties held BIEHEZ DR TS
for sale 19 1,537,382 1,745,582
Trade receivables JE U BR 5K 20 2,301 967
Prepayments, deposits and TERFIE - e REAMER
other receivables BRI 21 49,938 73,542
Tax recoverable AR B 718 17,222 18,201
Restricted bank deposits ZRRBIRITER 22 28,100 -
Cash and cash equivalent ReEMRESEEY 23 122,604 119,260
2,103,064 2,395,552
Current liabilities nBAE
Trade payables FETER R 24 254,776 377,650
Accruals and other payables EstE R N EMENIEER 25 51,421 96,993
Contract liabilities BHERE 26 348,497 369,896
Lease liabilities HERE 27 = 2,024
Provision for tax TIEREE 389,104 400,139
Borrowings B 28 - 16,720
1,043,798 1,263,422
Net current assets REBEEFE 1,059,266 1,132,130
Total assets less current HEERTBEE
liabilities 1,653,554 1,885,288
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
B BGIR 5 2=

(As at 31 December 2024) (R=ZFE=pyF+=F=+—H)

42 A
2 Ny =]

2024 2023
—EBomE B
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
it AR FT AREFor
Non-current liabilities FnBERE
Borrowings & 28 33,256 106,536
Deferred tax liability EERIBEE 29 122,227 143,091
155,483 249,627
Net assets EEFEE 1,498,071 1,635,661
EQUITY e
Share capital A& 72X 30 4,703 37,628
Reserves G 31 1,493,168 1,597,833
Equity attributable to the KRB ANELRER
owners of Company 1,497,871 1,635,461
Non-controlling interests IR 200 200
Total equity ERBE 1,498,071 1,635,661

Zhang Gao Bin

Luo Zhangguan
BEER
Director

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n‘/—_]_\ EE@UH:E%E

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

HMAMEEEER AT 2024F Fi#

2024 2023
—E-_ME —E-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k=3 ARMFT AREFT
Cash flows from operating REXBABzRERE
activities
(Loss)/Profit before tax MELRT(ER) R A (138,373) 6,781
Adjustments for: FEE
Interest income on financial REHEN AR EREE
assets carried at amortised F B U A
costs 6 (2,254) (3,616)
Fair value changes on WEWMERTEE
investment properties 13 51,700 54,749
Impairment loss/(reversal) of UG EBR IR HAE B S ERE
expected credit losses of &8 (#E)
trade receivables 8 967 (121)
Management fee income from KE—EEBEANREIEE
an associate ON 6 (8) (33)
Interest income on loan to an BT —REBEQARERZF
associate BUA 6 (28) (104)
Impairment loss of properties BRAYERERSE
under development 8 48,255 24,271
Impairment loss of completed — #H{EHEZ DB ITYE Y
properties held for sale RIEEE 8 21,206 73,835
Share of result of an associate {5 — B & QA R %48 17 5,275 (42,415)
Compensation to the controlling  [A B & A B3 IRAR BB AEH 2
shareholder of the associate HE 19,211 -
Finance costs BhE KA 7 4,238 22,326
Gain on disposal of plant and HEME & &EZ W
equipment (108) -
Depreciation of plant and WE R ETE
equipment 8 4,453 2,857
Depreciation of right-of-use FHREESENE
assets 8 1,755 1,754
Amortisation of intangible E A
assets 8 390 390




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
meREnRER

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

2024 2023
—E-NE TEC-=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR FT AREFT
Operating cash flow before EEESEPA I RER S
working capital changes mE 16,679 140,674
Decrease in properties under BRTMERBEREY
development and completed BERTYERD
properties held for sale 231,222 598,407
(Increase)/Decrease in trade FEMBR SR (38 0), R
receivables (2,301) 1,763
Decrease in prepayments, TERFIA - me REMER
deposits and other AR FORL
receivables 23,604 59,659
Increase in restricted bank PR HI R T 1T HAE AN
deposits (28,100) -
Decrease in trade payables FEBRFOR A (122,874) (140,929)
(Decrease)/Increase in accruals  [fEH& A M E M E R
and other payables CR),/1 0 (8,046) 2,609
Decrease in contract liabilities AHadEmd (21,399) (395,906)
Cash generated from operations #&&ZEEAEZHE 88,785 261,277
Income tax paid BT e R (23,186) -
Land appreciation tax paid BT LI E R (7,876) (16,387)
Net cash generated from REERMEBZRLSFEER
operating activities 57,723 244,890
Cash flows from investing KREXEFBZRERE
activities
Proceed from disposal of HEBmERSE B HE
plant and equipment 2,605 -
Purchase of intangible assets BEELEE - (3,900)
Purchase of plant and equipment Bg & &= & % (6,133) (4,145)
Addition to investment property IREWMERE - (2,149)
Interest received 2 UHE 2,254 3,616
Dividend received from an B —EEE R RRRE
associate 48,500 -
Proceed from capital reduction  —RE#A N 7] BISRAS A< >
of an associate TREE ] - 140,867
Net cash generated from BREXEKFBZzREFEH
investing activities 47,226 134,289
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mEEERER

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

2024 2023
—E-NE TEC-=4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
izt AR¥TFT AREFITT
Cash flows from financing BMEXECRBERE
activities
Repayment of bank loans EBERITER (90,000) (18,000)
Repayment of other secured EEHEMBERER
loans - (297,200)
Net (repayment to)/advance from [A—ZHITEEHR
an executive director (B B sz (5,628) 2,455
Finance costs & A AR (4,238) (22,326)
Repayment of principal of lease (HEHE&BEAS
liabilities (2,024) (1,729)
Net cash used in financing BMEXKFTACREEHE
activities (101,890) (336,800)
Net increase in cash and cash Re LB EEYILINERE
equivalents 3,059 42,379
Cash and cash equivalents at R—A—BzRekReE
1 January %7 119,260 76,860
Effect of foreign exchange rate  [EXR&gh 7 &
changes 285 21
Cash and cash equivalents at R+t A=+—HzHRE& K
31 December ReEEY 122,604 119,260
Analysis of cash and cash ReERBESEBYIW
equivalents
Bank balances and cash RITEHR KB 23 122,604 119,260
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GEREEDE

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

Attributable to owners of the Company

LOEEEIN
Fairvalue
trough
other
Currency Capital comprehensive Non-
Share Share translation ~ Capital Contributed  redemption income  Statutory Accumulated controlling
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  surplus  reserve reseve  reserve loss  Sub-total interests Total equity
#I%E
ghite EAEE  HALH

kx  RAEE  BE  EARE  MARR  BE GEWEE  IERR RMEE b RERRE  RufE
RMBOO  RMBOO  AMBOOO  RMBOW  RMBUX  RMBOX  RMBO®  RMBUX  RMBOO  RMBOX  RMBUX  RMBO0O
ARRTE ARRTE ARRTL ARRTL AREFZ ARETZ ARRTZ ARRTE ARRTL ARRTL ARRFT AREFR

Asat 1 January 2024 ATEIME-A- 0 3628 2962005  (24070) 81 301,799 82 (10000 26500 (1,472584) 1,635,461 200 1,635,661

Loss for the year FRER = = = - - - - (138,515) ~ (138,519) (138,519
Oercomprehensie ~ EEEMH2ARA:
income for the year:
Bchngediferenceon  RERNEE
tansatonof francil ~ EBRZ
statement of oregn EiZE

operations - - 925 - - - - - - 925 - 925

Totalcomprehiensiveloss ~ £E2ABELE
for the year - - 925 - - - - (138,515)  (187,590) (137,590)
Coplal eduction jote 30) ~ BERA M0 (82,925)  (2,982,908) - - 3015830 - - - - - - -

Asat31 December 2024 R-E-ME
+2f=1-A 4,103 - (230808) 861 3317629 8 (1000 26,500 (1,611,009) 1,497,671 200 1,498,071
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEREEEER

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

Atroutable to owners of the Company

FRTREARE
Favale
frough
oher
Currency Captal  comprenensiee Non-
Share Share trangiaion Captal ~ Contrbuted  redemption e Statutory  Accumulated controling
cap - premium T6ENe T6ENe surplus T6SEIVe SR T6SEIVe loss  Subfo inferests  Total eouity
BATE
ghih ETEE  p)Af

Rho BER  BR  RRGE RARR  GR REMABE  ATBR  EMEE N HRER  BEME
RUBOLD  RMBOD  AVBOOO  RUBOD  AMBODD  RWBOOO  RUBOD  RMBOND  AWBOO  AUBODD  AMBOXD  AMBOWD
NRRTT ARETT ABRTT ARETL ARETT ARETL ARRTL ABRTT ARRTT ARETT ARETT ARETR

Asat 1 January 2023 RECZE-A-0 e 298005 (240031) 8t 301,799 8 (1,000 2600 (1,438,808) 1,669,936 200 1670136

Loss for the year EREE - - - - - - - 33776 (33.776) - B
Other comprefensiieloss ~ EFEH2AEE:

for the year:

Bchangedffeeceon  AEENEE I

tansonoffnancil ~ BRCEREE

statement of foreign

operations - - (699) - - - - - - (6%9) - (6%9)

Totdcompenensiveloss ~ ER2EEEAE
for the year - - (699) - - - -

I AT 3479

Asat3! December 2028 W=-E=Z%
+tZB=1-H 37628 2982905 (240,730) 861 301,799 82 (1,000) 26,500 (1,472.584) 1,635,461 200 1,635,661
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

GENERAL INFORMATION

Talent Property Group Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Bermuda and domiciled
in Hong Kong. The addresses of its registered office and
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed
in the corporate information section to the annual report.
The Company’s shares are listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Talent
Trend Holdings Limited, which is incorporated in the BVI, is
the ultimate holding company of the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are
including (i) property development, (ii) property investment
and (iii) property management.

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), while the consolidated financial statements
are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”). As the major business
of the Group is located in the Mainland China, the
directors consider that it will be more appropriate to adopt
RMB as the Group’s and the Company’s presentation
currency.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2024 were approved for issue by the board
of directors on 28 March 2025.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

A Ny =]

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information
is reasonably expected to influence decision made by
primary users. These consolidated financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited.

The material accounting policies that have been used in
the preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are summarised below. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented unless
otherwise stated. The adoption of new or amended
HKFRSs and the impacts on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements, if any, are disclosed in Note 3.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments and certain properties that are measured at
fair value at the end of each reporting period, as explained
in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Basis of preparation (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes
into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics
into account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16 and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which
are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs is to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated
so that at initial recognition the results of the valuation
technique equals the transaction price.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

'L'
A

BIBHRREE

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Basis of preparation (continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

The material accounting policies are set out as below:

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

'L'
A

BIBHRREE

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies
as those of the Group for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of
the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate. Changes in net assets of the associate
other than profit or loss and other comprehensive income
are not accounted for unless such changes resulted in
changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When
the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds
the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of
the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments in associates (continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with
its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not
allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part
of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal
of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of
interests in the associate that are not related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

A Ny =]

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

The performance obligations of the Group for contracts
with customers are summarized as follows:

(i) Development and sales of properties (revenue
recognised at a point in time)

For contracts entered into with customers on sales
of properties, based on opinion from the Group’s
internal legal counsel, taking into consideration
of the relevant contract terms and customary
practice within the industry in the PRC, the legal
environment and relevant legal precedent, the
management of the Group concluded that the
Group does not have an enforceable right to
payment for the work performed to date at all times
during the contract prior to transfer of the relevant
properties to customers. Revenue from sales
of residential properties in the PRC is therefore
recognized at a point in time when the completed
property is transferred to customers, being at
the point that the customer obtains the control of
the completed property and the Group has fully
received the consideration of the properties sold.

The Group normally receives 1%-41% (2023:
1%-36%) of the contract value as deposits from
customers when they sign the sale and purchase
agreements. Such advance payment result in
contract liabilities being recognised throughout the
property construction period.

2.

BEASTHEME®)

REEFENWE(E)
AEERREEPEANEAOE EHMm
T

(i) RERFEWH(R—E0HEZ
Wezt)
HREEPFIVARYEHENE L
mE - REAKERIPEZBEED
BR  KREBBBEANGR  1E
TRE ERRRBERERARSL
Pl AEEEEER S EEENA
BAMETEFPA - AREALERE
WA HEAM B ATE TR M T2
Y BR A 5K B A] 98 I AT HE A o A
It R EEHEEEDRORER
ERTIVMEEETEP AR B E
R EPEFERITYEMNIES
BAASED ZBREHENED
HE-

EEITEEREE  AEE—KRA
BEPWIMAEHNEBEEMIBEM%(Z
T F 1% E36W)IEEIEE -
FAENE - E G ES= % S EhEIE
NEREHERE -

Talent Property Group Limited Annual Report 2024

97



98

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRARE

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(i) Development and sales of properties (revenue
recognised at a point in time) (continued)

The Group applies the practical expedient for
advance payment received from customers, given
that if the corresponding performance obligation is
expected to satisfy within 12 months after receiving
the advance payment, (i.e. when the control of the
completed property is transferred to the customer
within 12 months), the financing component
is considered insignificant and the amounts of
consideration, contract liability and revenue are not
adjusted for the effects of any time value of money.

The Group considers the advance payment from
customers contain significant financing component
and accordingly the amount of consideration is
adjusted for the effects of the time value of money
taking into consideration the credit characteristics
of the Group. As this accrual increases the
amount of the contract liability during the period of
construction, it increases the amount of revenue
recognised when control of the completed property
is transferred to the customer.

(ii) Property management (revenue recognised
over time)

For contracts entered into with customers on
property management services, it is considered as
monthly services provided to tenants and owners
of properties and the performance obligations are
fulfiled on a straight-line basis over the contracts
terms.

HMAMEEEER AT 2024F Fi#

2. EBEASHBEHEE®)

REEFEHOWE(E)

(i)

(ii)

BREREEYR (R —EFHER
Wzt ) (#&)

REBEBRE P W TE N &M
AITHRE DL » B2 MARREE 4
B AETE R WERFE A SRR A 51 21
ARZER - BB R T YR a0l
RI2EARBETES  MEE
AR ERBMTRE - BT
ERETHHENTEARAES
B amaEkKEs -

REBRAKRBEEP BB KEK
BEAMBMEARD D - BRIIASE
ENEERE e EeKEE
VR ERABRNRESE - ARULES
FIBEMNEEHAEANENEE
SR MREED R T YENES
BTEPHMERANKESETE
N o

YWREE (RERF B R W)

=

LREFRIMEEERSB A LM
C BARIERA P R R AR
HEARE  BHEEERAHOH
NIR B AR EEETT ©

/]

h[ll3



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

A contract liability, such as advance payment received
from customers represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs
that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer
that it would not have incurred if the contract had not
been obtained.

The Group recognises such costs (sales commissions) as
an asset if it expects to recover these costs. The asset so
recognised is subsequently amortised to profit or loss on
a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to
the customer of the goods or services to which the assets
relate.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing all
incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs would
otherwise have been fully amortised to profit or loss within
one year.

Revenue from other source

Rental income of property leasing under operating leases is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis
using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16, the Group assesses whether
a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will
not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of
the contract are subsequently changed. As a practical
expedient, leases with similar characteristics are
accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably
expects that the effects on the consolidated financial
statements would not differ materially from individual
leases within the portfolio.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-
alone price of the non-lease components.

Non-lease components are separated from lease
component on the basis of their relative stand-alone
prices.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of land and building that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis
or another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group

in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those
costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Except for those that are classified as investment
properties and measured under fair value model, right-of-
use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

A Ny =]

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Right-of-use assets (continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet
the definition of investment property, properties under
development or completed properties held for sale as
a separate line item on the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as
at the commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option
to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use

assets) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

° the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent review/
expected payment under a guaranteed residual
value, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease

payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item

on the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term except for investment properties measured

under fair value model.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s

ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined.
When a fair value gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is also recognised in profit or loss.
When a fair value gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any exchange
component of that gain or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise, except for exchange differences on
monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign
operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely
to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in
the foreign operation), which are recognized initially in
other comprehensive income and reclassified from equity
to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the
Group’s interests in associates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

A Ny =]

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. Renminbi) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and
expenses items are translated at the average exchange
rates for the period. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of currency
translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests
as appropriate).

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after
the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool for calculation
of capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages, salaries, annual leaves and sick leaves)
after deducting any amount already paid.

Defined contribution plans

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations of the
PRC, the Group participates in a defined contribution
basic pension insurance in the social insurance system
established and managed by government organisations.
The Group makes contributions to basic pension
insurance plans based on the applicable benchmarks
and rates stipulated by the government. Basic pension
insurance contributions are recognised as part of the
cost of assets or charged to profit or loss as the related
services are rendered by the employees.

The Group also participates in a pension scheme under
the rules and regulations of the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme Ordinance (the “MPF Scheme”) for all employees
in Hong Kong, which is a defined contribution retirement
scheme. The contributions to the MPF Scheme are based
on minimum statutory contribution requirement of 5% of
eligible employees’ relevant aggregate income. The assets
of this pension scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in independently administered funds.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

A Ny =]

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit/loss before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit and at the time of the
transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

HMAMEEEER AT 2024F Fi#

BEASTTHEHME®)

BiE

FriSfiM T e AR ENEERE 2
4EFN o

BRENRBEDIREANRREENFE
R A B B AR N, B E AR - Ty
HRATE T EEEREMFREERT LN
B2 WAL - AR NERT K
AR CER - AEEDRREHUREE
THEREBTZHERAENRHREZE

f& °

BREBRBIRGAMBRRTEERAR
2 BRE{E AR A E R RO A AR R E
ZEREZEMER - BTERBREGE MR
ERANEREZHER - RENAEE—
RRELPTA R HIR . B R - AER
75t M R S AT HURUET B 2 R B IR o i
RRGPERER(REBEHINEER
BEMEECERER I ERATIEN
Reastaf kN BT eELERER
BMEAIRERSZE - ARFREEHAE
ENBENTHER - I FEREEA
MEERABEBEL  MREREBAGELT
FERR. o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

'L'
A

BIBHRREE

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Taxation (continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment property over time, rather than through sale,
except for freehold land, which is always presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the
Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities
on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises
from the initial accounting for a business combination, the
tax effect is included in the accounting for the business
combination.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments,
the Group considers whether it is probable that the
relevant tax authority will accept the uncertain tax
treatment used, or proposed to be used by individual
group entities in their income tax filings. If it is probable,
the current and deferred taxes are determined consistently
with the tax treatment in the income tax filings. If it is not
probable that the relevant taxation authority will accept
an uncertain tax treatment, the effect of each uncertainty
is reflected by using either the most likely amount or the
expected value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes. Plant and equipment are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual value over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual value and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line
basis at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold improvements 20%
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 10-33.33%
Motor vehicles 20%

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement
of an item of plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Golf club membership

Golf club membership is stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate the cost of membership over the estimated
useful live, which is 8 years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

A Ny =]

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation. Investment properties also
include leased properties which are being recognised as
right-of-use assets and subleased by the Group under
operating leases. Investment properties are initially
measured at cost, including any directly attributable
expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at fair value, adjusted to exclude
any prepaid or accrued operating lease income. Gains or
losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in
which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are
expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the
period in which the property is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment on plant and equipment, intangible
assets and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its plant and equipment and right of
use assets to determine whether there is any indication
that these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of plant and equipment,
intangible assets and right-of-use assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication
that corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication
exists, corporate assets are also allocated to individual
cash-generating units, when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can
be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

w3

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment on plant and equipment, intangible
assets and right-of-use assets (continued)

For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares
the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of
cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of the
group of cash-generating units.

In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit or the group of cash-generating
units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced
below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognized for the asset (or a cash-
generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Properties under development and completed
properties held for sale

Properties under development which are intended to be
sold upon completion of development and properties for
sale are classified as current assets. Properties under
development/completed properties for sale are carried
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
determined on a specific identification basis including
allocation of the related development expenditure incurred
and where appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
the properties less estimated cost to completion and costs
necessary to make the sales. Costs necessary to make
the sale include incremental costs directly attributable to
the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must
incur to make the sale.

Properties under development for sale are transferred to
completed properties for sale upon completion.

The Group transfers a property from completed properties
held for sale to investment property when there is a
change in use to hold the property to earn rentals or/and
for capital appreciation rather than for sale in the ordinary
course of business, which is evidenced by the inception
of an operating lease to another party. Any difference
between the fair value of the property at the date of
transfer and its previous carrying amount is recognised in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

A Ny =]

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows
(where the effect of the time value of money is material).

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected to
be met by other parties is treated as a contingent liability
and it is not recognized in the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has
become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow
of future economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision is
recognized in the consolidated financial statements in the
reporting period in which the change in probability occurs,
except in the extremely rare circumstances where no
reliable estimate can be made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances that are
subject to regulatory restrictions that result in such
balances no longer meeting the definition of cash;
and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than
for investment or other purposes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

A Ny =]

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially measured
in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities
at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial asset
the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised
by an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS
3 Business Combination applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRARE

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and debt
instruments/receivables subsequently measured
at FVTOCI. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired. For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit
risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)

(if) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised
in OCI and accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve and
are not subject to impairment assessment. The
cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to
profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments,
and will be transferred to accumulated losses.

Dividends from these investments in equity
instruments are recognised in profit or loss when
the Group’s right to receive the dividends is
established, unless the dividends clearly represent
a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Dividends are included in the other revenue in profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

'L'
A

BIBHRREE

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
(including trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables, restricted bank deposits and cash and cash
equivalent) which are subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well
as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on trade receivables assessed
collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of
a default occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

° an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at
the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of
default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the
near term and iii) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may, but will
not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The
Group considers a debt instrument to have low
credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per globally
understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and revises
them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

BEASTHEME®)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or

more events that have a detrimental impact on the

estimated future cash flows of that financial asset

have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is

credit-impaired includes observable data about the

following events:

(@)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted
to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(ii)

(iv)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collateral held by
the Group).

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the
case of trade receivables, when the amounts are
over one year past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

BEASTHEME®)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as
the weights. The Group uses a practical expedient
in estimating ECL on trade receivables using a
provision matrix taking into consideration historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or
cater for cases where evidence at the individual
instrument level may not yet be available, the
financial instruments are grouped by aging basis.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

A Ny =]

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument
classified as at FVTOCI upon application of HKFRS 9,
the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the
FVTOCI reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
which the Group has elected on initial recognition to
designate the investment as at FVTOCI at the date of
initial application of HKFRS 9 or on initial recognition of
the investment, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve is not reclassified to
profit or loss, but is transferred to accumulated losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the

substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or at
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade payables, accruals and
other payables are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

A Ny =]

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payments when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contract
liabilities are measured initially at their fair values. It is
subsequently measured at the higher of:

° the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

° the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised
over the guarantee period.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, borrowings are stated at amortised cost with
any difference between the amount initially recognised and
redemption value being recognised in profit or loss over
the period of the borrowings, together with any interest
and fees payable, using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled
or have expired. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)

or

the party is a person or a close member of that

person’s family and that person

(i)

(i

(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)

(if)

(ii)

(iv)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others);

one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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B 5 R 2k M R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(o)

(continued)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity); and

The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those

family members who may be expected to influence,

or be influenced by, that person in their dealings

with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2024 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-
current and related
amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants
Amendments to HKAS 7

and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance
Arrangements

The application of amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years
and/or the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

The Group has not applied any new standard, amendment
or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

A Ny =]

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

3.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to Lack of Exchangeability!
HKAS 21

Amendments to Classification and Measurement
HKFRS 9 and of Financial Instruments?
HKFRS 7

Annual Improvements  Accounting Standards —
to HKFRS Volume 112

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in

Financial Statements®

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2026

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all new and amendments to HKFRSs will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4.

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in Note 2, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from
those involving estimations (see below), that the directors
of the Company have made in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

(i)

(ii)

Income taxes and deferred taxation

Some subsidiaries of the Group are operating in
the PRC and are subject to income tax in the PRC.
Significant judgement is required in determining
the provision for income tax. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such difference will impact
the income tax and deferred tax provision in the
period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when
management considers to be probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised.
The outcome of their actual utilisation may be
different.

PRC land appreciation taxes

Some subsidiaries of the Group are subject to
land appreciation taxes in the PRC. However, the
implementation and settlement of these taxes varies
among different tax jurisdictions in various cities of
the PRC, and those subsidiaries have not finalised
all of their land appreciation taxes calculation and
payments with any local tax authorities in the PRC.
Accordingly, significant judgement is required in
determining the amount of the land appreciation
taxes. The Group recognised these land
appreciation taxes based on management’s best
estimates according to the interpretation of the tax
rules. The final tax outcome could be different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, and these
differences will impact the income tax and tax
provisions in the periods in which such taxes have
been finalised with local tax authorities.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

R A=) S E N R N

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising
from investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model, the directors of the
Company have reviewed the Group’s investment
property portfolios and concluded that the Group’s
investment properties in the PRC are held under
a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied
in the investment properties over time. As a result,
the Group is subject to income taxes on the rental
income of its investment properties in the PRC
and deferred taxes on changes in fair value of the
investment properties are recognised.

Estimates for net realisable value of properties
under development and completed properties
held for sale

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying
amounts of properties under development
and completed properties held for sale for the
Group are approximately RMB345,517,000
(20283: approximately RMB438,000,000) and
approximately RMB1,537,382,000 (2023:
approximately RMB1,745,582,000), respectively
and the completed properties held for sale by
the associate is approximately RMB164,808,000
(2023: RMB175,091,000). During the year ended
31 December 2024, an amount of RMB48,255,000
(2023: RMB24,271,000) impairment loss was
made for properties under development and
RMB21,206,000 (2023: RMB73,835,000)
impairment loss was made for completed
properties held for sale. The Group assesses the
carrying amounts of properties under development
and completed properties held for sale according to
their net realisable value based on the realisability of
these properties. Net realisable value for properties
under development is determined by reference to
management’s estimates of the selling price based
on prevailing market conditions, less applicable
variable selling expenses and the anticipated
costs to completion (including land costs). Net
realisable value for completed properties held for
sale is determined by reference to management’s
estimates of the selling price based on prevailing
market conditions, less applicable variable selling
expenses.
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(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(continued)

(v)

Estimation of fair value of investment
properties

The best evidence of fair value is current prices
in an active market for the properties with similar
lease and other contracts. In the absence of such
information, the Group determines the amount
within a range of reasonable fair value estimates.
In making its judgement, the Group considers
information from a variety of sources including:

(i) current prices in an active market for
properties of different nature, condition or
location (or subject to different lease or
other contracts), adjusted to reflect those
differences; and

(if) recent prices of similar properties in less
active markets, with adjustments to reflect
any changes in economic conditions since
the date of the transactions that occurred at
those prices; and

(iii) discounted cash flow projections based
on reliable estimates of future cash flows,
derived from the terms of any existing lease
and other contracts and (where possible)
from external evidence such as current
market rents for similar properties in the
same location and condition, and using
capitalisation rates that reflect current
market assessments of the uncertainty in the
amount and timing of the cash flows.

The Group assesses the fair value of its investment
properties based on valuations determined by
independent and professional qualified valuer.

The fair value losses from investment properties are
disclosed in Note 13.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

R A=) S E N R N

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(continued)

(vi)

Recognition and allocation of construction
cost on properties under development

Development costs of properties are recorded
as properties under development during the
construction stage and will be transferred
to completed properties held for sale upon
completion. Apportionment of these costs will be
recognised in the profit or loss upon the recognition
of the sale of the properties. Before the final
settlement of the development costs and other
costs relating to the sale of properties, these costs
are accrued by the Group based on management’s
best estimate.

When developing properties, the Group may divide
the development projects into phases. Specific
costs directly related to the development of a
phase are recorded as the cost of such phase.
Costs that are common to phases are allocated to
individual phases based on the estimated saleable
area of the entire project.

When the final settlement of costs and the related
cost allocation is different from the initial estimates,
any increase or decrease in the development costs
and other costs would affect the profit or loss in
future years.

E R ()

RS E RBRE)

(vi)

BRERDEZRRTYEZEELL

MEZFHABERANZERNCES
BRPYE  URRTRERDR
EHEZDRIME - RFEXNEZ
DEFDNIERHEYXEFNIRE
FER o MEEA R — MM EKA R
EIHEYERERZ EMRAR - L
ARABAEERIBEIEE 2 RIE
BaT T ARG -

AEERNBERYMERASEREAR
DHIETT c ERBEHRX —HHH
ZHEMALER DL AR - %
EERBLR 2 RAREEEERR
ZfhE A SHE E A ) BC £ {E B 3 R

i B & — BB PR 2 500R R A8 RE
RAD BB EEBMRAR - %
RARARREMRAZIBRE T ER
KREK 21828
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

g A

A Ny =]

P RS E Ik

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(continued)

(vii)

Revenue recognition from sales of properties
with no alternative use at a point in time

Under HKFRS 15, control of the asset is transferred
over time when the Group’s performance does not
create an asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date at all times
during the contract period. Significant judgment is
required in determining whether in the customary
practice such right to payment is enforceable in
the Group’s ordinary course of business in selling
properties in the PRC. The Group has based on the
terms of the contract and considered the relevant
local laws and the customary practice that apply
to those relevant contracts and an opinion from
the Group’s internal legal counsel. Based on the
assessment by the Group’s management, the
terms of the relevant sales contracts do not create
an enforceable right to payment for the Group at all
times during the contract period. Accordingly, the
sales of properties is considered to be performance
obligation satisfied at a point in time.

HMAMEEEER AT 2024F Fi#
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(vii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

5. W@ERDHEHR

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT

INFORMATION
(a) Revenue (a) W=
The Group’s principal activities are disclosed in REEBFEZXBRERZERE
Note 1 to these consolidated financial statements. TR - REZFEKZ
Turnover of the Group is the revenue from those W MBI AEBEEE - RARF
activities. Set out below is the reconciliation of the B B BB R T I BR RIE R
revenue from contracts with customers with the HIRFHINWT -
amounts disclosed in the segment information:
Disaggregation of revenue Waz 5
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with REZEMIRBRESNEFE
customers by major products or service lines is as B D FETIAT -
follows:
2024 2023
—ECNE 2 —E-=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FIT AREFT
Revenue from contracts with REEFEHNE
customers within the scope of (BEBUEREER
HKFRS 15 E1555EER)
Disaggregated by major products or BRIEERIRE
service fees ERED
Sales of properties SHE W% 259,026 743,852
Properties management fees YEERE 12,042 10,689
271,068 754,541
Gross rental income from investment REYE B WABE
properties (outside the scope of (TEBREBTBRE
HKFRS 15) — Lease payments that are AERE155RBERN) —
fixed EEHE R 13,505 12,191
Total st 284,573 766,732

The Group has applied the practical expedient
in paragraph 121(a) of HKFRS 15 to its sales
contracts such that the above information does not
include information about revenue that the group
will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining
performance obligations that had an original
expected duration of one year or less.

AEBEREBEESNERET SN
HHEERE1SHEFE121(BEFH
ERAITAHE At EERTE
EEBERETRERAAE—FIA
THRTEANEERGEREEFHK
BN EEER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AN
A

P RS E Ik

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5. WHERITEHER®
INFORMATION (continued)
(b) Segment reporting (b) AHBWE
The Group is organised into three (2023: three) AEBRI=Z@(ZTE=_=ZF: =
business units, based on which information is ) ¥EBEMN - TAELRERSE
prepared and reported to the Group’s chief LM RBEMREBENRER B
decision makers, for the purposes of resource ERNRAASEEERRARSE ©
allocation and assessment of performance.
Information of the Group’s operating and reportable REBE s EERARES B ER
segments are shown as follows: HIREAT -
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_Z-_W&+-A=+—H1
FE
Property Property Property
development investment management Total
WERR NERE MEER @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTLT  AREFT  AREFT  ARETZ
Reportable segment revenue T #4545 Bz
Revenue Wrzz 259,026 13,505 12,042 284,573
Timing of revenue recognition B& i | %E
for those within the scope  £155% s EAKA
of HKFRS 15 AR
A point in time o i 259,026 - - 259,026
Over time s B - - 12,042 12,042
Revenue from other source  H {13 F %
Rental income HelA - 13,505 - 13,505
Total Mt 259,026 13,505 12,042 284,573
Reportable segment (loss)/  AR&EL 2 (EE) /HF
profit (39,371) (41,678) 3,188 (77,861)
Share of result of an associate 2 fE—EE A A AIEE (5,275)
Finance costs BEKAK (4,238)
Income tax expenses FIERHY (142)
Unallocated expenses RAEFX (55,563)
Unallocated income AABMA 4,564
Loss for the year EEER (138,515)
Reportable segment assets AREDHEE 2,040,460 458,737 2,743 2,501,940
Corporate assets NABE 195,412
Group assets KEEE 2,697,352
Reportable segment liabilities ~ A[ & D& E 633,168 41,873 1,797 676,838
Corporate liabilities NAlAE 522,443
Group liabilities £EAEE 1,199,281

142 R ESEBRA T 2024F F#H



5.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 A P R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT

INFORMATION (continued)

(b)

VAN
2 Ny =]

5. WHERDIHERE G

Segment reporting (continued) (b) DWHEE)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—_Z-_=—F+-_A=+—H1t
FE
Property Property Property
development investment  management Total
MEER MERE MEER Bar
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT  AREFT  AREFT  ARETT
Reportable segment revenue T4 4 Bz
Revenue Wz 743,852 12,191 10,689 766,732
Timing of revenue recognition B% &I B|E%EH

for those within the scope  F15%EEAKA

of HKFRS 15 MR RE
A point in time —{ERS B 743,852 - - 743,852
Over time BERs ] - - 10,689 10,689
Revenue from other source A1 3R %

Rental income EEALON - 12,191 - 12,191
Total st 743,852 12,191 10,689 766,732
Reportable segment profit/ &2 EEA,/ (FE)

(loss) 62,803 (46,492) 72 16,383
Share of result of an associate D15 —HE#E N F £ 42,415
Finance costs BAKE (22,326)
Income tax expenses TSRy (40,557)
Unallocated expenses RAEHEX (33,719)
Unallocated income N 4,028
Loss for the year EEFRE (33,776)
Reportable segment assets AmESHEE 2,315,520 504,782 1,205 2,821,507
Corporate assets NEEE 327,203
Group assets SEEE 3,148,710
Reportable segment liabilities ~ AIREDIHEE 779,110 132,218 1,962 913,290
Corporate liabilities NTE=L 599,759
Group liabilities SEEE 1,513,049
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= N H

N =

P RS E Ik

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5. WHERIEEHR
INFORMATION (continued)
(b) Segment reporting (continued) (b) ZDHFHEE)
The measure used for reporting segment profits or MERD I T HBETA G
losses is adjusted (losses)/profits before interest EABRMERBIER 2 &AL (B
and taxes. To arrive at adjusted (losses)/profits, B)/BA - BEBREAR(E
the Group’s (losses)/profits are further adjusted B)/&5H - AEE(BE) 5
for items not specifically attributed to individual TSk ARIEE B NMER o & 2B B
segments, such as share of results of an associate, (BN (REEE N R EE - AR
finance costs, income tax expenses, and other R FTS R LA R B A R 5 BR Uk
unallocated income and corporate administration AR RBIITEAA) tEH #E— 205
costs. o
Segment assets consist primarily of investment NHEETEBREEME BT
properties, certain plant and equipment, right-of- MEREE - ERAEEE - EJHE\
use assets, certain prepayments, deposits and NFIE - e REMERERR
other receivables, properties under development, BHMmE  BEHEZD E}EI?@)
completed properties held for sales, trade ¥ - BRI - LR HIRITF A
receivables, restricted bank deposits and certain FETRERBSEEY -
cash and cash equivalent.
Segment liabilities consists primarily of trade NHEEFTECRENER BT
payables, certain accruals and other payables, EsrBEAREMEMNERER 688
contract liabilities, lease liabilities and borrowings. & -HEaBERER-
Other segment information for the year ended 31 HE_Z-_WF+-_H=1T—H1t
December 2024 is as follows: FEZHMYIBERLOT :
Property Property Property
development investment management  Unallocated Total
NERE WERE MEER ROE @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFLT  ARETT  ARMFT  ARETT  ARETFR
Other segment Hihp e
information:
Addition to non-current E£R3EREH ¥
segment assets BEME
during the year 6,133 - - - 6,133
Impairment loss of ~ EMEF ZRE
trade receivables B = (967) = = (967)
Depreciation and TEREH
amortisation (5,677) - - (921) (6,598)
Fair value changes ~ BREMEATE
on investment &
properties - (51,700) - - (51,700)
Impairment loss of ~ EEFWER
properties under FIEHEZ
development BETIHE
and completed REERE
properties held for
sale (69,461) - - - (69,461)

HMAMEEEER AT 2024F Fi#



5.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Gy

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5.
INFORMATION (continued)

(b)

Segment reporting (continued)

Other segment information for the year ended 31

Wk o EER

(b) ZEEHE(E)
BE_Z_=Ft+-A=t—HLt

December 2023 is as follows: FR2HEMPHERDT :
Property Property Property
development investment  management Unallocated Total
NEER NERE WEER ADE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT  ARETT  AREFT  ARETT  ARETFT
Other segment HinEas:
information:
Addition to non- FREREHH
current segment BERNE
assets during
the year 2,593 2,149 - 5,452 10,194
Reversal of expected [EUER N2 B
credit losses for EEEEER
trade receivables - 121 - - 121
Depreciation and TEREE
amortisation (3,935) - - (1,066) (5,001)
Fair value changes Txé%% ~FHE
oninvestment & 25
properties - (54,749) - - (54,749
Impairment loss of ~ EEAYE KiFE
properties under HEZERIY
development FREBE
and completed
properties held for
sale (98,106) - - - (98,106)

Four customers from property development
segment (2023: Nil) individually contributed over
10% of the Group’s total revenue during the year

MEZRSBOHODEEL, (=

—=F: ﬂ)fl?zu/ﬁﬁmﬁléﬁzi
“EWFT A=t HLFE

ended 31 December 2024. LU HIHBIBE10% ©
2024 2023
—EIMFE T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFIT
Customer A ZEA 29,524 -
Customer B =ZFB 29,524 -
Customer C BFEC 29,048 -
Customer D ZFED 28,571 -

All the Group’s revenues from external customers is
derived from the Mainland China.

AEBKBINAER 2 27 EH

KEFEARM
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5. WaEkoHER @
INFORMATION (continued)
(b) Segment reporting (continued) (b) HBIBHEE)
Non-current assets of the Group are divided into REEZIERBEES BATH
the following geographical areas: .

2024 2023
—EZOE T4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFIT AREFIT

Hong Kong (domicile) (note) BE(EBHREH) (i) 643 1,087
Mainland China [ A3, 593,645 752,071
594,288 753,158
note: The place of domicile is determined based on the Biat . EBAERDRIBERREEE
location of central management. FITEMIEETE ©
The geographical location of customers is based HPAEM I NREREXHEE
on the location at which the services were provided K/ ok B W) 3 BT A Bh A B o
or the location of properties sold and/or leased IRBEERR —MEBER T2 #
out. The geographical locations of the non-current AT D RIAEE 2 B2
assets and interests in an associate are based on REGE N R E Xt AR
the physical location of the assets and location of £ o

operation of the associate respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 A P R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

OTHER REVENUE

PN
2 Ny =]

6. Hittlrz

2024 2023
—EomE —FT-—fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTT AREFIT
Interest income on financial assets carried at ~ IZE K AARZ SRIEE 2
amortised costs B A 2,254 3,616
Interest income on loan to an associate BT —EBERFTERZAE
WA 28 104
Management fee income from an associate RE—HBERARICERE
A 8 33
Gain from settlement of construction cost LAY R B EE N A 2 Wz
payables with properties 4,760 -
Others HAh 2,274 275
9,324 4,028
FINANCE COSTS 7. BERK
2024 2023
—EomE —FT-—fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT AREFIT
Interest on secured bank loans BERRBITERZFE 4,122 6,982
Interest on lease liabilities HEBBEZFME 116 311
Interest on other secured loans HEBERERZHE - 15,033
4,238 22,326
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

148

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX

8. PBRBiAI(EE), EF

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FIT ARETFIT
(Loss)/Profit before income tax is arrived at BRETISRLAT(EIE) R FIE
after charging/(crediting): Mk (GTA) -
Amortisation of intangible assets Em B EEEE 390 390
Cost of properties sold BEMERR 216,689 557,132
Cost of service for property management ) EERL T N 8,849 10,243
Impairment loss/(reversal) of expected credit  FEWBRZXFEHZ B EIBRE
losses of trade receivables &8 (#E) 967 (121)
Tax and other levies HMEREMBE 4,937 8,146
Depreciation of plant and equipment (note (a)) = N R EITE (K7t (a)) 4,453 2,857
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note (a)) FREEENE (Mt @) 1,755 1,754
Auditors’ remuneration Z SN BN &
— Audit services — iR 784 772
— Non-audit services — IEEETARTE 184 325
Impairment loss of properties under ERPMEZREEE
development 48,255 24,271
Impairment loss of completed properties held  #H{EHEZ 2B T Y 2 RE
for sale BB 21,206 73,835
Rental income from investment properties less &M ER LW AR BEERX
direct outgoings (note (b)) (Bi&tm)) (11,074) (9,694)
notes: Kiat -
(a) Depreciation expenses (a) ERX
Depreciation expenses of approximately RMB6,208,000 &R X # A R #6,208,0007T (=&
(2023: approximately RMB4,611,000) have been included Z=%F: HHARH4,611,0007T) EFFA
in administrative expenses. THER -
(b) Rental income from investment properties (b) BEMERSWA

Direct outgoings incurred for rental income from investment
properties amounted to approximately RMB2,431,000

(2023: RMB2,497,000).

HMAMEEEER AT 2024F Fi#

#2 497,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’

BERANBAX(BEESHMH)

EMOLUMENTS)
2024 2023
=B-mFE —To=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT AREFIT
Wages and salaries TERF® 16,453 15,680
Pension costs — defined contribution plans RKE AN — FRE T E 909 839
17,362 16,519

The PRC Operating Entities participate in defined
contribution retirement benefit schemes (the “Schemes”)
organised by the PRC municipal and provincial
government authorities, whereby the PRC Operating
Entities are required to make contribution at the rates
required by different local government authorities. The
local government authorities are responsible for the
pension obligations payable to the retired employees
covered under the Schemes. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the Schemes.

Under the PRC Schemes to which the Group’s
subsidiaries operating in the PRC are required to make
contribution, forfeited contributions cannot be used by the
employers to reduce the existing level of contributions. For
the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, there was
no forfeited contribution available to reduce existing level
of contributions payable in the future years.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a
defined contribution retirement plan administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the
employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

TEZEER2EATEHRRERBUT
14 8 4B A B TE RO BUR R AR AR &) (TR
) BuPR2ERRARRTRMLT
TR B 22 SR 0 LE U4 5K o 3005 U
WA ERMN2EENERE THRIK
TR - PREA R E B R
HRBBRmKR PR

RIS EPN R EEENN B AR EELR
MR BIEE - BETEEADZIMH
PR A IRBEFIOKTE - HEZT ZUF

TE-=F+-A=t+-—HIFE I
B2 WA FRAT OB A R R R RN ER AR K
T2 K o

AEBTREF ARG RES S ENRD
AREEBREBHIINFIEAEBEEAN
BEEF-—BRFHELAESHE(BES
&) - AT EI A HEBILEEA
BENTEEFTENRE - RIZAESS
2 EXRHEBZBEARESHBEKA
H6% T EI MK - & AMRBKALRS
30,0007 7T ° M 81 fF i 2 5K A B 5B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 10. EEMERSREEAETHMH
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS
10.1 Directors’ emoluments 101 EEME
Executive directors, non-executive director and HITESE ERTEE LB IR
independent non-executive directors: TEE
2024 —E-ME
Salaries, Contribution
allowances & to defined
Directors’ benefitsin  Discretionary contribution
fees kind bonus plan Total
e 28 EEER
EZhe RENHE MiERA AR @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AERFR ARE TR ARRFR ARRFR ARKFR

Executive directors YTES

Mr. Zhang Gao Bin REELE - 3,187 - 17 3,204
Mr. Luo Zhangguan BEBEE - 567 - 47 614
Non-executive director ¥#TES
Ms. Zhou Hanlu ARExL

(appointed on (R=Z-m#

9 December 2024) +=ANE

Bzf) - 10 - 2 12

Independent BUHTES

non-executive

directors
Mr. Lo Wai Hung BRIEEE 244 - - - 244
Mr. Fok Chi Tat, Michael E&#%4E 210 - - - 210
Mr. Mak Yiu Tong RRREHE 210 - - - 210

664 3,764 - 66 4,494
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R M

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 10. ESHEREREEASTHMH
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S (#8)
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
10.1 Directors’ emoluments (continued) 101 EEME(H)
2023 T F
Salaries, Contribution
allowances & to defined
Directors’ benefits in Discretionary contribution
fees kind bonus plan Total
e Eh TR
EELE REWNE BT B @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ANRETT ARETFT ANEETFT ANEETT
Executive directors ~ #{TES
Mr. Zhang Gao Bin REELE - 3,124 - 16 3,140
Mr. Luo Zhangguan BEREE - 564 - 48 612
Independent BUFHTES
non-executive
directors
Mr. Lo Wai Hung BEELE 239 - - - 239
Mr. Fok Chi Tat, Michael EZEx4E 206 - - - 206
Mr. Mak Yiu Tong FRREE 206 - - - 206
651 3,688 - 64 4,403

There were no arrangements under which a director

waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the year (2023: Nil).

The executive directors’ and non-executive

director’'s emoluments shown above were paid for

their services in connection with the management

of the affairs of the Company and the Group. The

emoluments of the Independent Non- executive

Directors shown above were paid for their services

as Directors of the Company.

EEENFABMBFELREXR
EHELTAME 2 25

FE) -

EXFIIMRITESRIFRTES
e RESHEBARFRRAE
B EBERR R M - £
PR BI SEATEEMS - IR

— - =

=

BREREARBEEM AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 10. EEMERSREEASHMH

AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S (&)

EMOLUMENTS (continued)

10.2 Five highest paid individuals 10.2 AEBERSHFAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the REBFANREERSTALTEEM
highest in the Group for the year included two H(ZEZ=ZF MRBIES ' FE
(2023: two) directors whose emoluments are ZHEERME1012F 25T A
reflected in the analysis presented in Note 10.1. R Ep=—R(ZT_=F: =
The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the BIANTERAZMSBEOT -

other three (2023: three) individuals during the year
are as follows:

2024 2023
—EZOE T4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFIT AREFIT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ~ ¥& -~ 2R EWHIZE 2,078 2,056
Retirement scheme contributions BRIREFTEIH R 71 69

2,149 2,125
The emoluments fell within the following bands: ZEMEBR THIAR

Number of individuals
EE A"
2024 2023
ZEDNE T -=F

Emolument bands B < 48 Bl
RMB1,000,001-RMB1,500,000 AR¥1,000,001 L&

AR #1,500,0007T 1 1
RMBO0-RMB500,000 ARBOTLE

AR #500,0007T 2 2
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11.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R M

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

11. ISHMAX

2024 2023
—E-UE —E =%
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥BFIT AREFIT
Current tax BRERB 18
The PRC — Enterprise Income Tax R —EFTER
— Tax for the year —ARFEHIE 12,789 19,083
— Under-provision in respect of prior years —BEFERETR 42 -
12,831 19,083
The PRC — Land Appreciation Tax B — LIS ER
— Current year —RFE 4,467 37,448
The PRC — Withholding Tax A — TR
— Current year —KFE 3,717 -
Deferred tax (Note 29) EEBE(H77129)
— Credit for the year —REFEEED (20,873) (15,974)
Total income tax expense et 8% 142 40,557
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= N H

N =

P RS E Ik

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

11.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Reconciliation between tax expenses and accounting

11. FISHBAXZ@)
FRIAR X B @A =T

Hastarzy

profit at applicable tax rates: B
2024 2023
—ECmE —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FIT AREFT
(Loss)/Profit before taxation iR (E18), 5 A (138,373) 6,781
Income tax at the PRC income tax rate of 25% 1ZFRBIFTBRHER25%1E 2
155 (34,593) 1,695
Tax effect of different taxation rates in other H B el A= R TR E 2
tax jurisdictions Mg E 492 478
Under-provision in respect of prior years BEFERETR 42 -
Tax effect of non-taxable revenue DA WS 2 RS & (8) (156)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TRAHIR S 2 I & 6,422 2,230
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences FERATHIRERERE 2
not recognised Mg & 17,596 24,527
Tax effect of reversal of unrecognised BOARBRAINRERER Y
deductible temporary differences M2 - (6,750)
Tax effect of prior year’s unrecognised tax FRFERBEFERERHE
losses utilised this year R Mg E = (2,750
Tax effect of unused tax losses not RERREATIEEE 2
recognised Mg E 1,805 2,221
Tax effect of share of result of an associate DE—HEEERAREE L
MBTE 1,319 (10,604)
PRC land appreciation tax B+ I 4,467 37,448
Effect of PRC land appreciation tax PR IR ER R (1,117) (9,362)
Effect of withholding tax FEMB 2 & 3,717 1,680
Income tax expense PG TR < 142 40,557
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11.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017
(the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018
and was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of
profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%,
and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The
profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat
rate of 16.5%.

The directors of the Company considered the amount
involved upon implementation of the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime as insignificant to the consolidated financial
statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5%
of the estimated assessable profit for both years.

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of
operations in Mainland China has been calculated at the
rate of 25% (2023: 25%) on the estimated assessable
profits for the year, based on the existing legislation,
interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

PRC land appreciation tax is levied at progressive rate
ranging from 30% to 60% (2023: 30% to 60%) on the
appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of sales of
properties less deductible expenditures including lease
charges of land use rights and all properties development
expenditures.

11.

EBRBAXZ @

T N\E=A-+—0 BEIEE
BBt ERBUET) (BLH) &
FIERYTEFAER]) - 3| AFIEH MK
o EHIEER-E—\E=ZA -+ /A
BICERLRR A TIE - FIEH MRS
F AR IGENEEEEERNE
B 7T 00 % T 5 128.25% K B KM - 43
B 7 7D R RIS 12 16.5% M B = 4
B o AEAFBHBREENEEEE
BB FI16.5%H B —BLE o

RARIEERRBATHET MBS R
BUAGE M BHRERFPALTERKR - HEFE
T Ty AR IR M B 5F J2 2 i 51 P AR 0 i K1) 39 4%
16.5% MR EFTH -

NS Bt R B b EEFS VE I 2 PSR B
TR AR FEEETERMER - EHAE
Bl - ZEREGERE TIRBN(ZETE ==
& 25%)FHERE -

PR IR ERRE L EE R (A
HEMERSRERUIBAS (B2IEL
WMEREHREERUALTEMERRES
IR 2ERFRERI0%EC0%( T - =4F :
30%ZE60% ) UL -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRARE

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

12. LOSS PER SHARE 12.
Basic loss per share

The calculation of loss per share is based on the
loss attributable to the owners of the Company of
approximately RMB138,515,000 (2023: RMB33,776,000)
and on the weighted average of 514,656,827 (2023:
514,656,827) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share

There was no difference between basic and diluted loss
per share as the Company did not have any dilutive
potential shares outstanding during the year ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

BRER

BREXEE
FREEBIRERNDREE AELEIRY
AR#138,515,0000c( ZF =—=F : AR
#33,776,00070) R FABEBITEBR 2
DI E514,656,827 (2 - =% :
514,656,827 )5t & -

BEREEES
BE_Z_NMFR-_ZFT-_=ZF+=-A4
Zt+—BLFE ARARARETEE
FERTEINNEER G - SREARKEE
EiElmER o

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. BEWE
2024 2023
—EoNE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AEETT
At 1 January ®n—HA—H 500,100 552,700
Additions NE - 2,149
Decrease in fair value NE R D (51,700) (54,749)
At 31 December R+t-—A=+—H 448,400 500,100
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13.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The analysis of the net carrying amount of investment
properties according to lease periods as at 31 December
were as follows:

BEWME®)
REWER+ - A=+ —BRASHIER
SEEAWHMT -

2024 2023
—ECME T4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥BFIT AREFIT
Outside Hong Kong, held on: REBEINGS -
Lease of between 10 to 50 years HEINT10E50%F 448,400 500,100
The fair value of the investment properties of the Group AREEBZREMEN_ZT - E&f 23

as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were assessed by B.l.
Appraisals Limited, an independent qualified valuer. B.I.
Appraisals Limited is a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Surveyors. For financial reporting purpose, discussions
and review of valuation processes and results are held
amongst the Group’s senior management and officers
of relevant operation departments and the independent
professional valuer. The results are being directly reported
back to the executive directors of the Company.

The valuation for investment properties was arrived at
by considering the capitalised income derived from the
existing tenancies and the reversionary potential of the
properties or, where appropriate by reference to market
evidence of transaction prices for similar properties in
similar locations and conditions.

Majority investment properties of the Group are leased
to third parties under operating leases, further summary
details of which are included in Note 33.

—=%+-HA=+—H Z NTHEEE
ERGEMRABERFGEERA ﬂﬁfﬁ °
REBERFEERARASBENEMES
MKE - RETHBHRE  HERTF RS
RAXAEESRELE LA 2 EPTB
BB ERMEERM ® Mias - HEE
RUVBRAARRNITERER -

KREMEREDEZERAFHANEENER
LA R EEFWAE S (ER) 2
ERUME KRR TREDER S EIRH
TISBEBEMHETT ©

REBRIADILENEIBRIFBLLEHER
MYE=FH BEFB2E—THEHR
MIEER3 ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

A Ny =]

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

13.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

As at 31 December 2024, investment properties of
approximately RMB415,000,000 (2023: RMB458,000,000)
were pledged to banks to secure general banking facilities
granted to a subsidiary of the Group to the extent of
RMB33,256,000 (2023: RMB123,256,000).

The following table presents the Group’s investment
properties measured at fair value in the consolidated
statements of financial position in accordance with the
fair value hierarchy. The fair value hierarchy groups the
investment properties into three levels based on the
relative reliability of significant inputs used in measuring
the fair value of the investment properties. The fair value
hierarchy has the following levels:

- Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets;

- Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset,
and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market
data are not available; and

- Level 3: inputs for the asset that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs).

HMAMEEEER AT 2024F Fi#

13.

REWMZE =)
RZE-_WHF+_A=+—H HAR
#415,000,0007( Z BB - =4F : ARWK
458,000,000 ) Wiz EME D HER TR
17 RS ASE —HNB AR ERZ—
ARIRTTRIE A R#33,256,0000(— T ==
F: AR¥123,256,0007T) °

TREJNAEERBEAFERFNNEER
BARRKBAFEFEZREDE - RE
MERBHEZSREVMEATFEMAE
R AR Z YA SRR A FERR
D= o RHERRNBREATER

- S HREEZIEREMS®RE
(REEHE) -

- B BMAEREMENAI
BEBRMSWARE  LEXA
BEREBLERZ2BABE - B58
RZBWABBELENSEE &

- FZA WIENBEMEHSEE
REZEEWABE(BEIBREZ
wABE) -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A
2 Ny =]

LIPS e

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 13.

The Group’s investment properties stated at fair value in
the consolidated statements of financial position at each

BEWME®)
REREDS  AEBELGSBBRRE
NAFEFIEZZEMED ABUATATLE

reporting date is grouped into the fair value hierarchy as FA -
follows:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£—-& FH E=4 At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ANREFT ARETFT AR¥FT AREFT
Investment properties REBEMNEE
located in Guangzhou,
the PRC
At 31 December 2024 =S E=
—“A=+—8H - - 448,400 448,400
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—& B E=& st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETIT ARETFT ARETT AREFT
Investment properties R BEMN R E Y3
located in Guangzhou,
the PRC
At 31 December 2023 A ——
+ZA=+—H - - 500,100 500,100
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRARE

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

13.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 13. REWF®)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements F=MAFEFEEH

2024 —E-ME

Relationship of
Valuation Unobservable unobservable
techniques input Range inputs to fair value
BLBRY ELBRC W AHER

HERT WARE gE ATENEBR

Investment properties in -~ Market approach - Market rent RMB24-RMB165  The higher the market rent,

Guangzhou, the PRC

investment method

per square meter

the higher the value

REEMIREME mimE—RBE M BEARAR®24E THEEHS  ATEES
AREA1657T
Reversionary vyield 4.5%-8%  The higher the reversionary
yield, the lower the value
BEKEE EREEEXER A TEBE
2023 i
Relationship of
Valuation Unobservable unobservable
techniques input Range inputs to fair value
BrERZ ELERC WA BER
HERD BABE gE DNFENBE
Investment properties in -~ Market approach - Market rent RMB30-RMB190  The higher the market rent,

Guangzhou, the PRC
FRIEMNREYE

investment method

5% —REE

HMAMEEEER AT 2024F Fi#

per square meter
BYRRAREIOTE
ARE1907T
3.3%-7.9%

[iikotikn

Reversionary yield

B

the higher the value
msiels  ATELSR

The higher the reversionary
yield, the lower the value
ERRREZEE A PEBE



13.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

(continued)

The movements during the year in the balance of these
Level 3 fair value measurements are as follows:

PN
2 Ny =]

FA -
T

LIPS e

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

13. REWE (&)
EoMAFESBER ()

E=RATEHEOEBEH

2024 2023
—BomE —ECo=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFIT AREFIT

Investment properties located in Guangzhou,  RAEIEMNEIREWE -

the PRC:

At 1 January n—HA—H 500,100 552,700
Additions NE - 2,149
Decrease in fair value NER D (51,700) (54,749)
At 31 December R+—A=+—H 448,400 500,100

Fair value adjustment of investment properties is
recognised as “fair value changes on investment
properties” on the face of the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

KEMENRNFEABNGEER M EM
PEAMARERZ[IEEYMEZ A TFEEZS)
R o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRARE

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

14. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. BEKRRKE

Furniture,
fixture
Leasehold and office Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
HEMF B #E
®E  RBOERE hat:d Eoh
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEEFT AEEFT ANEETT ANEEFT
Cost BA
At 1 January 2023 R-Z-=F—HF—H 8,717 4,236 15,529 28,482
Exchange realignment B 32 1 3 - 4
Additions NE 1,328 - 2,822 4,145
At 31 December 2023 and RZZ_=F+-A=1+—-H
1 January 2024 FZZ-WFE-A-H 10,041 4,239 18,351 32,631
Exchange realignment B 5 AR 2 5 53 60
Additions RE - - 6,133 6,133
Disposals HeE - - (8,725) (8,725)
At 31 December 2024 R-E-MWF+-A=1+—H 10,043 4,244 15,812 30,099
Deduct: accumulated depreciation i : 2 ERAEFE
and impairment loss
At 1 January 2023 RZZ-=F—-F—H 8,093 3,567 9,004 20,664
Exchange realignment B H R 1 3 - 4
Depreciation e 574 378 1,905 2,857
At 31 December 2023 and RZBZ=+ZA=+—H
1 January 2024 RZZ-ME-A—H 8,668 3,948 10,909 23,525
Exchange realignment B H iR 2 5 24 31
Depreciation e 308 175 3,970 4,453
Eliminated on disposals W E B - - (6,228) (6,228)
At 31 December 2024 R-F-_ME+-_A=1—H 8,978 4,128 8,675 21,781
Net book value REFE
At 31 December 2024 RZBZME+ZA=+—H 1,065 116 7,137 8,318
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+ZA=+—H 1,373 291 7,442 9,106
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

15. FHAEEE

Leased
properties
HEWME
RMB’000
AREFIT
As at 31 December 2024 NR-EBE-_ME+_HA=+—8H
Carrying amount (note (i) BREE (A aE) -
As at 31 December 2023 R-EBE-_=%+=-BA=+—H
Carrying amount (note (i) REE(M ) 1,755
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-—E-_NWfE+-A=+—HLEE
Depreciation charge e (1,755)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-E-=%+=-A=+—HLEE
Depreciation charge TELXH (1,754)
note: Kat -
0] No additions to the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 0] HE-_T-_="FR-_FT-_WMF+=A
during the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2024. —t+—HIEFEHENEFERAREEER
HEaE-
2024 2023
—EBomE T4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FIT AREFIT
Expense relating to short-term leases EHARPHEE X 291 379
Total cash outflow for leases HEZReRLARE 2,431 2,419
The Group has obtained the right to use property as its AEECEBHEERZEIESEAAERD
office through tenancy agreements. The leases typically EUEABEMRANE - ZEHE—RVFL A
run for an initial period of three years and without break- —FRUWERER | 2 PETIEFR -

clause for early termination.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

164

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. B &E
Golf club membership %Wi’iﬁ%%ﬂ%%
2024 2023
ZEDONE T -=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFIT
Cost: RN :
At 1 January m—HA—H 3,900
Addition NE - 3,900
At 31 December nt+t—_A=+—H 3,900 3,900
Accumulated amortisation: Etigy -
At 1 January m—HA—H 390 -
Charge for the year FELH 390 390
At 31 December R+-—A=+—H 780 390
Net book value BREEE
At the end of the year RER 3,120 3,510
17. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE 17. R—EBME QT zER
2024 2023
—EoME —T-=fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FIT AREFIT
Cost of investment adjusted for share of U EE R D REEE A A
result of associate after acquisition FEFHEREIREXAR 234,167 239,440
Less: unrealised profit in associate B REBEE AR 2 RE IR T (717) (759)
Dividend income A& B UA (99,000) -
134,450 238,687

HMAMEEEER AT 2024F Fi#




17.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

17. R—EBE AT ZER )
TEEBRLL DTS A TS

INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)

The following list contains the particulars of the associate

which is a private company:

Proportion of

ownership interest

BRERLA
Held by a
Group’s subsidiary
Country of Paid-in effective  Held by the of the  Principal activities and
Name registration  capital interest ~ Company  Company places of operations
RREZ
F5E LN WEAR
8 EMER BERER ERES &R BE IEEBREERY
Guangzhou Xintian Properties The PRC RMB210,503,607 30% - 30%  Property development in the
Development Limited PRC
(note (i), (i), (iii) & (iv))
BNHAEHERRARAR  $E AE#210,508,6077T RPEHENEER
(B ~ (i) ~ (i) & (iv)
notes: Bat -

(i

(it

(i)

(iv)

The English name of the associate referred in these
consolidated financial statements represent management’s
best effort in translation of the Chinese name of the
associate as no English name has been registered or
available.

The statutory financial statements of the associate are not
audited by CHENG & CHENG LIMITED.

The associate is registered as limited company under the
PRC law.

Guangzhou Xintian Properties Development Limited is
operating in the PRC and is a strategic partner for the
Group in developing the property development business.

(i)

(i

(i)

(iv)

AL EEMKA A 2B - hF
A BMAMRM 2B E AR 2 X
FRREBERNERERERRZP
BT 2 BECERE

A NI by e el =
B ENEBAMERARMEITER °

ZBERRRBETEEZIMAAERR
Gl

A

BMNHREIEERERATRHEZ
B RAEERREHMERERTNE
B EERH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

17. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)  17. R—RIKE QAT 2 &R (@)
Summarised financial information in respect of the BHEBMERF CUBEMNESHINWOT -
associate is set out below. The summarised financial NTHBERRBERER BB RS
information below represents amounts shown in the AIRB B E R R BRERANMIIRZ %
associate’s financial statements prepared in accordance &
with HKFRSs:

Guangzhou Xintian
Properties
Development Limited
EMNFREHERRE
BRAFA
2024 2023
—E-NE 2 —T-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFIT
Current assets (note a) MEVEE (M ita) 411,902 779,616
Non-current assets FERBEE 71 1,116
Current liabilities mENRE 15,077 38,397
Non-current liabilities FRBEAE — -
Equity R 396,896 742,335
Revenue Woas 23,207 65,370
(Loss)/Profit for the year FE(EE),&F (15,439) 149,204
Other comprehensive income Hib2EIRA = -
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 2mE(EI8), /WA LR (15,439) 149,204
Dividend income from the associate (note b) REBE DTS A
(Bi#tb) 99,000 -
Reconcile to the Group’s interests in the  BEAREBETFHE N TEE
associate AR
Gross amounts of net assets of the associate & A G/ FEEBRR 396,896 742,335
Group’s effective interest REBEER#ER 30% 30%
Group’s share of net assets of the associate REFBSEBE AR EEFE 119,070 222,700
Goodwill [k 3,828 3,828
Effect of fair value adjustments at acquisition ~ WHER A FERENZE 12,269 12,912
Less: unrealised profit in associate W B E AR 2 REIR R F (717) (753)
Carrying amount in the consolidated financial ~ R4R& M B HRER M REE
statements 134,450 238,687
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17.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)

notes:

(@)

As at 31 December 2024, the associate had completed
properties held for sale, amounted to RMB164,808,000
(2023: RMB175,091,000), stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy.

Pursuant to an unanimous shareholder resolution
of the associate, the associate declared dividend
of RMB330,000,000. The Company was entitled to
RMB99,000,000 of the dividend. The Company agreed
to forfeit its dividend entitlement of RMB50,500,000 as
a compensation to the controlling shareholder of the
associate who borne project costs more than the amount
as anticipated at the early stage of the cooperation. This
amount is netted-off with the dividend entitled during the
year. Therefore, dividend of RMB48,500,000 was received.

Reconciliation of share of result of an associate is

disclosed below:

(@)

1

17. R—EBE AT ZER )

RZZ-_WFE+—_A=+—8  BEAQ
AMBEHEZERTIMEAARE
164,808,000 C( =B - =4 : AR¥
175,091,00070) * R AL BT
FRIRTEARAF A BB FERE 2 BIK
PN

BIBZBE RN —BMREREE - &
Bt N R 5 R IR B A R # 330,000,000
T ARAARKBREKEBE AR
99,000,0007T ° AR RRAEHREEEI
% B A R #50,500,0007T © 1E A% iz 1
ENARIEIRAR A EE - HAENIER
RABBAENETET&%5E - xemE
FREKAEIRN - FtWEREAR
48,500,000 °

E—EBERAR s EECHEREEN
™

2024 2023

—EBoE —To=4%

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMTFT AREFT

(Loss)/Profit for the year FE(ER) & F (15,439) 149,204

Group’s effective interest REBEERER 30% 30%
Group’s share of (loss)/profit before fair value ~ AREE D {ERHIER A FE

adjustments at acquisition AEF(&EER),aF (4,632) 44,761
Change in effect of fair value adjustments at WA T EARTENE D

acquisition (643) (2,346)

Group’s share of (loss)/profit KREBED L (EER), & F (5,275) 42,415
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

A Ny =]

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

18.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

18. BREPYE

2024 2023

—BomE T -o=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMTFT ARETFT

Properties under development BRPYE 345,517 438,000

All properties under development are located in the PRC.
Land use rights are held on leases over 40 years.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2024, no properties under
development were pledged as collateral for the Group’s
borrowings granted to the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, properties
under development with an amount of RMB19,271,000
(2023: RMB43,570,000) were transferred to completed
properties held for sale.

Amounts of properties under development expected
to be recovered within one year from the end of the
reporting period is approximately RMB2,559,000
(2023: RMB4,664,000) and RMB342,958,000 (20283:
RMB433,336,000) after one year from the end of reporting
period.

As at 31 December 2024, the net realisable value of those
properties under development was found to be lower than
their carrying amount. Therefore, an impairment loss of
RMB48,255,000 (2023: RMB24,271,000) were recorded
for properties under development and included in the
impairment loss of properties under development on the
face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

HMAMEEEER AT 2024F Fi#

PREZERPYEDMRDE - FHLHE
PR RBB40%F -

RIBE_=FR-_F_MF+-_A=+—
B BEEREPYECEMEAREEE
BRER KT -

BHE-_Z-_NFE+-_A=+—BILFEE -
SR ABARK19,271,000 (===
£ AR®43,570,0007T) R R Y%
EEBERMELEZDRIME -

BERAPYETEHRREARET —FAK
BraBERHARKE2559,000T(=F
=% : AR®4,664,000T) + RTEH
R EEHREH —FRKB Z2BAAR
#342 958,000 (Z B =% : AR
433,336,0007T) °

RZE-_NWF+_A=+—8 " &Mz
RERPMENTERFELELE@DE
KAl FERTFMESRGHEEBEA
R¥48,255000L( —ZE-=F : AR
24,271,00070 ) W R bR & 18w KRR E L&
BHRYIZEREBERIE -



19.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR
SALE

19. FFHEZERTYE

2024 2023
—E-NE @ —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTFT ARETFIT
Completed properties held for sale, at cost BIEHLEZERTYE -
29BN 1,537,382 1,745,582

The completed properties held for sale are located in the
PRC. Land use rights are held on leases over 40 years.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2024, no completed
properties held for sale were pledged as collateral for the
Group’s borrowings granted to the Group.

As at 31 December 2024, the net realisable value of those
completed properties held for sale was found to be lower
than their carrying amount. Therefore, an impairment
loss of RMB21,206,000 (2023: RMB73,835,000) were
recorded for completed properties held for sale and
included in the impairment loss of completed properties
held for sale on the face of the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

FHFHEZERIMEIUNFTE - 58
TibfE MENEMBEBA0F -

RIE_=ZFR-_FT_NF+-_A=1+—
B WEFELEZERTEBKERIES
NEBERE RIS ©

RZZT-_MFE+_A=+—H - #&F%ERE
FBELE DR TITMEMN SR FAELE
REER - Bt - BIEHEZERIYME
B3R E R B AR 21,208,000 (=%
— =% ANR¥73,835,0005T) W AERE
BREAREOLFERE2ERIMEZR
BEEEFRIRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRARE

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES

20. FEWERR

2024 2023
—BDmE T -o=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FiT AREFT

Trade receivables JE s BR X
— from property investment —RAEVERE 2,355 1,021
Less: allowance for expected credit losses W EEEEEERE (54) (54)
Trade receivables — net FEMER R — /F1E 2,301 967
The directors of the Company considered that the fair RAREERARBER 2 A FEEHR

value of trade receivables are not materially different from
their carrying amounts because these amounts have short
maturity periods in their inspection.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2024, trade receivables
are arose from rental income from investment properties.
Proceeds are to be received in accordance with the terms
of related tenancy agreements.

Allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables
are recorded using allowance accounts on trade
receivable is as follows:

HETESRER  THREERRZE
FIRBREHREH -

RIE_=ZFR_FE_NF+_A=+—
A BREEFREEEMERSWA - BT
BRUEREEBEHEE U -

FEM R R 2 TAEAE B 1R 2 BB (E R i W
R BB AR - IR ¢

2024 2023

—EBCoE —T-=4%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FiT AREFT

At the beginning of the year F9] 54 175
Impairment loss recognised EHERREEE 967 -
Amounts written off MR (967) -
Reversal of expected credit loss recognised EHRAEREEER 2 BD = (121)
At the end of the year RER 54 54

170 HRWESREERD R 2024 F F#




20.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

At each reporting date, the Group reviews trade
receivables for evidence of expected credit loss on both
an individual and collective basis. As at 31 December
2024, the Group’s trade receivables of approximately
RMB967,000 (2023: Nil) were individually determined to
be impaired. The individually impaired receivables related
to customers that were in financial difficulties and the
management assessed that the receivables were not
expected to be recovered.

Based on the terms of related tenancy agreements, the
ageing analysis of the trade receivables net of allowance
for expected credit losses is as follows:

20.

JE Wt BR K (1)
REERSRE A IR AR R EEEER
AEBERRELRBREEBEEE -
RZE-_MF+-_A=+—0  ~EEH
FEUBR A A R 067,000 (=T ==
F:E)RENREALERE - Z5@E
ARENERRERTFENRRENTF
HEE - BEIRETE A WG IETE
A o

R FEHE BB BB AR EUERTIZ AR
TH# IR Z R D AT AT

2024 2023

—EoNFE —ZFT-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT AEETFIT

0 to 90 days 0Z90H 2,301 967

The concentration of credit risk is limited due to the
customer base being large and unrelated.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2024, none of the Group’s
trade receivables past due. These balances were related
to a large number of diversified customers that had a
good track record of credit with the Group.

The Group is holding rental deposits from tenants as
collateral in respect of trade receivables for rental income.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2024, all of the Group’s
trade receivables are denominated in RMB, no interest is
charged on trade receivables.

HREFPEMEAAGERE  AitEF
EERRBRAR -

RIEZ=FR_FT_MF+_A=+—
A AEBEREKEFRBESDS - S8
HAESTRAENEF,ER  ZEEFPAAR
EBZBAEELERL

AEBELIRESWAZBEERFFTERA
HENHERSEASERM

RIB_=FR-_F-_NMF+-_A=+—
B AEBMAEEKIRZTGUARES
& Wk fE U BR FRURER R &8, -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRARE

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

21. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND

21. EMARE  BEREGEWRE

OTHER RECEIVABLES =

2024 2023
—BomE T C=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREFT
Prepaid value-added tax TERHIEER 29,935 18,372

Other receivables, prepayments and E M EBERR - BNRIER
deposits (note (a)) B& (Mt (a) 20,003 55,170
49,938 73,542

All of the current portion prepayments, deposits and other
receivables are expected to be recognised as expenses,

recovered or could be withdrawn within one year. FiRIE
note: Htat -
(@) It mainly includes prepaid construction cost, residences (@)

maintenance fund, rental and sundry deposits. As at 31
December 2024, advance receipts from customers for the
sale of properties under development of approximately
RMB6,000,000 (2023: RMB41,148,000) were placed in
Xuzhou Real Estate Management Service Center, a PRC
local government authority, for security purpose. The Group
can request for withdrawal of the balances in accordance

to agreed procedures for the payment of construction cost. FREE ©

MR BESBARD R 2024F F#H

FRBERVRE D FAMNFR - ke MEMERK
RRFARE - FRER /M - WEHA

TEBREBENREERET  TZHER
¢ e hHERS RZTZNF
TZA=1+—H  GHEEEETMES
B U E 4 A R #56,000,0007T (=
T =44 AR®41,148,0000) E7F
AN EEEBIREH O (P B 75 B
FEPDERFBR ZA - REBAIRE
SHBERAZ BERFERBEBZSE



22,

23.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS 22. ZREBITER
During the year, certain suppliers of the Group have filed FA - AEEETHERITHANEENEB
litigation claims to subsidiaries of the Group demanding NEREFARR - REFENEEK AN
payment related to construction costs payable of BT A R#49,175,0007T - BB EER
RMB49,175,000 which was included in trade payables AMFE24R B ERFR - T BN EHIER
in Note 24. The subsidiaries withheld the construction MIREEFAETZE MEBARNERH
costs mainly due to disputes of construction quality with FREEPKAFRIR - % SR RE B BUER
suppliers. These deposits were frozen at the order of the RIEEEHEORBI T LR o —RiE - E
court of PRC before the court ruling. Normally, the court brig s B EREBMEIEED SIS
would issue a preservation notice or court order to instruct RRTTREBMEHS - EEHSBERT
the bank and seize the balance. The order normally THER T B M IERE « (\ R —F1& B EE
expired or forfeited in the following circumstances; W (B ERG  R(i) AR BER T 2B
(i) automatically expired after one year; (ii) withdrawal E
of case; and (iii) unable to establish a case with local
authorities.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 23. BeRBATEFYUREER
PLEDGED DEPOSIT X
Cash and cash equivalents and pledged deposit include RehkReEEYWUAREEFEREEN
the following components: THRCERD -
2024 2023
—ECME —E-=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREFT
Cash at bank and in hand RIT R FEE® 122,604 119,260

Included in bank and cash balances of the Group
approximately RMB115,017,000 (2023: approximately
RMB118,243,000) was denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”)
placed with banks in the PRC. RMB is not a freely
convertible currency. Under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement and
Sales and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations,
the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for foreign
currencies through banks that are authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

The bank balances carry interest at market rates which
range from 0.08% to 0.875% (2023: 0.30% to 0.875%)
per annum.

REBRITEIBSERBIETF AT ER
AIRITAARE (T ARE D) FHEZFIBL
AR#115,017,000c( ZE==4F : ZHA
R#118,243,0007T) - AR AT 8EEMH
Rz B o RIEP B INEE B G0 R4
g SEMNEEERTE  AEEETE
BEEREAETINEEB 2 RITEARE
HIRBINE -

RITHEBMUAN B ETE - FHENTF
0.08%E0.875%(—ZZE =4 : 0.30% %
0.875%)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

24. TRADE PAYABLES 24, EFAIRR
Based on the invoice dates, the ageing analysis of MEZRDBEERATHNENRRIZER
the trade payables for construction cost in respect of AEZBREC D ATIAT -

property development segment were as follows:

2024 2023
—E-NE T -=—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FiT AREFT

0 to 90 days 0Z90H 228,530 374,410
91 to 180 days 912180H - 7
Over 180 days H#i®180H 26,246 3,233
254,776 377,650
All of the trade payables are expected to be settled within FrB BN RRFEIAER —F AL EHAER
one year or are repayable on demand. The trade payables DREEE - BNERZR—REFEER R
are normally due immediately from the date of billing. BNEs B EASZ A ©
As at 31 December 2024, the balance includes potential RZEBE-_NMF+-_A=+—H E@&%
claim from ongoing litigation cases amounted to BEEEETHFARENETRRSEA
RMB49,175,000. R#49,175,0007T °

174 R ESEBRA T 2024F F#H



25.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 25. EirEAREMENER
2024 2023

—ECNE —F-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETFT ARETT

Rental received in advance from tenants and AN 24 R EMIZE

other deposits 10,235 8,373
Tax and other levies RIERHMEE 1,275 1,100
Current account with an associate B — R B 2 N A A R RUB

(Note 38(b)) (H15#38(b)) - 31,289
Amount due to a director of the Company JER AR AR —RESRHIA

(Note 38(b)) (H15#38(b)) 708 7,131
Other payables and accruals (note) H e sIE R EAE A

(Hiat) 39,203 49,100
51,421 96,993

All of the accruals and other payables are expected to be
settled within one year or are repayable on demand.

note: It included the accrued compensation for delay delivery
of RMB26,005,000 (2023: RMB24,623,000), accrued
salaries, administrative expenses, finance costs and sundry
creditors.

P FERT B A R E A e BR R FE RS 10 —
FRBEBRANERKEER -

Mot EPREEATEINBEESARE
26,005,000 C(— T - =F: AR
24,623,0007T) * EFHEHE - TTHHA
¥ BMERARFEBEMNTUE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

All the contract liabilities are expected to be settled
within the Group’s normal operating cycle and the whole

balances are classified as current.

26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 26. AR
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FIT ARETFIT
Receipt in advance from customers BERENK(BEMEER

in respect of property development 2EB)

segment 348,497 369,896

PIBEANBERMNASBERAEEERY
KB BRSO BRI -

Movements in contract liabilities BHREESD
2024 2023
—ECoME T4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FiT AREFT
Balance at 1 January —RA—B#&&#% 369,896 765,802
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of BHREREENARFEER
recognising revenue during the year that st A B EN S
was included in the contract liabilities at the i
beginning of the period (110,645) (433,862)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of BHBEHRNIEEEY EIHE
receiving sales deposit related to sales of BRAMHE RS MM
properties 89,246 37,956
Balance at 31 December +TZA=+—RB#&& 348,497 369,896

The Group normally receives 1%-41% (2023: 1%-36%) of
the contract value as deposits from customers when they
sign the sale and purchase agreements. This advance

ERFEEm=N  A£E—RARPHK
BAABENI%EMN%(ZE_=F 1%
E36%)1EAZRE - WBNRBERAEEYD

payment are recognised as a contract liabilities until the BE BEEWMERTINAEEETER o

properties are completed and legally assigned to the

customer. The rest of the consideration is typically paid

when legal assignment is completed.

HMAMEEEER AT 2024F Fi#

R E —RETHORE BRI ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R M

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

27. LEASE LIABILITIES

27. HEEGEE

2024 2023
—EC-ME @ —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥BFIT AREFIT
Lease liabilities payable: EAHAEEE
Within one year —FR - 2,024
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 B RREBEE TR
months shown under current liabilities TZEAAREEHE
Z A = (2,024)

Amount due for settlement after 12 months
shown under non-current liabilities

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied

to lease liabilities is 11% (2023: 11%).

RIERBABE TR+ =
AR BRER Z5R =

FE RN E B (E 0 I F 1538 & E 3R =R

BI1%(ZEZ=4F : 11%) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRARE

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

28. BORROWINGS

28. fEX

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FIT ARETFIT
Borrowings included in: AFAR TSR ER -
Secured bank loans repayable (note (a)) JEEE 2 BEMIRITER
(Hiit@)
— Within 1 year ——FR - 16,720
— After 1 year but within 2 years ——FREMFA - 18,480
— After 2 years but within 5 years —MFERERFA 20,840 65,120
— After 5 years —HF1% 12,416 22,936
Total interest-bearing borrowings STREERE 33,256 123,256
Less: Amount due within one year shown Ve \/;|EUE1 518 N3
under current liabilities —FANEH 2 FIE - (16,720)
33,256 106,536
As at 31 December 2023 and 2024, the Group’s RIBE_=ZFR-_F-_NMF+-_A=+—

borrowings were all denominated in RMB.

notes:

B AEEEFHEAAREE -

Hiiz -

(@) The Group has variable-rate bank borrowings which are (@)
repayable within 3 year to 6 years (2023: 1 year to 7 years)
and bearing interest at the People’s Bank of China 5 years
loan base interest rate plus 0.55% inflated rate. Interest is

repriced annually.

As at 31 December 2024, the effective interest rates
(which are also equal to contractual interest rates) on the
Group’s bank loans are 4.5% (2023: 4.75%) and secured
by investment properties and personal guarantee from a
director, who is also a major shareholder of the Company.

HMAMEEEER AT 2024F Fi#

REEGEE T BRITE

(2
B A

BR=ZER

F(ZBEZ=F: —Z2EtF )RNEER
BERBEARBITAFEREERN KN
0.55% 2 FBFIEEE - FIBBFET ©

+

RZZ-W&E+=-—A=+—H B@EX
SEBTERZERMNE(THEERE
BFNR) BAE%(Z T =14 : 4.75%)
WAREMER —BEF(NAERAF
EERE) A EABRIEE -



29.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

DEFERRED TAX

The Group has total unrecognised tax losses arising in Hong
Kong and the PRC of approximately RMB185,143,000 (2023:
approximately RMB225,218,000). Regarding the accumulated
impairment loss of properties under development
and completed properties held for sale, an amount of
RMB446,111,000 (2023: RMB376,650,000) was subject to the
agreement with the relevant tax authorities, that are available
for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies
in which the losses arose. Under the EIT Law of PRC, the tax
losses could be carried forward for a maximum of five years.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
these losses which arose in subsidiaries with unpredictability
of future profit streams to absorb such losses.

Deferred tax liabilities in respect of the temporary differences
associated with the undistributed earnings of subsidiaries
for the amount of RMB31,600,000 was provided in 2023.
In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that the
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future. As at 31 December 2024, the earnings of the Group’s
PRC companies are approximately RMB1,579,730,000
(2023: approximately RMB1,535,195,000).

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income
taxes relate to the same fiscal authority.

29.

EERIE

AEEEREBTERFRAZ AERHIES
BAEEHARE185,143,000( T ==
F Y ARKE225218,0007T) ° EEF Y
ERBEREZERTIVEZRTRES
BAEBz AR446,111,0000( T ==
& AR#376,650,0007T) 3 BT 15
BRE®%  JREEEZSEERARZE
RERTRA o BIFRESEMERE -
ZEVEBENLAESS AT - WEZE
Bt B8 A B K RE T8 AR 2R I ) 72 AE DA A0
ZEE  ATenBEEBERRELERIE
BE -

RZEZ =53 A& A K®31,600,0007T
BB RRRDIRBFEEE R EZRETRE
BLEREBEEERE EERA - WBAR
RARRRETEDREEEF - RZF
ZMFE+=ZA=+—H AEEFTBERQF]
AT 45 ARE1,579,730,000 (= F
—=%F : HHAR¥1,535,195,0007T) °

EREAGOERITRN K AR E E R
BT IR B EEREE - BREMEHY
KR —RHHEE  AEEMESHEENRE
BT LA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

A Ny =]

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

29.

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

29, EEBIE (%)
BLRIBEE(EE) 2 FEHNT :

The net movements on deferred taxation liabilities/(assets)

are as follows:

Fair value
adjustments
Accelerated Undistributed  Revaluation  arising from
tax profits of of investment  acquisition of
depreciation  subsidiaries properties  subsidiaries Tax losses Total
RRBHE
MEAR NAMELR
MERERE  RKDRER ERRENE  AVESE HEEE &zt
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB 000
ANEETT  ARETT  AREFT  AREFT  AEEFT ARETR
As at 1 January 2023 g —d
—-A-A 39,908 - 44,731 75,536 (1,116) 159,059
Exchange realignment ERAE 6 - - - - 6
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to £RIRE /(3 A)
the profit or loss during the year 12 ZiEEHE 3,453 1,580 (13,492) (8,631) 1,116 (15,974)
As at 31 December 2023 A —
TZA=1+-H 43,367 1,580 31,239 66,905 - 143,091
Exchange realignment B AR 9 - - - - 9
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to /% &,/ (G )
the profit or loss during the year 1% ZiEEH B 2,288 (1,580) (12,694) (8,887) - (20,879)
As at 31 December 2024 R-B_ME
TZA=1+-H 45,664 - 18,545 58,018 - 122,227

MR BESBARD R 2024F F#H




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R M

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. B’A
Number of
shares Amount
REEE -]
HK$'000
FET
Authorised: EIE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.004 each &R EI{E0.00475 7T (B fh
(before share consolidation) &0t R EREE
and HK$0.08 each (after share 0.08% T (& & pH1&)
consolidation): ZEBR
At 1 January 2023 RZE-=F—HF—H 125,000,000,000 500,000
Less: share consolidation (note (a)) & : D& B (Mt (a) (118,750,000,000) -
At 31 December 2023 and RZE_=F+-"A=+—H
1 January 2024 r=Z2-mF—HF—H 6,250,000,000 500,000
Add: share sub-division (note (b)) s R D) 43,750,000,000 -
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each FIEEO0.01E jr (AR A HIE
(after capital reduction and share R ) 2 Ll -
sub-division):
At 31 December 2024 M-ZE-E
+—-A=+—H 50,000,000,000 500,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRARE

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

30. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

30. BA&®)

Number of
shares Amount Amount
REEE -] -]
HK$’000 RMB’000
FEIT AREFITT
Issued and fully paid: ERITRAR
Ordinary shares of SR EE0.0048 T
HK$0.004 each (before (Befn& OFAT) KB E
share consolidation) and 50.08/ B L (D& B
HK$0.08 each (after share &)z EBER
consolidation):
At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=%—H—H 10,293,136,554 41,173 37,628
Less: share consolidation B A G (Bt E)
(note (a)) (9,778,479,727) - -
At 31 December 2023 and W_ZE_=F+_A
1 January 2024 =+—BRZZT-_MmF
—H—H 514,656,827 41,173 37,628
Less: capital reduction W BB (B i)
(note (b)) - (36,026) (32,925)
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 & E{EO0.018 T (JA
each (after capital reduction  BlI38 K B D #4014 )
and share sub-division): 2 B
At 31 December 2024 R-ZT_MF
+ZA=+—H 514,656,827 5,147 4,703

HMAMEEEER AT 2024F Fi#
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31.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

notes:

(@) On 24 August 2023, the Board proposed that every 20
shares in the issued and unissued share capital of the
Company be consolidated into 1 consolidated share
(the “Share Consolidation”). The Share Consolidation
was approved by the shareholders at the special general
meeting of the Company held on 11 September 2023 and
the same became effective on 13 September 2023. Upon
the Share Consolidation becoming effective, there were
514,656,827 consolidation shares in issue which were
fully paid or credited as fully paid. Details of the Share
Consolidation were set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 24 August 2023 and 11 September 2023
respectively.

(b) Pursuant to the Capital Reorganization scheme of the
Company effective on 18 June 2024, the par value per
issued share of the Company reduced from HK$0.08 to
HK$0.01. All the unissued share of par value of HK$0.08
each was subdivided into 8 new unissued shares of
HK$0.01 each. The credit arising from the reduction of par
value as well as the entire amount standing to the credit
share premium account were transferred to the contributed
surplus account. Details of the Capital Reorganization
scheme were stated in the circular of the Company dated
27 May 2024,

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein during the year are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

(i) Share premium and capital redemption
reserve

The application of share premium account is
governed by Section 40 of the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda (as amended).

The capital redemption reserve of the Group
represents the nominal value of the share capital of
the Company repurchased and cancelled.

30.

31.

PR AN ()

(@) RZZEZ=FN\A=+HNA - EF=
BEBAARDEITRAREITRAS
T0BB N A BIRE GRG ([
meadt])  ROEHELERRINR T
Z=FNAT—HETHARRRKRERS
BlRE L E YR =_T=_=FNA
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(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

31.

RESERVES (continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Group represents
the surplus arising from the Group’s capital
reorganisation in respect of its capital reduction,
share subdivision and share consolidation in 2003
and capital reorganisation in 2024.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended), contributed surplus is available for
distribution to shareholders. However, a company
cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a
distribution out of contributed surplus; if:

- the company is, or would after the payment
be, unable to pay its liabilities as they
become due; or

- the realisable value of the company’s assets
would thereby be less than the aggregate of
its liabilities and its issued share capital and
share premium accounts.

Capital reserve

Reserve are transferred from retained earnings for
compensation if loss and any accident incurred
in the future. The capital reserve arose due to the
acquisition of PRC subsidiaries in previous year
and re-organisation of Hong Kong subsidiaries in
previous years.

Currency translation reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in Note 2.
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)
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31.

32.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

31. @EE®

RESERVES (continued)

(v)

(vi)

Fair value through other comprehensive
income reserve

The fair value through other comprehensive income
reserve comprises the cumulative net change in
the fair value of financial assets at the end of each
reporting period and is dealt with in accordance
with the accounting policy set out in Note 2.

Statutory reserve

PRC companies are required to allocate 10%
of the companies’ net profits to the statutory
reserves fund until such fund reaches 50% of
the companies’ registered capitals. The statutory
reserves fund can be utilised, upon approval by the
relevant authorities, to offset accumulated losses,
if any, or to increase registered capital of the
companies, provided that such fund is maintained
at a minimum of 25% of the companies’ registered
capitals.

COMMITMENTS

The Group has the following material commitments, which

(v)

(vi)

32. &g
AEEEE AT EARLE -

DNFER AE M2 E B A R

E

BAFEFARBZARAFEE

EREREHURNEREEZAF

BERAEEFE - WREME2H
(SRR IE ©

bSig

EERE
FEARARRAFFENZ10%E
AEFEBES  BEEZESEED
Al E AN Z250% - (AR R It
o OETEREBES A ANEERE
BE(NAE)SIE MR EGFMER -
HEBMES &L BERN QB EM
BARZ225% °

HERTHOHIL

are contracted for but not provided in the consolidated RRERE W TG B
financial statements as follows:
2024 2023
—EBEomE —To=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFIT AREFT
Capital expenditure in respect of: EBNATIHEE 2 EXRME
Properties under development ERERPME 19,522 4,085

In addition, the Group was committed at 31 December
2024 to enter into a new lease of 3 years that is not yet
commenced, the lease payments under which amounted
to RMB2,088,000 per annum.

o REBR T _WHFE+_A=+—
BAGL—hRE=ZF0MEE(H

AH®\)  HMENKBEFARE
2,088,0007T °
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A Ny =]

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

33.

34.

35.

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 33. KEHERH
As Lessor fEREAA
At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the total future minimum N-_E-NER - E-_=F+_fF=+—
lease receivable by the Group under non-cancellable A REBERBEIAIHHECEHEREE
operating leases in respect of investment properties are as YRRz BERERAERIBERELOT -
follows:
2024 2023
ZEINE T -=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFIT AREFT
Within one year —FR 2,301 938
LOAN FACILITIES 34. EXREE
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the loan facilities only RZEZWOMFR T =F+=A=+—
include bank loans. B BEX@EERERITEN -
Loan facilities from banks amounted RMB33,256,000 KERITZERRE ARM33,256,0007T
(2023: RMB123,256,000) were fully utilised at the end of T =F : AR®123,256,0007T) 2
2024. It was secured by the Group's investment properties RIZ_NFRBZEBA - EUALEE 2
and personal guarantee from a director (2023: secured by BEMER—RZEZ(NRARFTNEE
the Group’s investment properties and personal guarantee ) 2 BABREERB(ZEZ=F : A
from a director), who is also a major shareholder of the REBZIREMER—REZ(NALR
Company. AMEZERE) 2 BAERERRT) o
There are no loan facilities granted to subsidiaries which RIB_NMFR_ZE_=F+_A=+—
are secured by the corporate guarantee of the Company as A MERTHBEABZERRE AR
at 31 December 2024 and 2023. NRIZAEERIEER -
PLEDGED OF ASSETS 35. EEEF

At the end of reporting period, the following assets of the
Group were pledged to banks and financial institution in
order to secure the borrowings granted to the Group:

RBERR - AEEK T EERR TR
TREREE R/RASEERERER
o

2024 2023

—ECNE —T-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFIT AREFIT

Investment properties WEME 415,000 458,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R M

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

36. CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING 36. AREXRBELZBERKED
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Amount Current
due to account
an executive with an Lease
Borrowings director associate liabilities
FEff—28fT H-Hge
EE BERE  ARAKRSE HESE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETFT ARETT ARETT
At 1 January 2024 R-E-mF-A-AH 123,256 7,131 31,289 2,024
Changes from financing cash flows ~ BEE4HELEH
Repayment of bank loans BERTER (80,000) = - -
Net movement of amount due to ER—2BTESHEFE
an executive director = (5,628) = -
Repayment of principal of lease liabilites  EEHEEEAE - = = (2,024)
Interest element of lease liabilities paid B EEENFISH2 - - = (116)
Interest paid on borrowings ERERZFE (4,122) = = -
Total changes from UTERREEE
Financing cash flows BERETE (94,122) (5,628) = (2,140)
Other changes: Higs
Netting off against compensation to BHmEERRERRERIEL 2
the controling shareholder of the e
associate = = (31,289) =
Finance costs BENK 4,122 - - 116
Exchange difference EXZER = (795) = =
Total other changes EthEE e 4,122 (795) (31,289) 116
At 31 December 2024 RZZZMET-A=1—H 33,256 708 - -
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(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

note:

36. CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING 36. FRIEXBEEZEBEFH®)
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (continued)
Amount Current
due to account
an executive with an Lease
Borrowings director associate liabilities
ER—%8a el
% EENE  LAARRE HERE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ANRETFT ANEETFT ANEETFT
At 1 January 2023 W-E-=%-f-H 438,456 4,676 40,422 3,758
Changes from financing cash flows ~ REELHELE
Repayment of bank loans BEFENER (18,000) - - -
Repayment of other secured loans BEEMEERER (297,200) - - -
Net movement of amount due to EN—RHTEZNRFEY

an executive director - 2,455 - -
Repayment of principal of lease liabiliies  EERE&EAS - - - (1,729)
Interest element of lease liabllities paid ~~ EHEEEEHNFELH - - - (311)
Interest paid on borrowings BRERZHE (22,015) - - -
Total changes from U TERREEE
Financing cash flows BEREME (337,215) 2,455 - (2,040)
Other changes: Hit2E
Capital reduction from an associate PERi A=UNSIE: [ e:

(note ()) (Hrit(z) - - 9,133) -
Finance costs BEMAK 22,015 - - 311
Total other changes EngHng 22,015 - (9,133) 311
At 31 December 2023 RZE-=F+-A=1—H 123,256 7,131 31,289 2,024

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
agreed with an associate that the current account with an
associate of RMB9,133,000 was settled by offsetting the
dividend receivable from an associate of the same amount.
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37.

38.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

NON-CASH TRANSACTION
DISCLOSURE

The investing transactions that did not require the use
of cash or cash equivalents were excluded from the
statement of cash flows. During the year, compensation
to the controlling shareholder of the associate of
RMB50,500,000 was set-off with the dividend receivable
from the associate of RMB99,000,000. Whereas, balance
due to the associate of RMB31,289,000 was waived by the
associate.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements,
the Group had the following significant transactions with
related parties:

(@A) Compensation of key management
personnel

The directors are of the opinion that the key
management personnel were the executive and
non-executive director of the Company, details of
whose emoluments are set out in Note 10.

37.

38.

FREXZWE

BEEETRARSEECSEVNRERS L
BWNABRERER - FWN - MEBE QAL
P& A% 3R 1 H B 4 B A R #50,500,0007T 7Y
A FE W 5% e 2 N 1R B A R 699,000,000
TN o R ETRREE R RIMEBRA
R #31,289,0007C 2 &% & R El %A% ©

BEBALRS
BRZFHRAMBREAEMBOREZX
5 MAERRSN - NSRBI A AT
JBARRS :

(a) FEEEAEWHHE

BEERR - ARBZHAITRIENIT

EERTEEEAR  WEZHH
BAE AN GE Rl
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 38. BEAALRZ (&)
(continued)
(b) Balance with related party (b) CEEHEEEALZ4EER
2024 2023

—EIMFE —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FrT AREFT

Balances due to related parties: FESTRRME A T 2 iRk
Associate: BE AT
Guangzhou Xintian Properties BN R B E R
Development Limited (note (a)) BRAR (Mt aE) - 31,289
Executive Director: HITES .
Mr. Zhang Gao Bin (note (b)) R B LA (Kt b) 708 7,131
Lease liabilities: HEBIE -
Related company: B AT
Tianlun Holdings Limited Company Ki@iZER AR AR
(note (e)) (K1z# () - 2,024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 A P R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

PN
2 Ny =]

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 38. BABIALRZ (@)

(continued)

(c) Transaction with related party

(c) EHEEBALZXZ

2024 2023
—EDOE T _=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFIT
Realised deferred management fee RE B ALz EERRE
income from a related party: BEBIA
Associate: i =T
Guangzhou Xintian Properties EMNFREHEZRABR AR
Development Limited (note (c)) (Htiz(c)) 8 33
Realised deferred interest income on LTHREATERZEER
loan to a related party: RIEFBUA -
Associate: B NT
Guangzhou Xintian Properties BINFFREEZRRARAA
Development Limited (note (d)) (Bi#t(d) 28 104

Talent Property Group Limited Annual Report 2024

191



192

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRARE

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

38. AL Z ()

(continued)
(c) Transaction with related party (continued) (c) EHEEBALTZRZ(E)
2024 2023
—E-NE T4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFIT AREFT
Repayment of principal and interest m— %F@Euﬁ\i%i? ZG8E
element of lease liabilities to a related ~ HYAD KA EZH -
party:
Related company: RN T :
Tianlun Holdings Limited Company K@t BR AR (M itle)
(note (e)) 2,140 2,040
Corporate/personal guarantee provided RBIlEA TR AEEEFHFE
by a related party in respect of loans REZ NG EAER
facilities of the Group:
Director: =55
Mr. Zhang Gao Bin (note (f)) SR A S (B AE(T) 33,256 123,256
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR R R M R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

notes:

(@)

Balances due to an associate are unsecured, interest
free and no fixed repayment terms in the year ended 31
December 2023.

Balance due to an executive director is unsecured, interest
free and repayable on demand.

Management fee income from an associate was charged at
a negotiated value, deferred and recognised at applicable
basis.

The deferred interest income on a previous loan to an
associate was realised during the year.

It represents the lease liabilities payable to a related
company for the right of use of a property as back office
for a term of 3 years. The balance is fully repaid this
year (2023: repayable within 1 year). It was charged at a
negotiated value.

The underlying loan facilities to subsidiaries guaranteed
by the director of the Company amounted to
RMB33,256,000 (2023: RMB123,256,000) were utilized
as to RMB33,256,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB123,256,000).

38. BEEALRRB ()

Wyt -

(@)

BE_ZF-_=Ft+t_A=1+—HLF
B - N AR AR R IR
RENEEEETHR o

BN —ZITEEHEBRRBEER 28
K BRBERIFEIE -

KA —fHEERBZERBRARGE
BERR - BRENRIERELERR -

BT -—REER TZ%BE%?A’
BIRAERFENER

ZAEFER

Higp— AR ERAMAERM=F2
%%fﬁ%ﬁéﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁ% D]k NG|
ERE HHRERAFEZHEE(Z
Z::E FARTFAXN) o KRR
EEEX -

HMARNBZEESERONE A RHEHE
BHREE A AR33,256,000L (=
— =% : AR#123,256,0007C) © &
EZZ_NF+ZA=+—BERAR
#£33,256,000C(Z T Z=F : AR¥
123,256,0007T) B &S A °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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A Ny =]

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

39.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of
financial instruments in its ordinary course of operations
and in its investment activities. The financial risks include
market risk (including currency risk and interest risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group does not have written risk management
policies and guidelines. Generally, the Group employs
a conservative strategy regarding its risk management.
Financial risk management is coordinated at the Group’s
headquarters, in close co-operation with the board of
directors periodically. The overall objectives in managing
financial risks focus on securing the Group’s short to
medium term cash flows by minimising its exposure to
financial markets. Long term financial investments are
managed to generate lasting returns with acceptable risk
levels. As the Group’s exposure to market risk (including
currency risk and interest risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk are kept at a minimum level, the Group has not used
any derivative or other instruments for hedging purposes.
The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial
instruments for trading purposes. The most significant
financial risks to which the Group is exposed are
discussed below.

As at the reporting date, the Group’s financial instruments
mainly consisted of cash and cash equivalents, restricted
bank deposits, trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables, trade payables, accruals and other payables
and borrowings.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 39. ¥EREERAFETE®E)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R M

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)
Categories of financial assets and (a) cRMEEREEZER

(a)

liabilities

The carrying amounts presented in the Group’s
statements of consolidated financial position relate

AEBGE PV BAIRAHR 252K
HEENTEREERSRAER

to the following categories of financial assets and RIBEHE -
financial liabilities:
Financial assets THEE
2024 2023
—E-NE —T-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT AREFIT
Financial assets measured at amortised — IZ# KA B2 S REE
cost
— Trade receivables — EUER K 2,301 967
- Deposits and other receivables —1&e RHEM B 19,554 54,985
- Restricted bank deposits — X REIRITIFH 28,100 -
- Cash and cash equivalents B MRS EEY 122,604 119,260
172,559 175,212
Financial liabilities THEE
2024 2023
—EBomE T =F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT AREFIT
Financial liabilities measured at amortised IZ#EKAAEZ SR EE
cost
- Trade payables — FETER X 254,776 377,650
— Accruals and other payables —EETEAREMmER
ARX 49,090 95,820
- Borrowings —fBR 33,256 128,256
337,122 596,726
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(b)

Foreign currency risk

Currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value
or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign currency.

The functional currency of the Company and its
major subsidiaries in Hong Kong is Hong Kong
Dollar (“HK$”) in which most of the transactions
are denominated. The functional currency of those
subsidiaries operating in PRC is RMB in which most
of its transactions are denominated. Certain bank
balances of the Group are denominated in HK$ and
RMB respectively. As at the reporting date, foreign
currencies were translated into RMB at the closing
rate.

The management considers future commercial
transactions, monetary assets and liabilities are
denominated in the functional currency of each
entity of the Group. Therefore, the foreign currency
risk is immaterial.

The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the management
monitors foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arises.

The policies to manage foreign currency risk have
been followed by the Group since prior years and
are considered to be effective.

MR BESBARD R 2024F F#H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

39. BI¥EAREERAFEFE S

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(c)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty
to a financial instrument would fail to discharge
its obligation under the terms of the financial
instrument and cause a financial loss to the Group.
The Group’s exposure to credit risk mainly arises
from the ordinary course of its operations.

The carrying amounts of trade receivables, deposits
and other receivables, cash and cash equivalent
and restricted bank deposits included in the face of
the consolidated statement of financial position and
the amount of financial guarantees issued represent
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in
relation to its financial assets.

The credit risks on cash and cash equivalent and
restricted bank deposits are limited because the
counterparties are banks and financial institution
with high credit ratings assigned by international
credit-rating agencies.

The credit risks on deposits and other receivables
are limited because the counterparties are mainly
government authorities which are considered with
very low risk of default.

Deposits and other receivables, cash and cash
equivalents and restricted bank deposits are
considered to have low credit risk and therefore the
loss allowances are measured at an amount equal
to 12-month ECL.

The credit risks associated with financial guarantee
is considered as limited and mitigated because
they are secured over the properties sold to the
corresponding customers.

(c)

EE R MR ER
EERRESRIAZRSTI REE
RESBMTAZGRETEEEM
SAKERIPBREZAR - K
SEAZZEERREIERERA
FBEBBIE -

BRERA BB R Z BURRR
e LHMEWRER Re kB
FEMARZRBIRITFREERE
REFEHOTBEREERANSER®
HBBEEAR &N EERR

Re MRS FEMARIRHIET
FRZEERRAR REREHT
R|/TRAEBRREEFRRES
TREEFRN SRS

e hEMREER 2 EERRE
R RESH T ET2RBFHEE
FERRBEBBREENER

e RHEMEYRER Re kB
FEVMARZRFRITE B R R
BEREREERR  HERRERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(c)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

For the rents receivables from property investment,
the Group has policies in place to ensure that
leases are made to tenants with an appropriate
financial strength and appropriate percentage
of down payments and rental deposits. It also
has other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group reviews regularly the
recoverable amount of each individual trade/rents
receivables to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. The
Group has no significant concentrations of credit
risk, with exposure spread over a large number of
counter parties and customers.

The credit policies to manage credit risk have been
followed by the Group since prior years and are
considered to have been effective in limiting the
Group’s exposure to credit risk to a desirable level.

MR BESBARD R 2024F F#H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

39. BI¥EAREERAFEFE S

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(c)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (c) GFERBRBESTME)
(continued)
As part of the Group’s credit risk management, {’H%K’i EEERREERE 2 —
the Group uses debtors’ aging to assess the A REBAEBAZRREED
impairment for its customers in relation to its %Txﬁ%\ﬁﬁ1ﬁﬁ%f52/@€@ i
property investment operation because these THERZERFRIEREAGHAB
customers consist of a large number of small BREFE#H2NBER - BARBRE
customers with common risk characteristics that FRIEEHGRIZ AR HHRIE
are representative of the customers’ abilities to pay HIge S o TRIBHA BN KA TEH
all amounts due in accordance with the contractual EEEENBEMEIRES T2 IE
terms. The following table provides information WHSR T _OFR=FT_=F
about the exposure to credit risk for rents F+Z A=+ —RERBEEEEF DN
receivables of the property investment segment FEERBZER -
which are assessed based on provision matrix as at
31 December 2024 and 2023 within lifetime ECL.
Gross carrying amount BREAEE
2024 2023
13 “BCCE
Gross Allowance Gross Allowance
carrying Average on trade carrying Average on trade
amount lossrate  receivables amount lossrate  receivables
FElk felk
FESE THERE BREE BESE  T9EEE BiaE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFE  AEETI NEEFT

Current (not past due) (T Em ) 2,355 2.29% 54 1,021 5.27% 54
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRARE

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(c) Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Gross carrying amount (continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based
on historical observed default rates adjusted for
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

The following tables show the movement in lifetime
ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables
under the simplified approach:

39.

BREREERAFETFE®E)

(c)

EERBRRETE(E)

HRE#E(E)

BT BERERIRBEELBRENE
mfbat - W BAN B TS ERA
B N BRI BUS Z ATHE B FHE

A -

TRINRRIEBCTTED BRI
R ZKATEIMEEER &

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
KATAH KATRH
FEEBE FEFR
(kEEERE) (EERHE) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBEFIT AREFT AREFT
As at 1 January 2023 MR-ZE=-—=%F—H—H 175 - 175
Reversal of expected credit  EHEREHEEEIBED
loss recognized (121) - (121)
As at 31 December 2023 R-—ZEBE-_=H5+=-A8
=t+—8 54 - 54
Impairment loss recognised B ERBEEE - 967 967
Amounts written off WiEe - (967) (967)
As at 31 December 2024 RZZE-MFE+=A
=t+—8 54 - 54
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

39. BI¥EAREERAFEFE S

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(d)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair
value or cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest
rates.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk arises from
interest bearing bank deposits and borrowings at
variable interest rate. The Group currently does
not have any interest rate hedging policy and will
consider enter into interest rate hedging should the
need arise. The Group ensures that it borrows at
competitive interest rates under favourable terms
and conditions.

Management considers the exposure to the
changes in market interest rate for bank deposits
should not be materially enough to cause adverse
financial effect on the Group’s position.

The policies to manage interest rate risk have been
followed by the Group since prior years and are
considered to be effective.

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through
the impact of the rate changes on interest-bearing
borrowings. The interest rates and terms of
repayment of the Group’s interest-bearing loans are
shown as below “interest rate profile”. The Group’s
policy is to obtain the most favourable interest rates
available for the borrowings.

(d)

F=ER

MEREBY RSB TAEZ AFENK
RenEGRMSNEREEHMKE
Z B -

AEBZReRENXEBRK S
BRITERRLFZSN KA EZE
Ko ASEE B A AT AR K S
BE  HERLREE BTN X
o NEERERES PR AR
HT - REABEFHIONKRERFE

Eo
A °

ERERR  RITFARMIGHEE
AR ETRAHANEBEAR R E
AN TR E -

A A BEBFUR—EARE
BREERZBE - YRBRER
HBA -

AEBRG BB RN EE A
EMERER - AREGEERZA
R RAEEGFREIR T X F R
SR o REE 2 BRI RERERE
REEME -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MR M

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(d) Interest rate risk (continued)

(i)

Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate
profile of the Group’s borrowings at the end
of the reporting period.

39. BIREAMREERAFETNE®

(d) FIZE@E(E)
()  FIEHER

TRAFMANEEBRREE
HIR 2 M B -

2024 2023
ZECQE “EoCE

Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
LEYIES Uik

% RMB’000 % RMB'000

AREFR NEETT

Variable rate borrowings FRER

Bank borrowings RITER At the 33,256 Atthe 123,256
People’s People’s
Bank of Bank of
China 5 years China 5 years
loan base loan base
interest plus interest plus
0.55% 0.55%
inflated rate inflated rate
ROBARRST B ARSI
DEENEE REEREE
ik Lk
n0.55%2 10.55%
e ES iz Jp i
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

39. BI¥EAREERAFEFE S

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(d) Interest rate risk (continued)

(ii)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2024, it is estimated that a
general increase/decrease of 50 basis points
(2023: 50 basis points) in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would
increase/decrease the Group’s loss after
tax and accumulated loss by approximately
RMB166,000 (2023: RMB616,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group’s loss
after tax and accumulated loss and other
components of equity that would arise
assuming that the change in interest rates
had occurred at the end of the reporting
period. In respect of the exposure to cash
flow interest rate risk arising from floating
rate non-derivative instruments held by the
Group at the end of the reporting period,
the impact on the Group’s loss after tax and
accumulated loss and other components of
equity is estimated as an annualised impact
on interest expense or income of such a
change in interest rates. The analysis is
performed on the same basis as 2023.

(d) FI=EB(E)

(ii)

BBE DI
%:%:E¢+*ﬂ:+*
CEEERAEEMEE S
%TMEﬁT ) & 2 g2
ERTRRSOMEER(ZF
Z=F - 50EEE)BESA
SRR EEBEERRR
BREN RO HARE
166,000 C(ZF==%F : A
R#616,0007T) °

E BURE DT IR B BRERR
WEBRBEANKREL - K
SEBRTEERRRTE
18R B b i AR oy EE A OB
RS RAEENREH
REFBOFRIVTET AR
EENBSRENEZRAR M
5 BAKBEMBRRILER
R RFEERE MRS
MR BT ARt RN XREH
HMEZHBANFLR
o ZoMigB_—T - =4
MR E By BT o

Talent Property Group Limited Annual Report 2024

203



204

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(e)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will
not be able to meet its obligations associated with
its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering
cash or another financial assets. The Group is
exposed to liquidity risk in respect of settlement
of trade payables, accruals and other payables,
lease liabilities, financial guarantee, borrowings and
also in respect of its cash flow management. The
Group’s objective is to maintain an appropriate
level of liquid assets and committed lines of funding
to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.

The Group manages its liquidity needs on a
consolidated basis by carefully monitoring the cash
inflows and outflows due in day to day business.
Liquidity needs are monitored in various time
bands, on a day to day and week to week basis, as
well as on the basis of a rolling 30 day projection.
Long term liquidity needs for a 180-day and 365-
day lookout period are identified monthly.

The Group’s liquidity is mainly dependent upon
the cash received from its tenants of investment
properties and customers of trading property held
for sale and funds financing for property under
construction. The directors of the Company are
satisfied that the Group will be able to meet in full
its financial obligations as and when they fall due in
the foreseeable future.

The liquidity policies have been followed by the
Group since prior years and are considered to be
effective in managing liquidity risks.

HMAMEEEER AT 2024F Fi#

39.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R MR
(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 39. ¥EREERAFETE®E)
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(e) Liquidity risk (continued) (e) RBESEME)

The following tables detail the remaining contractual TERFIAREBRARRIETES
maturities at the reporting date of the Group’s and BEERJREABZFGA N
the Company’s non-derivative financial liabilities, BRI EREGLHRUBRSRE
which are based on contractual undiscounted P& ENNS BN S A D]
cash flows and the earliest date the Group and RBEZEREHBEMER - A8EK
the Company can be required to pay. Specifically, HORTERERREREENE
bank loans are included in the earliest time band B M miRfT BB AR
regardless of the probability of the banks choosing FMEBEE - TRBEMNBERETSE
to exercise their rights. The table includes both BB

interest and principal cash flows:

As at 31 December 2024
R-B-MEtZA=1-8
Weighted Total Within Between Between
average contractual one year one year two years
interest Carrying undiscounted oron and two and five ~ More than
rates amount cash flow demand years years five years
TS SRR -ER -£% MEE

fi REE ReREAR  IEEX AER EEH BRI
%  RMB'000  RMB'00  RMB'00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT  ARRTZ  ARETr  ARETT  ARETZ  ARETZ

Trade payables ERE - 254,776 254,776 (254,776) - - -
Other payables EfErzE - 49,658 49,658 (49,658) = = =
Borrowings (principal B (AL ENFIE)

amount plus interest) 4.5% 38,256 41,299 (1,497) (1,497) (25,330) (12,975)
Financial quarantess ~ BIFER(ME41)

ot 41 - AG00 4600 (46,000) - - -

383780 391823 (352021) (1497 (25330  (12,975)
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e IR R AR MY R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(e) Liquidity risk (continued)

39.

BREREERAFETFE®E)

(e) RBEZRB(HE)

As at 31 December 2023
RZEZ=E+ZA=1—H

Weighted Total Within Between Between
average contractual one year one year two years
interest Garrying  undiscounted or on and two and five More than
rates amount cash flow demand years years five years
T ANRER —£R %z e
X BEE Henssg FHEX MER ik BRLE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ANRETT  ARETT  AREFT ARKFT  AEETT ARETT
Trade payables ERE&R - 377,650 377650 (377,650) - - -
Other payables AR - 95,820 95,820 (95,820) - - -
Lease liabilties [principal ~ FE & (B (AEEM
amount plus interes) flg) 11% 2,024 2,141 (2,141) - - -
Borrowings (principal (A2 EMFIE)
amount plus interest) 4.75% 123,256 144,841 (22,575) (23,540) (74,700) (24,026)
Financial quarantees ~ BtHER(H:241)
(Note 41) - 2,479 24719 (2,479 - - -
601,229 622,931 (500,665) (23,540) (74,700) (24,026)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s capital management objectives are to ensure
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
to provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing
goods and services commensurately with the level of risk.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure
and shareholder returns, taking into consideration the
future capital requirements of the Group, prevailing and
projected capital expenditures and projected strategic
investment opportunities.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group regards total equity attributable to the
owners of the Company presented on the face of the
consolidated statement of financial position as capital,
for capital management purpose. The amount of
capital, being share capital, share premium, currency
translation reserve, capital reserve, contribution surplus,
capital redemption reserve, fair value through other
comprehensive income reserve, statutory reserve and
accumulated losses, as at 31 December 2024 amounted
to approximately RMB1,497,871,000 (2023: approximately
RMB1,635,461,000), which the management considers
as optimal having considered the projected capital
expenditures and the forecast strategic investment
opportunities.

The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital
requirements.

40.

EXERE

AEEZ BAERE B ARRAEBER
BeE REBRER KR TLRAR
TR 2 B AR H R DB -

AEBEGELERRTETELEAR
B AREEINAEEIAREATE -
BRI MR EAR MR R E R
g BREBZKEEARBMIERDR -

REFHABRERERE  AREFERE
AR 2RE  MEREENER - 3
TR E B EAREET

MEAREEMS » AEEBLLEE T BK
MEMEFNZARA A AEHEER
BIEER - RMZTE_WE+-_RA=+—
AzEARSREABRA - BRHDEE - B
R E  EARE  BARHB EX
ERHE BAFEFAEMEZAERA
"l ECRERZRFTEBEBR)ODARE
1,497,871,0007L(ZE - =F : YPARY
1,635,461,0007T) * & ERIEFEARFX
RBRARKEEREE BREERARDE
BMEEEARKTE -

AR E Y B FIRINRIEINZ BEABRTE
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(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

an\

41.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES 41. BEER
2024 2023
= 1 S
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FIT ARETFIT
Guarantee in respect of mortgage facilities for AEBEIHDYEBMER 2L
certain purchasers of the Group’s property BREERAE)
units (note) 46,090 2,479
note: The Group was in cooperation with certain financial Wit - AEBERETEREEESE LAY

institutions and arranged mortgage loan facility for its
purchasers of properties and provided guarantees to
secure obligations of such purchasers for repayments.

As at 31 December 2024, the outstanding guarantees
amounted to RMB46,090,000 (2023: RMB2,479,000).
Such guarantees will be discharged upon the earlier of (i)
issuance of the real estate ownership certificate which will
generally be available within one year after the purchasers
take possession of the relevant property; and (ii) the
satisfaction of relevant mortgage loan by purchasers.

Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon default in
mortgage payments by these purchasers, the Group is
responsible to repay the outstanding mortgage principals
together with any accrued interest and penalty owed by
the defaulted purchasers to the banks, and the Group is
entitled to take over the legal title and possession of the
related properties. The Group’s guarantee starts from the
dates the mortgagees obtained the mortgage loans.

The directors consider that the likelihood of default in
payments by purchasers is minimal and therefore the
financial guarantees measured at fair value are immaterial.

HMAMEEEER AT 2024F Fi#
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 A P R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

=
:%/T\ A\H

42. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 42. RMIEA R 2z
Particulars of the subsidiaries at 31 December 2024 and RZZBEZWOF+A=+—ARZF=
31 December 2023 were as follows: F+-—A=1+—H  WERAZF %ZZD—F :
Proportion of
ownership interest
BHERRLA
Held by a
Place/country of Group's subsidiary
incorporation/ Issued share capital/ effective  Held by the of the  Principal activities and
Name registration registered capital interest Company Company  places of operations
RRFZ
AL/ BRARA/ 158 b HEAR
8 /AR BERER ERER ] BE IERBREEHY
Canton Million Investments British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100% - Investment holding in
Limited (note (ii)) (‘BVI) Hong Kong
Canton Milion Investments EBRUES %7 REBUSREALR
Limited (/22 (i) (EBRES))
Grandwill International Investment ~ Hong Kong HK$1 100% - 100%  Inactive
Limited
ERERRAERAT &R A7 s 3
Guangzhou City Liwan Qi Che Zhi ~ The PRC RMB10,000,000 100% - 100%  Property investment in
Pei Factory Company Limited the PRC
(note (i) & (iv))
BMTH S ERRBERAT e AK%10,000,0007 RO ENERE
(k)
Guangzhou Fanzhan Trading Limited  The PRC RMB10,500,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
(note (i, (iii) & (iv)) in the PRC
EMREESERAT HEl AR%10,500,0007C KA ERERR
(B )~ (i) %))
Guangzhou Fengmao Real Estate  The PRC RMB10,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding in
Development Limited the PRC
(note (i), (i) & (iv))
EMEREHEREERAR el AZ#10,000,0007T KA ERERR
(B - ()R ()
Guangzhou Gaotian Investment The PRC RMB20,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development and
Limited (note (i) & (iv)) property investment in
the PRC
EMBRRAERAT el AK20,000,0007 RAERENEERR
(W ik ) ES T

Talent Property Group Limited Annual Report 2024

209



210
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(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

42. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 42, AMEBLAT 2R (E)

Proportion of
ownership interest
RRERLY
Held by a
Place/country of Group’s subsidiary
incorporation/ Issued share capital/ effective  Held by the of the  Principal activities and
Name registration registered capital interest Company Company  places of operations
KRRZ
AL/ BRIRA/ LS 4] RAH WEAR
£ i/ BR gifEs EREL B8 BE IEXBREZHY
Guangzhou Guoyou Logistics The PRC RMB48,880,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Co., Ltd. (note (i) & (iv) in the PRC
BNEBYRERAT H AR #48,880,0007C RPBRENEER
(B i R (i)
Guangzhou Shihui Commercial The PRC RMB1,500,000 100% - 100%  Inactive

Clubhouse Management Limited
(note (i), (i) & (iv))

BNLERXEMERERAT e AR%1,500,0007 s 3
(B i) ~ (i) & iv))

Guangzhou Talent Shoes Market ~ The PRC RMB2,000,000 90% - 90%  Property management in
Management Limited the PRC
(note (i) & (iv))

BNAREZTSEEERARAT & AE%2,000,0007C RPERENRER
(iR )

Guangzhou Xianzhuang Properties ~ The PRC RMB33,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development in
Development Limited the PRC
(note (i) & (iv))

BNTEREHEREERAT f AE#%33,000,00070 REEENFER
(iR )

Guangzhou Xinzhuo Properties The PRC RMBS,000,000 100% - 100%  Property management in
Management Limited the PRC
(note (i, (iii) & (iv))

BN ENZERARAT hE AE#3,000,0007C RPEENRER

(HE (i ~ (i 2 (iv))
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R M

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

42, RIBL AT Z2EREE)

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Proportion of
ownership interest
KRB
Held by a
Place/country of Group’s subsidiary
incorporation/ Issued share capital/ effective  Held by the of the  Principal activities and
Name registration registered capital interest Company Company  places of operations
KARZ
AL/ BRRA/ LS 1] RAH HEAR
£ s/ ER gifEs ERER B8 BE IEXBREZHY
Guangzhou Yijie Cleaning Company ~ The PRC RMB1,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding in the
Limited (note (i), (i & (iv)) PRC and provision of
cleaning services
BMEBEZRZERAT e AF%1,000,0007C RO ERERRR
(W) ~ (i) & i) REEZRY
Guangzhou Yongxiang Investment  The PRC RMB11,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding in the
Limited (note (i) & (iv)) PRC
BMAEREBERARMZMEwW) BE AK%11,000,0007 RABERERR
Haikou Yicheng Industries Limited ~ The PRC RMB10,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding in the
(note (i), (i) & (iv)) PRC
BOAREXRRAT el AK%10,000,0007 RBERERR
() ~ (i (i)
Mark World Properties Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% - 100%  Investment holding in the
PRC
EEEXARAR Bl 17T RS ERERR
Neo Bloom Limited (note (i) BVI US$1 100% - 100%  Investment holding in
Hong Kong
HABRAR (i) EERAEE 1% REBUERERR
Profit Venture Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding in the
PRC
KERERRAT & 10,0007 R ERERR
Smart Key Global Limited (note (iij) ~ BVI US$1 100% - 100%  Investment holding in
Hong Kong
Smart Key Global Limited (#7£(ii) EBEXEHE E RERNSRAER
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(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

42. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 42, AMEBLAT 2R (E)

Proportion of
ownership interest
RRERLY
Held by a
Place/country of Group’s subsidiary
incorporation/ Issued share capital/ effective  Held by the of the  Principal activities and
Name registration registered capital interest Company Company  places of operations
KRRZ
AL/ BRIRA/ LS 4] KRR WEAR
£ i/ BR BHMER EREL B8 BE IEXBREZHY
Sure Win Inc. Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% - 100%  Investment holding in the
PRC
KREZARAA R 10087 KB ERERR
Talent Central Limited (note (i) BVI US$101 100% - 100%  Investment holding in
Hong Kong
Talent Central Limited (/32 EERAES 101%71 REBRERERR
Talent Property Group Limited The PRC RMB50,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding in the
(note (i), (i) & (iv)) PRC
HAHEEBERAT el A& #50,000,00070 RAERERERR
(B - (i) B(v))
Talent Property Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% - 100%  Inactive
FRBERRAA 3 10,000/ 7 i
Talent Prosper Corporation (note (i) BVI Us$2 100% - 100%  Investment holding in
Hong Kong
ReEEERARA ML) EERAHES T RERUERERR
Xuzhou Shiyou Logistics The PRC RMB20,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development in
Development Co., Ltd. the PRC
(note (i) & (iv))
HHEEMRERERAT hE A& #20,000,00070 Rt ENEER
(iR (i)
Yangzhou Shiyou Logistics The PRC RMB10,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development in
Development Co., Ltd. the PRC
(note (i) & (iv))
ANt BN RERERLR e AK%10,000,0007 R ENEER
(B iR (i)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRAR R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

42, RIBL AT Z2EREE)

42. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Proportion of
ownership interest
RRERLY
Held by a
Place/country of Group’s subsidiary
incorporation/ Issued share capital/ effective  Held by the of the  Principal activities and
Name registration registered capital interest Company Company  places of operations
KARZ
AL/ BRRA/ LS 1] KRR WEAR
£ s/ ER BHMER ERER B8 BE IEXBREZHY
Xuzhou Linan Business Management  The PRC RMBS,000,000 100% - 100%  Inactive
Co., Ltd. (note (i), (i) & (iv))
BHREEXERERLA e AR %3,000,0007 TEEH
(B ~ (i B(v))
Guangzhou Yongaing Investment ~ The PRC RMB18,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding in the
Co., Ltd. (note (i), (i), & (iv)) PRC
EMKBREERAT e A& #18,000,00070 RS ERERR
(B - (i)
notes: BisE -
0] The above companies are registered as a wholly foreign 0] L ARIRBEFRBEEEMAINEEE

owned enterprises under the PRC law.

(i) The above companies are registered as limited companies
under the PRC law.

(iif) The statutory financial statements of these subsidiaries are
not audited by CHENG & CHENG LIMITED.

(iv) The names of certain companies referred in these
consolidated financial statements represent management’s
best effort in translation of the Chinese names of these
companies as no English names have been registered or
available.

(i

(i)

(iv)

-

LR ARRERBEEZEMASERA
7o

ZEWB A RMEE B IRR L IFR L
WEAMEBIERARTEK -

MR MK A B 2 H XA - ARER
EUBWMERABAET AR ZEARAE
EEENEZERR 2P XEREMIEL
BXERE
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e M HRARE

A Ny =]

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

43.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 43. ZRATKNHBIRRR R #HES
AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE )
COMPANY
2024 2023
—EomEFE T =F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFIT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Plant and equipment R Mt = -
Interests in subsidiaries RN - Ea 1,621,510 1,750,067
1,621,510 1,750,067
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables B FUA « & M E b EU
AR 339 36
Tax recoverable AR O 718 13 13
Cash and cash equivalents RERBESEEY 2,180 168
2,532 217
Current liabilities REBEE
Accruals and other payables FERT B AR I B b JE - AR X 1,201 2,955
Amount due to a director B —RESHA 40,425 38,943
Amounts due to subsidiaries JEAH B B A B FRIE 98,425 95,126
140,051 137,024
Net current liabilities REEEFEE (137,519) (136,807)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBERS 1,483,991 1,613,260
EQUITY =
Share capital &7 4,703 37,628
Reserves (note (a)) & (K77 (a) 1,479,288 1,575,632
Total equity R 1,483,991 1,613,260

Zhang Gao Bin
REE
Director

EF

HMAMEEEER AT 2024F Fi#

Luo Zhangguan
BET
Director

EF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 A P R

(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-A=+—HILFE)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 43. AQAFAWNBMBMRRARERES

VAN
2 Ny =]

AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE o)
COMPANY (continued)
note: Biat -
(a) Reserve movement of the Company (a) RARHER
Currency Capital
Share  translation Contributed redemption Accumulated
premium reserve surplus reserve loss Total
g BREE
R EE RARE BB i RitER @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ABETT AREFT AREFT ARETT AREFT ARETZ
At 1 January 2024 i R =| 2,982,905 (204,373) 393,107 82 (1,596,089) 1,575,632
Loss for the year FEBR - - = = (181,639) (181,639)
Other comprehensive income ~ FEEM2EMA :
for the year:
Exchange gain on translation ~ #EAAE 2
of the Company’s g st
financial statement e - 52,370 - - - 52,370
Total comprehensive loss FEREFRES
for the year - 52,370 - - (181,639) (129,269)
Capital reduction RAHIA (2,982,905) - 3,015,830 - - 32,925
As at 31 December 2024 R=ZZB-ME+=A
=t+-g - (152003 3,408,037 82  (1,777,728) 1,479,288
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(For the year ended 31 December 2024) (B2 = =p9F+=-F=+—HILFE)

43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 43. AQXRHNBBRRAR R #iEE

AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE (@)
COMPANY (continued)
note: (continued) Htat - (&)
(a) Reserve movement of the Company (continued) (a) NNl EES) (E)
Currency Capital
Share translation  Contributed redemption  Accumulated
premium reserve surplus reserve loss Total
5% e
RIPEE HaEE BARH f#E Py st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT  ARETT ANRETT ARETT ARETT ARETIL

At 1 January 2023 W-E-=F—-F—H 2,982,905 (239,287) 393,107 82 (1,668,249) 1,468,558
Profits for the year FEaF - - - - 72,160 72,160
Other comprehensive income  FEEM2EHA
for the year:
Exchange gain on translation ~ #EAAR
of the Company’s BHE
financial statement e - 34,914 - - - 34,914

Total comprehensive income  FEZERALR
for the year - 34,914 - - 72,160 107,074

As at 31 December 2023 R-B-=%+Z#

=t+-A 2,982,905 (204,373 393,107 82 (1,596,089) 1,575,632
At 31 December 2024, the Company had m:jg:@iﬂL:ﬁlEJr—El '$_/AET
RMB3,264,183,000 (2023: Nil) of distribution reserves ﬁ%fkﬁ%fﬁ/&%z@m338,00075(:
available for distribution to the owners. Zo=F E)WEDIKTEAA
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